
 
 

27 February 2023 
 
 
 

Joint Strategic Sub-Committee (Adur) 
 

Date: 
 

7 March 2023 

Time: 
 

6.30 pm 

Venue: 
 

The Shoreham Centre 
 
 

Adur Cabinet: Councillors Neil Parkin (Leader), Angus Dunn (Deputy Leader), Carson 
Albury, Kevin Boram, Emma Evans and Steve Neocleous 

 
 
 
 

Agenda 
Part A 
  
1. Declarations of Interest   
 
 Members and officers must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests in relation 

to any business on the agenda.  Declarations should also be made at any stage 
such an interest becomes apparent during the meeting.  
  
If in doubt, contact the Legal or Democratic Services representative for this 
meeting. 
  

2. Minutes   
 

 To approve the minutes of the Adur Joint Strategic Sub-Committee meeting held 
on 10 January 2022, copies of which have been previously circulated. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Public Document Pack



3. Public Questions   
 
 To receive any questions from members of the public. 

  
Questions should be submitted by noon on Thursday 2 March 2023 to 
Democratic Services, democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk      
  
(Note: Public Question Time will operate for a maximum of 30 minutes.) 
  

4. Members Questions   
 
 Pre-submitted Members questions are pursuant to rule 12 of the Council & 

Committee Procedure Rules. 
  
Questions should be submitted by noon on Thursday 2 March 2023 to 
Democratic Services, democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk      
  
(Note: Member Question Time will operate for a maximum of 30 minutes.) 
  

5. Items Raised under Urgency Provisions   
 
 To consider any items the Chairman of the meeting considers to be urgent. 

  
6. 3rd Quarter Revenue Monitoring Report 2022/23  (Pages 5 - 40) 
 
 To consider a report by the Director for Digital, Sustainability and Resources, 

copy attached as item 6 
  

7. 3rd Quarter Capital Investment Programme & Projects Monitoring 2022/23  
(Pages 41 - 56) 

 
 To consider a report by the Director for Digital, Sustainability and Resources, 

copy attached as item 7 
  

8. Adur Homes Compliance with Housing Regulator Standards and Adur 
Housing Strategy Roadmap  (Pages 57 - 224) 

 
 To consider a report from the Director for Communities, a copy is attached as 

item 8. 
  

9. Adur River Restoration & Sussex Bay Update  (Pages 225 - 234) 
 
 To consider a report from the Director for Digital, Sustainability & Resources, a 

copy is attached as item 9. 
  

10. A27 Worthing and Lancing Improvements Scheme Options Consultation  
(Pages 235 - 244) 

 
 To consider a report from the Director for the Economy, a copy is attached as 

item 10. 
 

 
 

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


Recording of this meeting  
The Council will be live streaming the meeting, including public question time. A 
recording will be available on the Council’s website as soon as practicable after the 
meeting.  The Council will not be recording any discussions in Part B of the agenda 
(where the press and public have been excluded).  

 
For Democratic Services enquiries relating 
to this meeting please contact: 

For Legal Services enquiries relating to 
this meeting please contact: 

Neil Terry 
Democratic Services Manager & Deputy 
Monitoring Officer 
01903 221073 
neil.terry@adur-worthing.gov.uk     

Joanne Lee 
Head of Legal Services and Monitoring 
Officer 
01903 221119 
joanne.lee@adur-worthing.gov.uk   

 
The agenda and reports are available on the Councils website, please visit  
www.adur-worthing.gov.uk 

mailto:neil.terry@adur-worthing.gov.uk
mailto:joanne.lee@adur-worthing.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Strategic Sub Committee Adur
7 March 2023

Key Decision [Yes/No]
Ward(s) Affected:All

3rd Quarter Revenue Monitoring Report 2022/23

Report by the Director for Digital, Sustainability and Resources

Executive Summary

1. Purpose

1.1. This report updates the Joint Strategic Sub Committee for Adur District
Council with the latest expenditure and income projections for Adur
District Council and Worthing Borough Council for the current financial
year 2022/23, compared to the Revenue Budget approved by both
Councils in February. Whilst the 'spend to date' will be the position as
at the 30th September 2022, the forecast outturn position will reflect
the latest information available to ensure an up-to-date forecast is
presented.

As at quarter 2, the current outturn projection for the 2022/23 financial
year for the Adur District Council General Fund is a net overspend
after reserve transfers of £382k. A breakdown is set out in section 4.4
of the report.

1.2. The following appendices have been attached to this report:

(i) Appendix 1 Briefing Note on Service Performance

(ii) Appendix 2 (a)   Adur Summary
(b)   Adur Use of Earmarked Reserves

(iii) Appendix 3 (a)  HRA Summary
(b)  HRA Briefing note

(iv) Appendix 4 (a) Table of Variations over £20,000
(b) Table of movements over £50,000 between

quarter 1 and 2

5

Agenda Item 6



2. Recommendations

2.1. The Joint Strategic Sub Committee for Adur District Council is asked to
note the report and projected outturn position for the Joint Committee
and Adur District Council against the approved revenue budgets and
proposed use of reserves (Appendix 2b).

3.0 Context

3.1 The Joint Strategic Committee last considered the 5-year forecast for
2022/23 to 2026/27 on 5th July 2022.

3.2 The report outlined the financial context, and updated the outline 5 year
forecast, the key budget pressures and the savings proposals for
addressing the budget gap for Adur and Worthing Councils. The report
built on previous strategies whose aim was to ensure that the Councils
would become community funded by 2020 reliant, by then, only on income
from trading and commercial activities, council tax income and business
rate income.

3.3 The successful delivery of the strategy is fundamentally changing how the
Councils are funded. The Councils are moving increasingly away from
ever reducing government funding towards funding from the local
community via Council Tax and Business Rates, and will become
increasingly reliant on income from commercial activities.

4.0 Issues for consideration - Revenue 2022/2023 Forecast

4.1 As part of the 2022/23 budget the Councils committed to savings of
£0.168m for Adur District Council and £1.136m for Worthing Borough
Council to produce a balanced budget and to address the reduction in
Government support. Services were required to carry out efficiency,
procurement and base budget reviews to identify where income could be
increased or expenditure reduced.

4.2 However, the financial landscape has changed due to the impact of the
economic downturn, energy prices, rising inflation and interest rates
visible in additional cost pressures falling on the Council over the last 7

6



months. Additional pressure has also been created by the national pay
award which is higher than assumed and  built into the 2022/23 budget.

4.3 The ongoing certainty around inflation, increased demand on services and
energy resources and pricing, it is difficult to have certainty on the
estimates and assumptions, the current projections indicate forecast year
end overspends against budgets of £382k in Adur and £2.1m in Worthing.
This includes meeting the challenges of the impact of the inflationary cost
pressures, reduced levels of income together with the significant savings
requirements to balance the 2022/23 budget. The main factors influencing
the level of spend are discussed in detail in section 4.11 of the report.

4.4 The current year-end forecast is comprised of a number of elements as
set out in the table below:

2022/23 Forecast Outturn Adur
Q2 Q3

£000 £000
Over/(under)spend in operational services –
including share from Joint

1,035 1,608

Reduced borrowing requirement: A lower than
forecast call on the MRP (provision to repay debt)
and net interest in 2020/21, due to reprofiling of the
capital programme.

(469) (469)

Net Interest (increase)/decrease (312) (355)
Commercial property income shortfall and cost
pressure (excluding business rates)

316 344

Property void allowance (650) (650)

Pay award - impact above budgeted allowance
392 392

Reduction in national insurance contribution rate
(30) (30)

Net over/(under) spend before funding from
reserves

282 840

Grant Funding (9) (39)
Transfer to/(from) reserves (209) (419)
Forecast net over/(under) spend 64 382

4.5 The key factors underpinning the current financial position include:

7



● The financial impact of rising inflation and interest rates.

● A net underspend in the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and
interest budgets. The budgets are calculated on both the historic
financing of previous years capital programmes and the impact of
financing the current year's capital spend. Changes to the expected
spend, interest rate forecasts, and the associated level of borrowing
have reduced the expected cost in 2022/23.

Once the above items are taken into account, the operational position is a
net overspend by services of £1.608m in Adur. This projection
demonstrates the pressure on the Councils finances as a result of an
increase in inflation, increased homelessness caseloads and income
levels in some areas still below pre pandemic levels.

4.6 In summary the overall revenue outturn projections for both councils
reported for Q3 are as follows:

Projected Outturn Summary

Joint Adur Worthing

£000s £000s £000s
Current Budget 2022/23 25,790 9,742 13,785
Forecast Outturn 28,752 10,582 16,572

Projected Forecast over/
(underspend) before Government
support packages or any transfer
to reserves

2,962 840 2,788

Reserves Funding (419) (559)

Grant Funding (50) (39) (129)

Projected Forecast over/
(underspend) after Government
funding and proposed transfer to
reserves

2,912 382 2,100

Projected over/(underspend)
11.29% 3.92% 15.23%percentage

8



The Adur and Worthing projected forecasts in the table above include the
respective share of the estimated Joint Services overspend.
Comparison to the Q2 forecast:

Joint Adur Worthing
£000s £000s £000s

Forecast Over/(under)spend Q3 2,912 382 2,100

Forecast Over/(under)spend Q2 2,338 64 2,017

Change in Forecast Q2 to Q3
(improvement)/deterioration

574 318 83

The Adur and Worthing projected forecasts in the table above include the
respective share of the estimated Joint Services overspend.

4.7 In the table below, projections have been separated between authority
and by Income and Expenditure, to indicate the level of overall
under/overspend of costs and the over/under achievement of income
targets.

Expenditure Income Net Total

Joint £’000 £’000 £’000

Budget 31,489 (6,590) 24,899

Forecast (after transfer to reserves) 34,371 (6,510) 27,861

Projected Forecast (Under)/ Overspend 2,882 80 2,962

Forecast variance % before Government
funding 9.15% -1.21% 11.90%

Adur £’000 £’000 £’000

Budget 35,693 (26,754) 8,940
Forecast (after transfer to reserves) 35,831 (27,236) 8,595
Authority Projected Forecast (Under)/
Overspend 137 (483) (345)
Share of Joint (Under) / Overspend 1,153 32 1,185
Authority Projected Forecast (Under) /
Overspend

1,290 (451) 840

Forecast variance % before Government
funding

3.61% 1.68% 9.39%

9



4.8 The Joint Strategic Committee (JSC) sub committee for Adur District
Council is asked to consider:-

● the current projections of variances in the Councils’ General Fund
Revenue Budgets:

● the current projections of variances in the Adur Housing Revenue
Account; and

● any amendments and virements to budgets which may require a
recommendation onto Council for approval;

4.9 We adopt a more structured approach to services which have more
volatile budgets or hard to predict income streams. For 2022/23, these
services are:-

● Car Parking
● Development Management
● Homelessness
● Commercial Waste
● Cross cutting services including maintenance and utilities

4.10 Most of these services are subject to closer monitoring because they meet
one or more of the following criteria:-

● Demand led
● Income based
● Specialist
● Significant changes to the service are being made in the near

future.

4.11 Headline budget variations across both the Councils’ and the Joint
account

4.11.1 Commentary on service areas that are forecasting significant variances
from budget are presented in appendix 1 of this report, summarised
highlights are provided in this section 4.11.

4.11.2 The forecast in year deficit is set out in the following table with focus on the
main factors that make up the estimated outturn position:

10



In Year (surplus)/deficit
Joint

(Memo) Adur
£000 £000

Cross Cutting
Pay Award 972
National Insurance (73)
Utilities and Rates 138 193
Maintenance 198 71

Treasury (824)

Services (detail in appendix 1)
Waste 1,296 (24)
Car Parks (34)
Homelessness 247
Bereavement 8
Strategic Property (306)
Planning and Development 197
Revenues and Benefits 270
Other 111 147

Share of Joint 1,165
Total projected deficit before use of reserves 840

Further detail on these factors is provided below.

4.11.3 Pay Award and National Insurance contributions:

The national pay award has been agreed with an increase of £1,925 to
each spinal column pay point which is an average pay increase of 5.82%,
this increase is higher than the 2% budgeted allowance creating an in year
cost pressure.

Offsetting this is the reduction in employer national insurance contributions
following the government decision to remove the 1.25% rate increase
introduced at the start of April 2022 from November.

4.11.4 Utilities and Rates

The contract for energy has now been renewed and the anticipated usage
and price are expected to increase the costs to the council substantially by
an average of 190% for electricity and 380% for gas over the next two

11



years. However, this increase is lower than previously forecast due to the
introduction by the Government of the Energy Price Relief Scheme, which
provides support to businesses through discounted energy rates for 6
months until the end of March 2023. The cost impact in the current year is
as follows:

● Joint £150,000
● Adur £158,000
● Worthing £276,000

Water and rates variances against budget make up the difference in the
table at 4.11.2, further information is provided in appendix 1:

Over/(under) spend against budget

Joint Adur

Water £2,000 £21,000

Rates (£14,000) £14,000

4.11.5 Maintenance

Costs are expected to be overspent against budget within Joint Services
and Adur. In Worthing it is expected there will be an undersend with
demand on the service for reactive works lower than budget.

4.11.6 Treasury

The council has an underspend against the MRP budget of £469k due to
reprofiling to 2022/23 of a proportion of the 2021/22 Capital Programme
and the impact of changes to planned financing due to increased levels of
capital receipts and capital grants both of which offset the need to borrow.

Increase in interest rates during the year has also led to higher investment
return income:

12



Treasury Management Adur

(Under) / Overspends (General Fund)

£000
Minimum Revenue Provision* (469)
Interest from Investment Income (215)
Interest payable on borrowing (140)

Total (824)

*   Includes the benefit of reviewing the methodology for calculating the
MRP which is estimated at £350,000.

4.11.7 Waste:

Additional costs resulting from the negotiated changes following the waste
dispute earlier in the financial year and agency costs being incurred to
cover vacancies, holiday and sickness.In addition there has also been a
reduction in income against budget partly as a result of cancellations and
refunds associated with the dispute. The service is also impacted by rising
costs of fuel, parts, bins and consumables.

4.11.8 Car Parks

Income from parking in Adur district has been performing well and is
predicted to meet the budget for 2022/23 based on current demand levels.

4.11.9 Homelessness

Costs pressures continue to be experienced with caseload numbers
(individuals, couples and families presenting themselves to the council in
immediate housing crisis) continuing to increase:

Caseload Number
(Adur)

Current (January 2023) 97

Quarter 2 92

13



The increase in the demand has led to an increase in the average nightly
cost for temporary accommodation, with the need to use hotel chains.
Cost pressures have been compounded further with some bed and
breakfast providers increasing their prices to meet growing inflationary
costs pressures.

4.11.10 Bereavement

There is a marginal shortfall in burial income predicted of £4000 which
reflects 5.5% of the budget. There is in addition an overspend of £4,000
anticipated against supplies and services which includes the survey costs
relating to Lancing and Sompting associated with extension and
consecrated areas.

4.11.11 Strategic Property

Projected income in Adur from strategic property portfolios is based on the
assumption that the budgeted transfer to the Property Investment Risk
Reserve of £650,000 is not made for 2022/23. There are currently two
empty properties within the Adur portfolio where the council is meeting the
associated service costs and rates charges.

4.11.12 Planning and Development

As with Bereavement Services the budget shortfall is largely related to the
underachievement of income. These income streams are largely demand
led and can therefore fluctuate making forecasting difficult to predict. Based
on current performance the forecast outturn position is:

Adur
Q3 Q2

Income shortfall £196,000 £92,000
Expenditure overspend £1,000 £13,000
Total projected net overspend against budget £197,000 £105,000

The forecast income shortfall of £196,000 equates to a 29.5% over
performance against budget.

14



4.11.13 Revenues and Benefits

An overspend is projected due to the extension of agency staff to the end of
March 2023 to process the backlog of work as a result of the additional
work undertaken by the service relating to administering covid support
measures and energy rebates.

4.12 Budget variations greater than £20,000

The Council's individual Summary Projected Outturns are reported in
Appendix 2a. The variations greater than £20,000, for this report, are
detailed in Appendix 4.

There are some expenditure items that are not identified until the year end
that will impact on the final outturn. These items can have a positive or
negative impact on the final position.

They include:-

● Movement in the estimate for doubtful debts
● A review of any amounts needed to be set aside for

liabilities that  are likely to occur in the future
● Changes in allocations of staff time to outside the

General Fund.

4.13 Future Risks

4.13.1 Inflation

Inflation is currently the biggest risk on Council finances with the pressure
on rising costs across all budget areas, particularly in utilities, fuel,
supplies, salaries and construction costs. The forecast outturn positions
will be reviewed during the year and adjusted to reflect the changes in
actual experience and economic forecasts.

4.13.2 Demand for housing

Any increase in demand on Housing services through homelessness
caseloads will cause additional cost pressures on the councils finances.
With demand levels in excess of the availability of cheaper supply in the
form of Council owned accommodation or private leasing, the costs will
escalate further as the service is forced to utilise more expensive hotels.

15



4.13.3 Financial sustainability

The level of earmarked reserves (excluding the Business Rates
Smoothing Reserve, the Tax Guarantee Reserve and Grants and
Contributions) will reduce if they are required to meet the overspends
currently forecast for the year:

Adur District Council Available
Reserves

Balance
at 1.4.22

Projected
Transfer
In/(Out)
2022/23

Remaining
balance

£ £ £

Capacity Issues Reserve 831,053 (525,493) 305,560

General Fund Working Balance 1,051,497 1,051,497

Property Investment Risk Reserve 375,674 375,674

Insurance Reserve 152,699 (29,550) 123,149

Projected overspend 2021/22 (381,550) (381,550)

Total excluding HRA overspend 2,410,923 (936,593) 1,474,330

Projected HRA overspend 2021/22 in
excess of HRA Reserve balance

(389,150) (389,150)

Total 2,410,923 (1,325,743) 1,085,180

Adur has been in a position to increase the level of available reserves
over the last couple of years which puts the Council in position to meet the
current level of forecast overspend.

However, any overspend in the Housing Revenue Account in excess of
the HRA available reserve balances will need to be funded from General
Fund Reserves, currently this is estimated to be £389,150.

The current commitment on all the General Fund earmarked reserves are
set out in appendix 2b. As set out in the 2023/24 Budget Update report
elsewhere on this agenda the council will need to plan for protecting and
rebuilding reserve levels into the future to ensure that the Council remains
financially sustainable.

16



4.14 Housing Revenue Account

4.14.1 The Adur Housing Revenue Account is a ring fenced account. The HRA
forecast is shown in Appendix 3a.

4.14.2 The HRA is forecast to overspend against the budget for 2022/23 by
£578,149. A detailed analysis of the HRA position is included at Appendix
3b. The most significant pressures are due to:

● Void properties (including losses in associated service charges) -
£545,000

● Void garages - £60,000
● Impact of inflation on salary budgets - £65,000

These pressures may now be partly offset by an improved debt financing
position. Current forecasts estimate reduced interest payable costs of
£68,000 due to changes in the capital programme and increased interest
receivable of £42,000 due to interest rate rises.

By the end of 2022/23, the HRA will have used all of its reserves unless
corrective action is taken in-year to mitigate these cost pressures.

4.15 Corrective action:

4.15.1 To mitigate the impact of the identified cost pressures, the council has
continued to:

1. Hold any emerging underspend in the current year 2022/23 to
manage in-year pressures.

2. Reviewed all major projects and capital projects and put on hold
unless the project has an initiative that either:
a. Improves our financial position; or
b. We are committed to delivery via a funding agreement; or
c. We are already contractually committed to the project; or
d. Addresses health and safety concerns; or
e. The project is identified as a key priority in the new corporate

strategy.
3. Vacancy control measures are in place for all posts including agency

staff. This will also support the budget measures required to balance
the 2023/24 budget.

17



4. Seeking to implement savings needed to balance the budget in
2023/24 early to also support the budget in 2022/23.

4.15.2 Further work is ongoing with respect to the implementation of those
savings approved for 2023/24 which could potentially benefit the 2022/23
position.

5.0 Engagement and Communication

5.1 The Corporate Leadership Team and budget managers have all
collaborated in the content of this report providing explanation and
narrative on the forecast variances.

6.0 Financial Implications

6.1 At this stage at the end of the third quarter of the revenue budgetary
cycle, we continue to see the financial impact of the increase in inflation
on the Councils. We continue to see the benefits of the mitigating actions
implemented and highlighted at 4.15, however these have been offset by
both an increase in the demand on the reactive maintenance budgets and
a fall in projected income.

6.2 Overall the projected outturn position net of treasury savings, the
performance in the strategic property portfolio and reserve transfers is an
overspend in Adur of £380k which includes the councils share of the
estimated £3m overspend within the Joint Service.

6.3 The financial performance of the Councils will continue to be monitored
closely against budgets and projections updated as the financial year
continues.

7.0 Legal Implications

7.1 Section 151 of the Local Government Act, 1972 requires the Councils to
make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs.
Further, Local authorities have a statutory duty under the Local
Government Act 2003, to monitor their income and expenditure against
their budget, and be ready to take action if overspends or shortfalls in
income emerge.

7.2 Section 76 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 places a duty
on the Council to prevent debit balances on the Housing Revenue

18



Account. Regulation 76(6) requires the Council to consider and determine
whether their current proposals ensure that the Account does not show a
debit balance, and may take such steps that are reasonably practicable to
satisfy the requirements of Section 76.

7.3 The requirement for financial reserves is acknowledged in statute.
Sections 31A, 32, 42A and 42B of the Local Government Finance Act
1992 require billing and precepting authorities in England and Wales to
have regard to the level of reserves needed for meeting estimated future
expenditure when calculating the budget requirement.

7.4 There are a range of safeguards in place that help to prevent local
authorities overcommitting themselves financially. These include a duty to
report on robustness of estimates and adequacy of reserves (under
section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 when the authority is
considering its budget requirement

Background Papers
Joint Overall Budget Estimates 2022/23
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1623/Public%20reports%20pa
ck%2008th-Feb-2022%2018.30%20Joint%20Strategic%20Committee.pdf?T=10

Adur District Council Budget Estimates 2022/23 and Setting of the 2022/23 Council
Tax
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1626/Public%20reports%20pa
ck%2024th-Feb-2022%2019.00%20Adur%20Council.pdf?T=10

Worthing Overall Budget Estimates 2022/23 and Setting of 2022/23 Council Tax
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1625/Public%20reports%20pa
ck%2022nd-Feb-2022%2018.30%20Worthing%20Council.pdf?T=10

Financial Performance 2021/22 - Revenue Outturn
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1714/Public%20reports%20pa
ck%2005th-Jul-2022%2018.30%20Joint%20Strategic%20Committee.pdf?T=10

Officer Contact Details:-
Emma Thomas
Chief Accountant
01403 221232
emma.thomas@adur-worthing.gov.uk

19

https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1623/Public%20reports%20pack%2008th-Feb-2022%2018.30%20Joint%20Strategic%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1623/Public%20reports%20pack%2008th-Feb-2022%2018.30%20Joint%20Strategic%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1626/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Feb-2022%2019.00%20Adur%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1626/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Feb-2022%2019.00%20Adur%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1625/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Feb-2022%2018.30%20Worthing%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1625/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Feb-2022%2018.30%20Worthing%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1714/Public%20reports%20pack%2005th-Jul-2022%2018.30%20Joint%20Strategic%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1714/Public%20reports%20pack%2005th-Jul-2022%2018.30%20Joint%20Strategic%20Committee.pdf?T=10
mailto:emma.thomas@adur-worthing.gov.uk


Sustainability & Risk Assessment

1. Economic
Matter considered and no issues identified

2. Social

2.1 Social Value
Matter considered and no issues identified

2.2 Equality Issues
Matter considered and no issues identified

2.3 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)
Matter considered and no issues identified

2.4 Human Rights Issues
Matter considered and no issues identified

3. Environmental
Matter considered and no issues identified

4. Governance
Matter considered and no issues identified

20



Appendix 1

Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring - Commentary on Services with significant
outturn forecast to budget variances

This information supplements the information in the 3rd Quarter Revenue
Monitoring report providing more detail to the service forecast in the areas
where there are significant variances in the forecast outturn positions than
budgeted. The variances are across the organisation but are mostly in the
areas that are either volatile in nature or demand led which can make income
streams more difficult to predict. There are also some areas where global and
national economic activity are impacting causing costs pressures, such as
inflation and energy supply.

1.1 Car Parking

There are no current pressures identified for the Adur Parking, income levels
are on budget and there are savings predicted against the expenditure
budgets. The overall forecast net outturn position is an underspend of £34,000
reflecting 9% of the budget. Although this is good news the income has still not
quite recovered to the pre pandemic levels, the 2022/23 income budget was
reduced by £52,000 to build in the longer term impact of covid on demand.

1.2 Homelessness

There continue to be cost pressures associated with homelessness within both
Adur and Worthing the current forecast outturn overspend positions have
increased marginally from those predicted in quarter 2.

In Adur the average caseload in quarter 2 was 90 increasing to 97 by the end
of January 23. The forecast includes the assumption that numbers will
increase by 2 cases per month for January and 1 for the remainder of 2022/23
due to the shortages of social housing and affordable properties in the private
sector creating difficulties with available move on accommodation.

The increase in the demand within both Adur and Worthing has led to an
increase in the average nightly cost for temporary accommodation, due to
increased cost pressures, contracted landlords are increasing rents as well as
the need to use hotel chains and expensive nightly booked self contained
accommodation. Cost pressures have been compounded further with some
bed and breakfast providers also having increased their prices to meet
growing inflationary costs pressures.

21



The current forecast compared to Quarter 2 is shown below:

Housing Needs Variances
Adur

Q3 Q2
£000 £000

Homelessness - Emergency and temporary
accommodation costs - budget pressure/(underspend)

502 425

Local Housing Allowance Income - budget
shortfall/(excess)

(222) (167)

Additional MHCLG Domestic Abuse Accommodation Grant (33) (33)

Net over/(under)spend forecast against budget 247 225

Variance as a percentage of Housing Needs Budget 57.0% 52.0%

1.3 Waste

The Waste and Cleansing services have significant cost pressures largely
following the recent pay dispute by its employees. The agreed pay deal and
subsequent knock on impact to the service whilst the dispute continued during
April, has contributed towards an estimated overspend in the joint service of
£1,296,000. This will impact on Adur and Worthing by £518,000 and £778,000
respectively, however the use of £581k of reserves has been approved by
members to fund some of this cost (£209k Adur and £372k Worthing).

The dispute has also meant that as well as pay increases, income is lower
than expected due to refunds being issued as a result of missed collections
during the period along with other cost pressures that the service has had to
meet including payments to waste contractors to meet our statutory obligation
regarding environmental health safety plus the cost of extended opening of the
West Sussex County Council refuse and recycling sites.

In addition to the impact of the pay dispute, there are inflationary pressures in
fuel costs and on the maintenance budgets as the fleet gets older.

Food waste customer accounts continue to increase, despite a difficult trading
year so far. Industrial action meant that no active promotional work took place

22



as resources were re-prioritised. The focus is now on gaining food waste
customers in Adur to get our total account base to 65. An account base of 65
will save the Councils around £15k per year as food waste is diverted from
general waste to the service.

Overall the net outturn forecast for Waste Services are overspends are:

Joint (memo) Adur Worthing

Net forecast overspend £1,296,000 (£24,000) (£84,000)

Share of Joint £518,000 £778,000

Total cost pressure £494,000 £694,000

Approved use of reserves (£209,000) (£372,000)

1.4 Bereavement Services

Adur cemeteries are forecasting a marginal shortfall in income of £4,000. This
is due to a predicted drop in the demand that follows three years of higher than
expected excess deaths, 110 burials have taken place in 2022/23 to
December compared to 112 for the same period in 2021/22. There is also a
small overspend expected on expenditure budgets of £4,000 which includes
survey costs for Lancing and Sompting associated with the extension and
consecrated areas, plant hire and health and safety requirements.

1.5 Strategic and Commercial Property

Adur Investment property budgets are anticipated to exceed the net budget by
£306,000, however this forecast assumes that the budgeted transfer to the
Property Investment Risk Reserve of £650,000 is not made at the end of the
financial year. There are two properties in the portfolio that are currently
without tenants, the largest being One York Road (ground floor unit), where
the council has the responsibility of the associated costs including business
rates and service charges.

Included within both council budgets are assumptions that there will be some
modest growth in the commercial property income for 2022/23 in Adur this is
£101k. Any shortfall in this target is met from the in year property void
allowance budget. Across both Strategic Property Investment Funds, the
occupancy level is at 97.5% which is extremely healthy.

23



Offsetting the forecast above are predicted overspends against the core
estates portfolio (£6k) and major projects (£17k) budgets.

1.6 Planning and Development

Adur Planning and Development is currently anticipated to have an overall
14% shortfall in income against budget of £92,000 for 2022/23. A breakdown
of the income shortfall by service with a comparison to quarter 2 is provided in
the table below:

Q3 Q2

Building Control £67,000 £39,000

Land charges £53,000 £52,000

Development Control £75,000 £1,000

Total £195,000 £92,000

Expectation is that, although the pandemic is no longer a significant factor in
the economy, inflationary price increases are expected to suppress growth
and therefore fee income. Expenditure is expected to be marginally over
budget by £2,000. Overall the net forecast has seen an increase in overall
budget pressure of £92,000 since quarter 2.

1.7 Revenues and Benefits

There has been significant additional work for the service over the last 2 years
as a result of the government measures to support businesses and individuals
during the pandemic through additional business rate reliefs and business
grant and self isolation grants. In the current financial year the increase in
workload continued with the introduction by the government of the energy
rebate to householders, with the administration of the payments delegated to
local government level. As a result additional temporary staff have been
required and it is anticipated this will need to continue for the remainder of
2022/23, some of the associated cost is funded from grant but there is
forecast to be a cost pressure of £244,000 that will need to be met by the
councils.

1.8 Parks

24



There are staff cost pressures associated with the job evaluation process that
has been undertaken for roles within the Parks service, however these have
been offset by savings on vacancies and forecast is now on budget. This is a
movement of £56,000 from quarter 2 when an overspend of £56,000 was
projected. There has also been a shift from quarter 2 to quarter 3 in the non
pay expenditure and income estimations are set out below:

Joint Adur

Q3 Q2 Q3 Q2

Pay £0 £56,000 £0 £0

Non Pay Costs £79,000 £25,000 (£1,000) (£18,000)

Income £85,000 £28,000 (£33,000) (£25,000)

Net
overspend/(underspend)

£164,000 £109,000 (£34,000) (£43,000)

Movement in Forecast £55,000 £9,000

The movement in income within Joint reflects the reduction in grounds
maintenance in the year as a result of insufficient resources to carry out the
additional work. Income within Worthing relates to additional receipts
associated with both rental and sales. Increased expenditure items in Joint
are mainly related to vehicle costs, both repair and fuel.

2.0 Treasury- External Borrowing Costs, Investments and Minimum Revenue
Provision

The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is a statutory charge to the revenue
budget to provide for the repayment of debt. The calculation is based on the
level of historic capital spend that has been financed from borrowing.
Consequently, once the accounts have been closed and the calculation has
been updated for the capital spend in 2021/22, there is certainty about the
charge for the forthcoming year.

Adur District Council has an underspend in the MRP budget due to reprofiling
to 2022/23 of a proportion of the 2021/22 Capital Programme and the impact
of changes to planned financing due to increased levels of capital receipts and

25



capital grants, both of which offset the need to borrow. The reduced need to
borrow also translates into a saving on interest payable of £140,000 in Adur.

Interest receivable from treasury investments is forecast to be above budget
due to the  higher than forecast base rates available in the market.

Overall the outturn forecast is a net underspend of £824,000 for Adur:

Treasury Management  (under)/overspends Adur (General Fund)

£000
Minimum Revenue Provision (469)
Interest from Investment Income (215)
Interest payable on borrowing (140)

Total (824)

The change in interest rates has led to an overall increase in the net interest
receivable above budget.

3.0 Cross Cutting

3.1 Energy

The contract for energy has now been renewed and the anticipated usage and
price are expected to increase the costs to the council substantially by an
average of 190% for electricity and 380% for gas over the next two years,
albeit an improvement on the growth assumed at quarter 1. The outturn
projection has seen a positive impact from the Government support on energy
prices through the Energy Price Relief Scheme.

The forecast cost pressure for the current year is unchanged from that
projected at quarter 2:

Q1 Forecast Q2 Forecast Q3 Forecast

Joint £215,000 £150,000 £150,000

Adur £238,000 £158,000 £158,000

Worthing £670,000 £276,000 £276,000

26



In Joint the overspends are, based on current consumption, largely associated
with the Town Hall. Adur costs span across services and in Worthing
significant overspends are anticipated to be associated with car parks, public
lighting and the crematorium.

Water

Overspends in both councils are across a number of services which include
public conveniences, parks and offices. The predicted cost pressure has
reduced since quarter 2;

Q2 Forecast Q3 Forecast

Joint £8,000 £2,000

Adur £22,000 £21,000

Worthing £29,000 £3,000

Maintenance

Costs are expected to be overspent within Joint Services with a considerable
amount of work required at Commerce Way including necessary repairs to the
roof. Current projections are an overspend against budget of £198,000, the
Adur share of this will be £79,000.

In Adur there is an overspend forecast of £71,000, this is related to the
increased demand on the reactive works budget and the impact on material and
fuel cost due to inflationary pressures.

27



SUMMARY - 3RD QUARTER PROJECTED OUTTURN
2022/23

APPENDIX 2a

Actual
Previous

year
2021/22

ADUR EXECUTIVE MEMBER
PORTFOLIOS

Current
Estimate
2022/23

Projected
Outturn to
31st March

2023
Forecast

Over/ (Under)

3,305,819 CM for Environment & Leisure 3,093,620 3,603,220 509,600
1,368,016 CM for Communities & Wellbeing 1,355,950 1,521,330 165,380
1,605,369 CM for Adur Homes & Customer

Services
1,556,680 1,913,700 357,020

668,467 Leader 699,440 618,840 (80,600)
1,730,959 CM for Regeneration & Strategic

Planning
1,748,130 1,691,930 (56,200)

96,312 CM for Finance & Resources 95,920 509,270 413,350
0 Holding Accounts 382,170 382,170 0

8,774,942 Total Cabinet Member 8,931,910 10,240,460 1,308,550

(1,465,168) Credit Back Depreciation (1,534,510) (1,534,510) 0
2,314,250 Minimum Revenue Provision 2,344,950 1,875,950 (469,000)
1,793,626 Non ring fenced grants 0 0 0

11,417,650 9,742,350 10,581,900 839,550
0 Government Grant funding 0 0 0

Transfer to/from reserves
0 Contribution to/(from reserves) 0 0 0

Grant Funded 0 (39,000) (39,000)
(2,019,787) Transfer from reserves to fund

specific expenditure (inc carry
forwards)

0 (419,000) (419,000)

General Fund Working balance 0 0 0
183,437 Net Underspend/(Overspend)

Recommended For Transfer
To/(From) Reserves

0 (381,550) (381,550)

9,581,300

Total Budget requirement before
External Support from
Government 9,742,350 9,742,350 -

28



Appendix 2b

29



Appendix 3a
Housing Revenue Account Summary

ORIGINAL FORECAST
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

£ £ £
EXPENDITURE

General Management 4,075,920 4,183,575 107,655
Special Services 748,080 752,574 4,494
Rent, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges 61,100 140,437 79,337
Repairs & Maintenance 3,008,370 2,865,529 (142,841)
Bad/Doubtful Debt 50,000 50,000 0

Capital Financing Costs
Depreciation and Revenue Contribution to
Capital 4,421,760 4,421,760 0
Interest charges 2,262,200 2,194,530 (67,670)

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 14,627,430 14,608,405 (19,025)

INCOME
Dwelling Rents (12,750,170) (12,332,404) 417,766
Non-Dwelling Rents (550,480) (494,672) 55,808
Heating and Other Service Charges (623,110) (498,821) 124,289
Leaseholder Service Charges (265,940) (224,629) 41,311
Interest Received (28,000) (70,000) (42,000)

TOTAL INCOME (14,217,700) (13,620,526) 597,174

NET (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT -TFR (TO)/FROM HRA
GENERAL RESERVE 409,730 987,879 578,149

30



Appendix 3b

HRA Financial Issues 2022/23 – Q3 update

1.0 Current Year Potential Variances

The table below provides a summary of and indicative figures for the main HRA
budget variances.

Service
Area

Budget Assumption Latest Estimate Budget Effect

Rental
Income

CPI + 1% (4.1%) CPI + 1% (4.1%) n/a

Dwelling
Voids

30 voids per year (1.2% of
total stock)

Avg loss of £3,000/wk

Current voids at end Jan
= 103 (excluding
Ashcroft and Inner
Rooms) (4.1% of total
stock)

Avg loss of £10,300/wk

£
420,000

Garage
Voids

230 voids per year

Avg loss of £2,500/wk

Current voids at end Oct
= 339 (31% of total
stock)

Avg loss of £3,800/wk

£       56,000

Service
Charges

Inflationary increase of 2% to
match expected contract
inflation.

Contracts are generally
fixed and have therefore
not yet been affected by
recent inflation rises.

However, void loss has a
proportionate effect on
service charge income.

£
120,000

31



Staffing
Costs

Pay award of 2% = £55k Flat rate increase of
£1,925 per head =
£125k

£       70,000

Staffing
Costs

Vacancy provision of 5% =
£138k

Some vacancy saving
can now be seen, as
vacancies have arisen in
the second half of the
year and been held
vacant.

£      50,000

Interest
Payable

Budget of £2.2m for debt
financing.

Due to slippage in the
capital programme and
the ability to capitalise
interest payments in
connection with Albion
Street, less borrowing
costs are now
anticipated.

( £
67,000)

Interest
Receivable

Budget of £28k for interest
receivable on balances.

Due to interest rate
rises, additional income
is expected.

( £
42,000)

Other Other variances (£
28,852)

POTENTIAL OVER SPEND £      578,148

DEFICIT BUDGET £      409,730

POTENTIAL IMPACT
ON RESERVES

£      987,878

32



2.0 Reserve Balances

· The HRA general and earmarked reserves have been drawn upon in recent years
in order to maintain service levels when the government’s rent reduction policy
required a 1% per annum reduction between 2016/17 and 2019/20. Since the
2020/21 budget, rents could be increased by a maximum of CPI + 1% but this
has not yet been enough to counter cost pressures and bring us back to a
balanced budget position.

· This rent policy and ongoing cost pressures have reduced the level of reserves
significantly over the last six years. The table below sets out the opening reserve
balances as at 1st April 2022. Aside from the General Reserve, the other
earmarked reserves have been committed but not yet fully spent.

· The forecast closing balance of £595k is not sufficient to meet the potential
requirement from reserves as per the above table at 1.0.

HRA Reserves Opening
Balance 22/23

Spent &
Committed

to date

Forecast
Closing
Balance

General Reserve £  544,948 £   544,948

Discretionary Assistance Fund
[committed to Ashcroft Home Loss
payments)

£   115,627 £    114,156 £      1,471

New Development Reserve
[committed to Southwick
development]

£    352,100 £    352,100 £             0

Business Improvement Reserve
[committed to HRA specialist HR
support]

£      91,664 £    42,604 £    49,060

£ 1,104,339 £   508,860 £   595,479

33



3.0 Budget Opportunities and Pressures for 2023/24

A balanced budget must be set for 2023/24 so that no withdrawal from reserves is
required. The current 2022/23 budget is set at a deficit of £410k so net cost savings
or additional income of £410k have been identified in order to close this budget gap.

The ‘Housing Revenue Account: 2023/24 Budget’ report will provide greater detail,
but it is worth noting here that some of the pressures identified at 1.0 above have
been addressed as growth within that budget.

3.1 Rental Income

The annual rent increase is usually capped at CPI+1%. For 2023/24 this would have
been 11.1%, so in order to limit the effect of inflationary increases on tenants’ rental
costs, the government has amended this cap to 7% for most properties for 2023/24
only. This provides additional income to the HRA of £850,000.

3.2 Void Loss

It is clear from current void levels that the existing budget of 30 voids per annum will
not be sufficient to cover losses in 2023/24. The void allowance has been increased
to 80 properties, thereby reducing the above additional income by £300,000.

3.3 Repairs & Maintenance

Growth of £135k has been included for Planned Maintenance, to reflect expected
inflationary increases to contracts and include sufficient budget for compliance
works.

3.4 Employee Costs

The pay award for 2023/24 has been estimated at 4.5% and additional temporary
resources have been added to the repairs and maintenance team.

The vacancy provision has also been reduced in order to put less pressure on the
staffing budget.

The proposed 2023/24 budget is intended to better reflect the current demands upon
the service, but the targets are still challenging to achieve, particularly around
reducing the void loss numbers. Close budget monitoring will be required in order to
identify any issues promptly and take corrective action.

34



Appendix 4a
Q3 Forecast Outturn Variations

Service Area

Joint
£000s

(under)/
over

spend

Adur
£000s

(under)/
over

spend

Worthing
£000s

(under)/
over

spend

Description of Significant Variations

Chief Executive

Leader 53 (140) - ADUR; Contingency underspend of £120k, used to
offset cost pressures elsewhere plus a current
projected underspend in leaders budget.

53 (140) -

Director of Communities

Director of
Communities

285 - - Vacancy Provision underachievement

Wellbeing (89) 82 66 Vacant post used to fund interim restructure costs
shown within other areas

Licensing &
Regulation

10 1 8 ADC & WBC: Underachievement of income - reduction
in number of taxi and gambling licences issued.

Env Health -
Housing

(9) (4) (69) ADC & WBC: HIA income forecast to exceed budget

Housing Needs (56) 280 736 ADC & WBC: Increase in number of households
supported in temporary accommodation. Shortages in
affordable properties within the private sector creating
difficulties with move-on from TA including landlords
entering our Opening Doors Scheme. Increased use of
budget hotel chains and price increase in one of our
largest B&B providers

Housing Needs
Grant

- (33) (33) ADC & WBC: DLUHC Domestic Abuse - Safe
Accommodation grant 2022-23

Head of
Environment

(114) - - Post saving used to contribute towards the interim staff
structure costs elsewhere

Parks &
Foreshore

164 (34) (149) JOINT: Mainly due to increased costs following post
regradings ADUR: Additional income from Allotments &
Parks WORTHING: Relates to additional income from
Beach Huts & Chalets and underspends in supplies &
services

35



Environmental
Services (Waste)

1,296 (24) (84) The overspend for the Waste service relates to
increased pay costs following the recent pay dispute
settlement plus consequential catch up costs including
income refunds for commercial waste & garden waste
missed collections, along with increased vehicle costs
for fuel & maintenance

Bereavement
Services
(Cemeteries &
Crematorium)

30 8 672 ADC Burial income shortfall WBC: Additional burial
income offset by net crematorium underachievement,
which includes a shortfall in memorial garden income
due to lack of capacity.

1,518 276 1,147

Director of Digital and Resources

Elections (2) 39 13 ADUR & WORTHING overspends in relation to extra
requirements for putting on elections

Director For
Digital,
Sustainability &
Resources

104 - - Vacancy Provision underachievement

Customer
Services

(12) - - Projected underspend in staff costs

Parking Services 7 (34) 280 Adur:
Adur continues to perform well and is expected to be on
budget. Worthing:
Income still has not improved to pre covid levels and is
not expected to do so in 2022/23.
Buckingham Road is still closed and is estimated to
open in March and there are many bays closed at
Liverpool gardens with the temporary move of the
Central clinic
There are still a number of businesses where staff are
working from home and not returned to the office which
has had an impact on the income the council would
normally have received through the town centre
workers income.
The council are working with the NHS Trust on leasing
out the smaller part of Lyndhurst Road car park which
will assist with income.
In addition the cost of card services have increased
with the move away from cash.

Digital & ICT (32) - - Overspends projected due to Google training, Xpress
hosting and an increase in google licences. In addition
there are telephony pressures associated with lines and
supplier costs, offset against underspends in Digital
Strategy and MFD’s

36



Revenues 26 59 1 ADUR & WORTHING; Under achievement of Court
Cost income offset by savings in postage and other
costs

Benefits 244 (27) 8 JOINT - Increased cost of recruiting temporary staff to
deal with the backlog following increased work from
Energy rebates and other Covid related work. ADUR -
underachievement of overpayment income
WORTHING: Favourable subsidy position compared to
budget.

Legal Services 3 15 18 Underachievement of income

Finance (225) 89 (157) Joint includes £250k contingency saving offsetting the
cost pressures elsewhere. ALL: Saving on inflation set
aside which will be offset by overspends elsewhere.

HR & OD (60) - -

Sustainability (48) - - Underspend in Salaries due to vacant posts.

Finance:
Treasury Interest

(355) (497) Increase in investment income due to increased rates in
the market following rise in Base Rate.

Finance:
Treasury MRP

- (469) (302) Reduced MRP due to re-profiling of capital budgets
from 2021/22 and MRP review by external consultants

6 (683) (636)

Director of the Economy

Director of the
Economy

80 - 6 Vacancy Provision underachievement

Leisure - 14 184 ADUR overspend on Equipment leases. WORTHING:
Contract dispute settlement relating to Splashpoint,
offsetting saving in the capital programme.

Major Projects
and Investment

37 (283) (330) ADUR: Void allowance budget offsetting the income
shortfall from initial 6 month free rent period during
negotiations of one of our Investment Properties plus
loss of income from the One York Way, Uxbridge site
which is vacant. WORTHING: Void Allowance Budget
to offset net income shortfall mainly from Montague
Street properties & Cannon House rent free period.

Place and
Economy
(Economic
Development)

13 (7) 7 JOINT - Cost of the Worthing place officer which is
charged to Worthing and funded from reserves ADUR
Saving in advertising & service budget offset by
reduced market income WORTHING: Overspend
relates to reduction in Income from the Observation
Wheel.

37



Planning and
Development
(Building
Control)

7 67 76 Fee income is projected to not meet the budget.

Planning and
Development
(Development
Control)

42 81 159 JOINT: Increased cost of using Agency staff to cover
vacancies. WORTHING: Includes the cost of
Inspectorate re Goring Gap development.

Planning and
Development
(Planning Policy)

(20) 1 85 WORTHING: Additional Local Plan costs for planning
inspector offset by contribution from the Capacity
Issues reserve.

Planning and
Development
(Land Charges)

13 48 35 A&W: Income not expected to meet the budget.

Business &
Facilities

(21) 15 23 Income for Portland House partial let has been delayed
and the income will not meet the full year anticipated
budget.

151 (64) 245

Cross Cutting services

Maintenance 198 71 (127) Maintenance projected to underspend in Joint and Adu
due to demands on reactive budget.

Pay Award -
Latest offer

972 3 23 The pay award offer has been agreed and increases
each spinal column point by £1,925, higher than built
into the 21/22 budget.

Corporate
Budgets

(73) (1) (1) Decrease in national insurance contribution percentage
by 1.25% from November

Water 2 21 3 As per our other utility costs there are increased costs.

Energy Costs 150 158 276 Our current fixed deal for our energy supplies ran out in
October and this increased substantially but is partially
offset by the Government support through the Energy
Price Relief Scheme.

Rates (14) 14 81 WORTHING: This overspend relates to the business
rates for vacant investment properties.

1,235 266 255

Allocation of Joint
Variance 1,185 1,777 Share of joint services allocated 40:60 to Councils

Total Variance 2,962 840 2,788

38



Appendix 4b
Quarter 2 to 3 Movements over £50,000

Service Area

Joint
£000s

(under)/
over

spend

Adur
£000s

(under)/
over

spend

Worthing
£000s

(under)/
over

spend

Description of Significant
Variations

Director of Communities

Community Wellbeing - 79 95 Grant funded posts to be met from
reserves

Parks & Foreshore 55 9 (104) Joint: Increased cost of Job evaluation
regradings of the parks staff as part of
the Council commitment to fairer pay.
WBC: Additional income from
Foreshore Services and savings
against expenditure budgets within the
Parks Service.

Environmental Services
(Refuse & Recycling)

208 - - Additional cost of service resourcing
(agency costs) and increased vehicle
costs.

Environmental Services -
Compliance/Management

85 - (1) Joint: Increase in resourcing costs and
reduced income from external
workshop customers due to
insufficient capacity.

Cleansing 79 - - Joint: Increased forecast for
resourcing costs.

Commercial Waste (5) (100) (107) Adur & Worthing Waste disposal
underspend based on invoices to date
- retail moving to food & drink resulting
in heavier waste and change of
service provider to WSCC.

Bereavement Services
(Crematorium)

6 - (50) WBC: Improvement in forecast
income underachievement.

Director of Digital and Resources

Digital & ICT (51) - - Forecast underspend within supplies
and services.

39



Revenue and Benefits 85 (38) 30 Use of temporary staff has been
extended to deal with the backlog of
work created by the Pandemic and
subsequent post pandemic support
schemes. In Adur the Overpayment
income is no longer predicted to meet
the budget

Finance 62 30 (29) JOINT: Reduced saving on inflation

Finance:Treasury Interest - (43) (136) Increases in investment income due to
increased rates in the market following
rise in Base Rate in recent months

Director of the Economy

Major Projects and
Investment (Core Estates)

- 34 80 WBC: Impact of works to Buckingham
Road car park and the associated
compensation to existing tenant.

Major Projects and
Investment (Major
Projects)

(3) 17 (85) WBC: Forecast underspend against
Major Projects budget.

Planning and Development
(Building Control)

14 30 52 Increase in forecast
underachievement of income for
2022/23.

Planning and Development
(Development Control)

(39) 65 93 Increase in forecast
underachievement of income for
2022/23.

Leisure Client - - 100 Revenue costs associated with
contract dispute settlement associated
with the swimming pool. The
negotiated settlement has a beneficial
impact on the capital programme
budget.

Cross Cutting services

Maintenance 180 91 (36) JOINT & ADC: Increased demand on
reactive budgets and rising costs from
suppliers and maintenance providers.

40



Adur Joint Strategic Sub-Committee
7 March 2023

Key Decision : No

Ward(s) Affected: All

3rd Quarter Capital Investment Programme & Projects Monitoring 2022/23

Report by the Director for Digital, Sustainability and Resources

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. PURPOSE

1.1 This report updates the Adur Sub-Committee of the Joint Strategic
Committee on the progress made on the delivery of the 2022/23 Capital
Investment Programmes for Adur District Council. The programmes include
schemes which support the delivery of services by the Joint Services
Committee.

1.2 The following appendices have been attached to this report:

Appendix 1: Adur District Council Capital Monitoring Summary

Appendix 2: Adur District Council Reprofiled Budgets

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1      The Adur Sub Committee of the Joint Strategic Committee is asked to:

i)    To note the reprofiling of the Adur District Council capital schemes as
advised in paragraphs 6.1 and Appendix 2.

ii)    To approve the inclusion of the scheme to replace the vehicle compound
and fuel storage at Mill Lane Cemetery in the 2023/24 Capital Investment
Programme, funded from the budget provision to replace the fencing at
Mill Lane Cemetery as detailed in paragraph 6.2.1.

iii)   To approve the urgent Health and Safety works at Commerce Way, and
the addition of the schemes to the 2023/24 Capital Investment
Programme funded from the 2023/24 capital contingency budget as
detailed in paragraph 6.2.2.

41

Agenda Item 7



3. CONTEXT

3.1 In accordance with the Councils’ Capital Strategy, the Capital Working Group
oversees the implementation and progress of both Councils’ Capital
Investment Programmes.

3.2 The Capital Working Group meets quarterly and monitors the programmes’
progress and finance, seeking to address any problems at an early stage in
order for schemes to be completed within budget and timescales. Where
problems are highlighted the Group considers possible remedies including
virements between schemes, reprofiling of budgets between years and the
withdrawal of schemes from the programme when schemes are unable to
proceed. This could be due to resourcing problems, time delays or other
factors beyond the Councils’ control.

3.3 Full summaries of the progress of all the schemes in the 2022/23 Capital
Investment Programmes are prepared each quarter highlighting:

Schemes with significant challenges Red

Schemes where progress is being closely monitored Amber

Schemes progressing well Green

Schemes where progress is beyond officers’ control ◘

Schemes with financial issues £

Schemes where progress has improved ⇧

Schemes where progress has deteriorated ⇩

3.4 The Capital Working Group also ensures that capital schemes are approved
within financial regulations.

3.5 Financial Regulations require officers to report each project on completion.

4. PROGRESS OF THE ADUR DISTRICT COUNCIL 2022/23 CAPITAL
INVESTMENT PROGRAMME – JANUARY 2023

4.1 There are 77 schemes in the 2022/23 current capital investment programme
which are progressing as follows:

Number of
schemes

Percentage
%

Schemes which are progressing
satisfactorily or have completed

62 81.5

42



Schemes where progress is being closely
monitored

14 18.4

Schemes with significant challenges 1 0.1

4.2 A summary of the financial movements of the 2022/23 Capital Investment
Programme is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. A summary of the
progress of all the schemes in the 2022/23 Capital Investment Programme is
available from the Councils' Joint Intranet.

5.0 SUCCESSES AND CHALLENGES IN THE 2022/23 ADUR DISTRICT
COUNCIL CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME

5.1. The following schemes are progressing well:

5.1.1. Adur Homes Capital Investment Programme

The Adur Homes Capital Investment Programme for 2021/22 and 2022/23
was approved by the Joint Strategic Committee on 2nd March 2021.

Delivery of the Capital Investment Programme continues to be shaped by
guidance issued to local authorities by the Regulator of Social Housing in the
aftermath of the Grenfell fire and better knowledge of our stock.

The appointment of a Fire Safety Officer has allowed us to focus on fire safety
remedial works. Several fire remedial work schemes are now being
implemented across our stock.

5.1.2 Adur Homes External Works Programme

The external capital works programme is being compiled and the following
schemes are under consideration or progressing:

● The original project to undertake external works to Rocks Close and
Locks Court has been reviewed and the scheme will now include the
wider Southwick Estate. A prioritised package of interim works is being
compiled to address essential structural works required to keep the
Estate in good repair for the next 10 years and is now being costed to
ensure this is achievable against the available budgetary provision.

● The projects to undertake external works to Bushby Close and
Beachcroft Place were initially delayed by variations to the contract but
have now been completed.

● A programme of replacement door entry systems has been agreed and
is now in progress.

● A programme of roof replacements has been compiled and will
commence in 2023.

43



● Preparatory works for a window / door replacement programme are in
progress for works to commence this financial year.

● Preparatory works are also being undertaken for external works at the
following sites in future years:
i) Millfield
ii) Nelsons Close
iii) Manor Court
iv) Rafa Balconies and external fire exits
v) Warren Court Balconies and external works
vi) Buci Crescent

5.1.3 Housing Development and Acquisition Programme

Covid-19 has had a significant impact on all of the housing development
schemes. The nationwide lockdown, site shutdowns and subsequent updated
guidance on site operation and safety in a post Covid environment has
impacted on supply chains, deliveries and on-site productivity. In particular
the social distancing measures have meant that on-site staffing levels (site
staff and site subcontractors/labour) have, in many cases, needed to be
reduced to 50% of normal capacity.

Whilst the above will mean an inevitable impact on programme delivery,
during the past 6 months the team have still overseen the completion of two
sites and signed contracts on 2 new sites (55 homes). A report identifying a
further 9 pipeline sites was approved by the Joint Strategic Committee in
October 2020.

Albion Street Refurbishment of 2 semi-detached houses into 6 flats for
temporary accommodation
Practical completion anticipated 24th February 2023.

Albion Street New Build
Covid-19 had a significant impact on the timescales for the contract award.
However, works are now on site with structure completed and topped out.
Works have been delayed whilst on site due to material and labour shortages;
delivery is now anticipated for July 2023.

44



Small Sites (Hidden Homes)
Following approval of the small sites programme to deliver 56 new homes, the
Council is progressing with 8 sites, 5 of these have planning consent and the
remaining planning applications are in progress. The contract for the initial
design has been tendered with start on site estimated Winter 2022.
Construction will take approximately one year to complete. Land Release
Funding of £566,000 was received to help unlock unviable sites.

Ashcroft
Following JSC approval in July 2021 to progress with the demolition and
design of a new building for sheltered housing, and extensive site due
diligence, dialogue with the planning department and consultation with
residents and neighbours of the site, a planning application was made in July
2022 for the construction of a new block of 44 homes. The scheme gained
consent in October 2022. The Council have been awarded £407,000 in Land
Release Fund money which will be used to enable demolition of the existing
building and diversion of services where required.

5.1.4 AW Workspaces (Partnership Scheme with Worthing Borough Council)

The main works have now been completed and the Sussex Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust (SPFT) will occupy part of Portland House. As part of this
project, improvement works have been undertaken at Portland House and
Worthing Town Hall.

Whilst the project was initially expected to deliver a saving of £365,000
(£188,000 after funding the associated debt charges), an opportunity to
increase the space rented to SPFT which will increase the saving after debt
charges to circa £388k.

5.1.5 Information and Communications Technology - Digital Programme
(Partnership Scheme with Worthing Borough Council)

The following projects are progressing well:

i) Ultrafast Network / Gigabit Project
ii) Wifi Upgrade / Network Refresh
iii) Storage Area Networks have been replaced
iv) Data migration to the Cloud.

5.1.6 Commerce Way - Refurbishment works

i) Upgrade of the female facilities have now completed.
ii) Upgrade of the male showers is scheduled for 2023/24.
iii) Refurbishment work is in hand to create improved office

and hot desking space on the ground floor. These works will enable the
release of Peters Road Depot (currently used by Adur Building
Services) as an income opportunity and enable better use of
Commerce Way Depot by consolidating our operational services on
this site.

45



5.2. Challenges in the 2022/23 Capital Investment Programme:
5.2.1 There has been significant reprofiling of budgets from 2022/23 to 2023/24 this

financial year caused by both continuing impact of both Brexit and Covid 19
resulting in significant supply problems for equipment and materials, and also
increases in prices:

Delays have been encountered as follows:

i) In obtaining quotes and estimates from suppliers.

ii) In placing orders due to supplier’s availability of stock.

iv) Long lead in times for deliveries due to supply issues.

In addition there are staffing shortages in the Technical Services Department
and projects have had to be prioritised and non urgent works deferred to
2023/24.

5.2.3 Shoreham Harbour Walls Coast Protection Scheme

The purchase of land from the Sussex Yacht Club was completed in 2019/20
enabling them to build a new club house and planning permission was
granted for a new flood wall in 2018.

A delay has been caused due to the Covid 19 Pandemic and the nature of the
flood defence design. Testing of the permeability of the water flows and
geology has now been completed and the data is being analysed.  This work
will inform the final designs for the scheme and a report is anticipated to be
completed in February 2023 which will be shared with WSCC lead flood
authority and the Environment Agency for sign off.  This will be followed by a
final costing of the coast protection works.

A further grant of £106,000 has been secured from the Environment Agency
relating to the impact of Covid 19 and the Council has allocated additional
funds of £120,000.  Furthermore, the council can apply for support for
inflationary cost rises through the EA funding programme.

Adur District Council is working with West Sussex County Council and key
stakeholders to agree a suitable solution from the impact of Public Rights of
Ways access associated with the project.

The redundant yacht club house has been demolished and tendering and
coast protection works are now anticipated in 2023/24.

5.2.4 Lancing Manor Leisure Centre - External cladding, flat roof and glazing
units replacements

46



The 2022/23 Capital Investment Programme includes a budget £237,730 for
replacing the external cladding, renewal of the flat roof area over the entrance
hall and replacement of glazing units in the entrance hall.

The works have been tendered and the tenders were considerably over
budget with a poor tender response. A PID has been submitted for additional
resources of £260,000 funded from the 2023/24 Capital Investment
Programme, and this was considered as part of the 2023/24 Capital
Investment Programme presented to the Adur Joint Strategic Sub Committee
on 2nd February 2023.

6. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION

6.1 Budgets totalling £77,994,760 have been reprofiled to 2023/24 and future
years, where the original project plan has changed and the schemes are not
expected to complete in 2022/23. A list of schemes reprofiled is attached as
Appendix 2 to this report.

6.2 The following amendments to the Adur District Council 2022/23 and 2023/24
Capital Investment Programmes are recommended:

6.2.1 Mill Lane Cemetery - Replacement of vehicle compound and fuel storage

The project covers the redevelopment of the works compound, welfare
facilities and toilets at Mill Lane Cemetery. Following the disposal of Mill Lane
Cemetery Lodge part of the lodge garden was retained to create a larger
contained compound, including welfare facilities for staff and an updated w/c.

The area contains a number of shipping containers to store ground
maintenance machinery and equipment, along with an excavator, van with
three way tipper, trailer and hazardous substances. At the present time these
are not segregated from the public. The Health and Safety Executive has
advised setting up a site correctly to ensure fundamental health and safety
issues are addressed.

The greatest risk at the site is the mobile plant; construction plant can be
heavy. It often operates on ground which is muddy and uneven, and where
driver visibility is poor. People walking on the site could be injured or killed by
moving vehicles, especially reversing vehicles. Drivers and operators could
be killed or injured by overturning vehicles and plant.

Mill Lane Cemetery has only one narrow route in and out and this passes the
works area, the mobile plant has to reverse out onto the public footpath and
load and unload onto a trailer for transportation elsewhere. This is not
segregated in any way. The public toilets are next door to this work area.
The cemetery is regularly visited by bereaved and recreational users. There
are three schools in near proximity.

The welfare facilities are poor quality, as are the toilets and also need to be
upgraded.

47



The estimated cost of the works is £95,000 and it is proposed to transfer the
£90,000 budget from the project to replace the Mill Lane Cemetery boundary
fence, which has been delayed by staffing shortages in Technical Services.
The fence is currently being maintained from revenue and a PID for the
replacement fence is to be submitted in future years. The transferred budget
will be topped up by £5,000 from underspends in the overall 2022/23 Capital
Investment Programme.

It is recommended that the Mill Lane Cemetery - Replacement of vehicle
compound and fuel storage scheme is added to the 2023/24 Capital
Investment Programme.

6.2.2 Commerce Way - Urgent Health and Safety Works at Depot

The estimated cost of the works is:

i) Replacement of Oil Tank £21,500
ii) replacement of the workshop ventilation / exhaust £15,000
iii) Replacement of the Brake Tester £30,000

It is recommended that the above schemes are added to the 2023/24 Adur
District Council and Worthing Borough Council Capital Investment
Programmes funded 50% from the 2023/24 Adur District Council Capital
Contingency provision (£33,250) and 50% from the 2023/24 Worthing
Borough Council Capital Contingency provision (£33,250).

7. ENGAGEMENT AND COMMUNICATION

7.1 The purpose of this report is to communicate with stakeholders on the
progress of the Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council 2022/23
Capital Investment Programmes. Officers of the Council have been consulted
on the progress of the schemes which they are responsible for delivering.

7.2 Specific schemes are subject to public consultation (e.g new playgrounds) to
ensure that they meet community needs.

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1 There are no unbudgeted financial implications arising from this report as the
Adur District Council 2022/23 Capital Investment Programmes were approved
by the Councils in December 2021. Subsequent changes have been reported
to and approved by the Joint Strategic Committee. The issues considered in
this report can be funded from within existing resources or through external
funding.

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

48



9.1 Section 28 Local Government Act 2003, as amended by the Localism Act
2011, provides that where in relation to a financial year, a Local Authority has
made the calculations required by sections required by sections 31A 32, 42A
and 42B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, it must review them from
time to time during the year. If it appears that there has been a deterioration in
its financial position it must take such action, if any, as it considers is
necessary to deal with the situation.

9.2 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires the Councils to make
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs.

9.3 Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 1999 (LGA 1999) contains a
general duty on a best value authority to make arrangements to secure
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised,
having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

Background Papers

● Capital Investment Programme 2021/22 – 2023/24 Adur District Council,
Worthing Borough Council and Joint Committee

● Capital Strategy 2022/25.
● Enabling the Digital Future for Adur & Worthing: Extending Ultrafast - Report

to the Joint Strategic Committee dated 2nd April 2019.

Officer Contact Details:-
Sarah Gobey
Chief Financial Officer
01903 221233
sarah.gobey@adur-worthing.gov.uk

49

mailto:sarah.gobey@adur-worthing.gov.uk


SUSTAINABILITY AND RISK ASSESSMENT

1. ECONOMIC

● The capital programme prioritisation model awards points for capital
project proposals that impact positively on the economic development
of our places or the economic participation of our communities.

2. SOCIAL

2.1 Social Value

● The capital programme prioritisation model awards points for capital
project proposals that impact positively on our communities.

2.2 Equality Issues

● The capital programme prioritisation model awards points for capital
project proposals that address DDA requirements and reduce
inequalities.

3. ENVIRONMENTAL

● The management, custodianship and protection of our natural
resources are considered when capital schemes are assessed for
inclusion in the Councils’ Capital Investment Programme.

4. GOVERNANCE

● The Councils’ priorities, specific action plans, strategies or policies are
considered when capital schemes are assessed for inclusion in the
Councils’ Capital Investment Programmes.

● The Councils’ reputation or relationship with our partners or community
is taken into account when capital schemes are assessed for inclusion
in the Councils’ Capital Investment Programmes.

● Resourcing, risk management (including health and safety) and the
governance of either Council are fully considered during the
preparation of the Councils’ Capital Investment Programmes.

50



CAPITAL MONITORING SUMMARY 2022/23 3rd Quarter

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Adur Homes and Customer 

Services 69,556,320 6,194,880   36,344,670 8,575,260   500,000        (28,896,830)   16,523,100

8,935,586   

54.08%

Environment and Leisure 4,043,789 235,779 2,218,150 40,030        16,220          (1,216,050)     1,058,350 376,445      35.57%

Communities and Wellbeing 927,510 -                  522,600 6,910          105,000        (496,050)        138,460

881             

0.64%

Regeneration and Strategic 

Planning 7,235,200 4,068,990   2,568,250 42,340        226,000        (2,145,000)     691,590
342,170      

49.48%

Resources 132,635,620 84,146,760 45,992,350 444,340      108,500        (45,240,830)   1,304,360 488,954      37.49%

TOTALS 214,398,439 94,646,409 87,646,020 9,108,880   955,720        (77,994,760)   19,715,860   10,144,036 51.45%

Financing of 2022/23 Programme:

Adur Homes Capital Programme: £'000 General Fund Capital Programme: £'000

Capital Receipts: 100 Prudential Borrowing: 4,391

Major Repairs Reserve: 6,000 Capital Receipts: 124

Capital Grants: 0 Government Grants: 782

Prudential Borrowing: 7,906 Revenue Reserves and Contributions 207

S106 Receipts 78

Other Contributions 128

14,006 5,710

Summary of Progress:

Schemes with significant challenges: 1

Schemes where progress is being closely monitored: 14

Schemes progressing well or completed: 62

Total Schemes: 77

APPENDIX 1

(9)

2022/23 

Original 

Budget 

Approved 

Changes to 

Original 

Budget

Net budget 

b/f from  

2021/22

2022/23 Budget 

Reprofiles to 

and from 

2023/24 

Spend        

% of 

Current 

Budget

2022/23 

Spend to 

Date

Previous 

Years' 

Spend

Executive Portfolios

Total ADC 

Scheme 

Budgets

2022/23 

Current 

Budget

P/Capital/Monitoring/Appendix 1 - Adur 3rd Qtr Capital Monitoring Summary/Summary Rev 1  of  2 27/02/2023    10:45

51



ADUR DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3RD QUARTER CAPITAL MONITORING SUMMARY APPENDIX 1

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10)

SCHEME   COMMENTS AND PROGRESS Status

(Responsible Officer)

£ £ £ £ £ £

£

i) Mar-24 RED

02/01/20 (P)   

13/07/21 (P)

£

TOTAL:  250,000 12,270 237,730 - - -  

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER: Kevin Smith Principal Building Surveyor, Facilities & Technical Services

The scheme has been tendered 

twice and additional resources 

are now required.  Additional 

resources of £260,000 have 

provisionally been allocated for 

2023/24.  

External cladding replacement 

and renewal of flat roof area and 

replacement glazing

Lancing Manor Leisure Centre

250,000 12,270 237,730 - -

£  Schemes with financial issues

2022/23  

Spend to 

Date

Anticipated 

Completion 

Date (C)  /  

Approval 

Report(D)/    

P.I.D.(P)

 2022/23 

Anticipated 

(Underspend)  

/Overspend 

(Council  

Resources)

Total 

ADC 

Scheme 

Budget

2022/23 

Current 

Budget

Prior Year 

Spend

Budget 

Reprofiles 

to and from 

2023/24 

and Future 

Years Scheme Progress Improved

Scheme Progress Deteriorated

◙ Progress Beyond Council’s Control 

27/02/2023   10:45 2 of 2 P/Capital/Monitoring/Appendix 1 - Adur 3rd Qtr Capital Monitoring Summary/Report 

52



Appendix 2

ADUR DISTRICT COUNCIL - CAPITAL BUDGETS REPROFILED TO FUTURE YEARS

Scheme
Reprofiled 
Budgets

Reason

Adur Homes Capital Investment 
Programme

Albion Street Development 1,000,000
Slight delay to works due to material shortages, 
expected completion May 2023. Budget reprofiled 
in line with anticipated expenditure.

Development of Properties 14,245,420 i) Small Sites Programme - Construction expected 
to begin in the winter and will be on site for 
approximately 1 year.  Budget reprofiled in line 
with anticipated expenditure.

External Structural Works 1,854,900 Southwick Estate Remedial Works - Design, 
specification and procurement of initial works to be 
undertaken in 2022/23, remainder of budget 
reprofiled to future years.

Coast Protection Works - Shoreham Harbour 
Walls Project

2,000,000

Tendering for the scheme is anticipated February / 
March 2023 with works estimated in 2023/24.  
Budget reprofiled in line with anticipated 
expenditure.

Corporate Buildings - Condition Surveys 20,000
Surveys to continue in 2023/24. Budget reprofiled 
in line with anticipated expenditure.

Council Buildings - Leased out properties 
condition surveys

40,000
Surveys to continue in 2023/24. Budget reprofiled 
in line with anticipated expenditure.

IT / Digital - Network Refresh Wifi Upgrade 24,280
Scheme to continue into 2023/24. Budget 
reprofiled in line with anticipated expenditure.

Lancing Leisure Centre - External Cladding 38,200
Retendered as original tenders were over budget.  
Additional PID submitted for 23/24.

Lancing Leisure Centre - Renewal of flat roof 
and replacement glazing

199,530
Retendered as original tenders were over budget.  
Additional PID submitted for 23/24.

Street Cleansing / Refuse / Recycling Service 
- Replacement Vehicles

345,600
2022/23 vehicle replacements budgets reprofiled 
to 2023/24 due to lead in times for the delivery of 
new vehicles.

Ultrafast Fibre Network Extension 1,083,160
Timescales extended, expected completion date is 
now Summer 2023. Budget reprofiled in line with 
anticipated expenditure.

1. Schemes in Progress where the completion has been delayed beyond 31st March 2023

General Fund Schemes

53



Appendix 2

ADUR DISTRICT COUNCIL - CAPITAL BUDGETS REPROFILED TO FUTURE YEARS

Scheme
Reprofiled 
Budgets

Reason

1. Schemes in Progress where the completion has been delayed beyond 31st March 2023

Adur Homes Capital Investment 
Programme

Building Services - Replacement Vehicles 48,000
Budget reprofiled due to lead in times for 
deliveries of new vehicles.

Decarbonisation Schemes - Invest to Save 100,000 Replacement heating scheme being investigated.  
Budget reprofiled in line with anticipated 
expenditure.

Development of Properties 453,170 ii) Contingency / Purchase of Properties - 
Reprofiled as no properties have been identified to 
date.

External Structural Works 500,000 Works planned on Penstone / Osborne / Warren 
Court balconies and various roofing replacements.  
Due to lead in times for consultation and 
tendering, budget reprofiled to 2023/24.

1,300,000 Milfield Remedial Works - Currently in initial 
stages, budget reprofiled in line with anticipated 
expenditure.

Fire Safety Works 2,500,000 i) Fire Door Replacements - New contractor being 
sourced for the project due to poor quality. Budget 
reprofiled in line with anticipated expenditure.

1,000,000 ii) General Needs improvements - Delivery running 
behind schedule, now expected to complete in 
23/24

Heating and Energy Efficiency Schemes 150,000 Replacement heating scheme under 
consideration.  Possible invest to save scheme.  
Budget reprofiled due to lead times for works.

Professional and Consultancy Services for 
Adur Homes major repairs schemes

756,580 Budget reprofiled in line with lead in time for 
construction schemes.

Affordable Housing - Grants to Registered 
Social Landlords for the provision of 
affordable housing

2,069,800
Reprofiled due to lead times for new 
developments.

Buckingham Park - Replacement Pavilion 172,000
Budgets profiled to 23/24 while options are under 
consideration

2. Schemes Due to start in 2023/24

General Fund Schemes

54



Appendix 2

ADUR DISTRICT COUNCIL - CAPITAL BUDGETS REPROFILED TO FUTURE YEARS

Scheme
Reprofiled 
Budgets

Reason

1. Schemes in Progress where the completion has been delayed beyond 31st March 2023
Corporate Buildings - Carbon Reduction 
Schemes (Invest to Save)

498,000
Reports to be submitted for any schemes which 
meet the "invest to save criteria".

Council Buildings - Asbestos removal and 
management

100,000
Budget reprofiled in line with anticipated 
expenditure.

Eastbrook Community Centre - Provision of 
Multi Use Games Area and Building Fabric 
Repairs

291,050

Due to reporting and lead in times for works, 
external works likely to be undertaken in 2023/24.   
Budget reprofiled in line with anticipated 
expenditure.

Equalities - Access Audits 40,000
Budget reprofiled in line with anticipated 
expenditure.

Fishersgate Recreation Ground - Car Park 
Resurfacing

140,000

Scheme to be undertaken alongside the 
Community Centre redevelopment scheme.  
Budget reprofiled in line with anticipated 
expenditure.

Housing - Empty Properties 42,000
To date no grants or loans have been identified.  
Budget reprofiled.

Housing Development - South Street Car 
Park 

1,836,000
Budget profiled in line with anticipated 
expenditure.

Housing Development (General Fund) - 
Acquisition and development of emergency 
and temporary accommodation for the 
homeless

1,040,960
Reprofiled due to lead in times for new 
developments.

IT / Digital  - Identity Governance and Admin 
System

28,200
Original system is being reviewed and to be 
implemented 2023/24.

Lancing Ring - Replacement Trees 25,720
Budget reallocated to 2024/25 for further felling 
and planting. Budget reprofiled in line with 
anticipated expenditure.

Office Equipment - Microphone System 
Replacement

14,100
New technical solutions under consideration.  
Replacement anticipated 2023/24.

Play Areas - Southwick Recreation Ground 
Refurbishment

90,000 Installation anticipated June 2023.

Planning and Building Control - Document 
Management System

44,670
System to be considered after corporate DMS 
upgrade.

55



Appendix 2

ADUR DISTRICT COUNCIL - CAPITAL BUDGETS REPROFILED TO FUTURE YEARS

Scheme
Reprofiled 
Budgets

Reason

1. Schemes in Progress where the completion has been delayed beyond 31st March 2023
Public Conveniences - Rolling Programme of 
upgrades and improvements

60,000
Refurbishments of public conveniences likely to be 
delayed to 2023/24 due to staffing shortages in 
Technical Services.

Shoreham Centre - Accessible facilities 50,000
Refurbishments of public conveniences likely to be 
delayed to 2023/24 due to staffing shortages in 
Technical Services.

Shoreham Harbour Projects 145,000
Budget reprofiled in line with anticipated 
expenditure.

Southwick Community Centre - Replacement 
of windows to the café area

35,000
Scheme unlikely to progress this financial year due 
to resourcing issues in Technical Services.

Southwick Community Centre - Replacement 
of windows to the Porter Room and floor 
replacement

30,000
Scheme unlikely to progress this financial year due 
to resourcing issues in Technical Services.

Strategic Property Investments - Investments 
in property for regeneration or service 
delivery.

43,488,420
Budget Reprofiled as no investments have been 
identified to date.

Mill Lane Cemetery - replacement of 
boundary fence

95,000
Scheme unlikely to progress this financial year due 
to resourcing issues in Technical Services.

Total Reprofiled Budgets: 77,994,760

3. Schemes due to start in future years

56



Adur Joint Strategic Sub-Committee
7 March 2023

Key Decision No

Ward(s) Affected: All
Cabinet Portfolio: Adur Homes and

Customer Services

Adur Homes Compliance with Housing Regulator Standards and Adur Housing
Strategy Roadmap

Report by the Director for Communities

Officer Contact Details
Richard Tuset, Policy Lead
richard.tuset@adur-worthing.gov.uk

Executive Summary

Purpose

1.1 The purpose of the report is to inform members that the Director of
Communities has undertaken a diagnostic review of the Council’s housing
stock (Adur Homes) and its compliance with the Regulator of Social
Housing’s standards.  A number of gaps in compliance have been identified
and the council has as a result referred itself to the Regulator.

1.2 The report identifies the areas that require improvement and sets out
the process Adur Council will undertake, in partnership with the Regulator,
to improve performance and meet the required standards.

1.3 To support the required changes the report sets out proposed changes
to the Adur Homes Management Board membership, a new set of interim
policies and procedures for Adur Homes for comment and agreement and
details concerning the development of an improvement plan.

1.4 The report also asks for Member approval to extend three housing
strategies / policies and to set out a roadmap to renewing these strategies
as part of the above improvement plans during 2023/24, including the:

● Housing Strategy: Enabling communities to thrive in their own
home” 2020-2023;

57

Agenda Item 8



● Temporary Accommodation Placement and Procurement
Policy, and

● Community Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

Recommendations

In relation to Adur Homes compliance issues, Members are asked to:

2.1 Note areas of non compliance with social housing standards and
endorse the decision to refer Adur Homes to the Housing Regulator.

2.2 Approve the time scales for bringing an improvement plan to the Adur
Joint Strategic Committee Sub-Committee and require further updates on
progress from the Director for Communities.

2.3 Comment on and approve the new and revised policies and procedures
for Adur Homes attached in Appendix 1 and to delegate authority to the
Director for Communities to make minor amendments to these policies and
procedures as required, in consultation with the Adur Homes Management
Board.

2.4 Approve changes to the Adur Homes Management Board membership
and require the Board to provide progress updates to the Joint Audit and
Governance Committee on a quarterly basis.

2.5 To update the Joint Audit and Governance Committee on the decision
to refer Adur Homes to the Housing Regulator and recommend to the
Committee the proposed changes to the Housing Board and to consider the
revised interim policies and procedures.

2.6 In relation to Adur Housing Strategy Roadmap, Members are asked to:

● Agree to extend the following strategies/policies until the end of
March 2024:

● Housing Strategy: Enabling communities to thrive in their own home”
2020-2023 to March 2024;

● Temporary Accommodation Placement and Procurement Policy; and
● Community Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

2.7 Note and agree to the roadmap for the development of the new
strategies/policies during 2023/24, which will be reported back to this
Cabinet in January 2024.

58



Context

3.1 In April 2015 the Regulator of Social Housing published seven Housing
Standards against which housing organisations are required to ensure
compliance. These standards are:

The Economic Standards
● Governance and Financial Viability Standard
● Value for Money Standard
● Rent Standard

 
The Consumer Standards:

● The Home Standard sets expectations for registered providers of
social housing to provide tenants with quality accommodation.  Key
elements include the provision of decent homes and cost effective
repairs and maintenance.

● The Tenancy Standard sets expectations for registered providers of
social housing to let their homes to tenants in a fair, transparent and
efficient way.

● The Neighbourhood and Community Standard sets expectations for
registered providers of social housing to keep the neighbourhood and
communal areas associated with the homes they own clean and safe,
co-operate with relevant partners to promote the wellbeing of the local
area and help prevent and tackle anti-social behaviour.

● The Tenant Involvement and Empowerment Standard sets
expectations for registered providers of social housing to provide
choices, information and communication that is appropriate to the
diverse needs of their tenants, a clear approach to complaints and a
wide range of opportunities for them to have influence and be involved.

Two of these standards, the Governance and Financial Viability and Value for
Money Standard only relate only to Registered Providers/Housing
Associations and do not relate to local authority landlords.

Self referral to the Regulator of Social Housing

3.2 The Regulator, in a letter dated 22 November 2022 to all registered providers,
following the tragic death of Awaab Ishak in Rochdale, stated
that “Should you identify that your homes do not meet the relevant standards,
you should self-refer immediately”.

59



Though the letter from the Regulator was prompted by the damp and
mould issue, the presence of or failure to deal with damp and mould itself is
not a reason to refer to the Regulator. As stated in the RSH’s letter,
self-referral should be made if the landlord identifies that their homes do not
meet the relevant standards, even if it is only a part of their homes that do not
meet any of the the consumer standards.

3.3 In coming to post the new Director for Communities has undertaken a
diagnostic review of compliance within Adur Homes housing stock and
brought in experienced external individuals to assist the Council with this.
Despite the work undertaken as part of the Housing Strategy and
Transformation Plan, this diagnostic process has identified a number of areas
where Adur Homes is  not compliant with the required standards.

3.4 The District Council takes residents’ safety and statutory and regulatory
responsibilities very seriously and therefore on becoming aware of the
outcome of the compliance diagnostic, in consultation with the Leader of the
Council and the Cabinet Member for Adur Homes and Customer Services,
Adur District Council self-referred to the Regulator on 24th February 2023.

Under what standards has the Council been referred to the Regulator?

3.5 We recognise the need to provide good homes and a strong service for our
tenants and leaseholders.  Adur Homes is highlighting concerns with the
Regulator in relation to the Decent Homes Standard and the following specific
standards:

● The Home Standard
● Tenant Involvement and Empowerment Standard
● Tenancy Standard

What are the specific issues of non compliance?

3.6 The referral is being made with regard to the following specific areas of
concern:

● Decent Homes: - Currently the council does not have sufficient
evidence to identify the number of homes it manages which meet the
government’s Decent Homes Standard.

● Home Standard, Cost effective repairs and maintenance: - Adur
Homes does not currently have a cost effective repairs service. There
are significant issues around performance, customer experience and
cost efficiency.

60



● Home Standard, Meets all Health and Safety Requirements: -
Currently the authority cannot be confident that all work is undertaken
in a timely manner and therefore actions may remain outstanding for
longer than prescribed.

● Home Standard, Electrical Installation Condition Report (EICRs): -
Adur Council is not assured that all its homes have been EICR tested
within the last 5 years and there are delays with emergency light
testing.

● Home Standard, Fire Safety: - Currently not all areas of fire safety
have been addressed and further assurance work is required around
the completion of risk assessments and the timely implementation of
necessary works.

● Tenancy Standard: - Our policies and processes require updating and
we need to ensure that they meet our tenancy standards.

● Tenancy Involvement and Empowerment Standard: - The number of
tenants engaged with the service is very low and a cross section of
tenants are not being engaged by the service to seek their views on
‘housing management’ activities. In addition, Adur Homes does not
currently meet the standards required for complaints handling.

Issues for Consideration

Regulator of Social Housing

4.1 The Regulator has been sent our referral and it is anticipated it that they will
be in contact shortly to review the details of the referral and agree a plan to
support Adur Homes returning to compliance against the above housing
standards.

Improvement Plans

4.2 A comprehensive and robust improvement plan is currently being compiled by
Adur District Council. External support has been sought from a local authority
that has been through the referral process to help ensure maximum
effectiveness of the approach proposed.

A new internal Adur Homes Asset and Compliance Board has also been
established, chaired by the Director for Communities and including senior
officers to drive forward an improvement plan. Following consultation with the
Regulator it is anticipated that a draft plan will be presented to the Adur JSC
Sub Committee in June 2023.

4.3 This plan will set out a clear set of actions for the coming year for the service
with a clear set of performance indicators that will be used to monitor progress
and enable scrutiny of this work.

61



Policy Framework

4.4 As part of the improvement plan preparations, a set of revised interim
policies and procedures for Adur Homes are presented for comment and
agreement in Appendix 1. These policies will be further refined and updated in
the coming months and members are asked to delegate authority to the
Director for Communities for minor amendments to these policies and
procedures as required, in consultation with the Adur Homes Management
Board.

Adur Homes Management Board

4.5 The Adur Homes Management Board is made up of:

● Director for Communities (Chair)
● Executive Member for Adur Homes and Customer Services
● The chairperson of the Adur Homes general housing tenants

representative group
● The chairperson of the sheltered housing tenants residents

representative group
● The chairperson of the leaseholders representative group
● Young person’s group
● Chief Financial Officer
● Head of Housing

4.5 The purpose and objectives of the Adur Homes Management Board are set
out in Adur District Counci’s Constitution and are summarised as follows:

● Operate collectively and concentrate on advising on strategic and
operational issues affecting performance;

● Scrutinise and challenge policies and procedures with a view to the
long-term health and success of the business;

● Direct, supervise and make recommendations on the operations of
Adur Homes on behalf of the tenants, stakeholders, employees and
community at large.

4.6 Currently tenant and leaseholder representation, the work programme and
member representation require review and improvement if the Board is to
effectively support the required improvements in Adur Homes.  To adequately
improve representation, oversight and accelerate improvement against the
required housing standards the following actions are recommended:

● Work is undertaken as a priority to ensure adequate tenant and
leaseholder representation.

62

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,168761,smxx.pdf


● Oversight on the board is strengthened by extending the membership
of the board to include a representative from the Joint Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and the Joint Audit and Governance Committee.

● The Board provides progress updates on work with the Regulator to
the Joint Audit and Governance Committee on a quarterly basis and
every six months to the Adur Joint Strategic Sub Committee.

A Challenging Financial Context

4.7 It should be noted that this work takes place in the context of a challenging
HRA budget (as reported to Cabinet in February 2023) and unprecedented
housing demands.

Members will be aware that the rent limitation measure announced by the
Chancellor in 2015 had a profound impact on the HRA and still continues to
impact on the HRA’s future financial sustainability. Over the period of the
reduction, the Council has lost and continues to lose a substantial amount of
annual rental income of around £2m per year. This lost income has
compromised the financial stability of the HRA, and more importantly,
affected the amount that can be invested both in existing homes and in the
development of new homes. Our impaired ability to invest in the current
stock has significant implications for the Council’s ability to meet condition
surveys and health and safety requirements.

Rent setting for the HRA is now governed by the The Regulator of Social
Housing and the Council has the ability to increase rents by CPI (Sept) + 1%
under normal circumstances. The Government has made the commitment
for Councils to retain the flexibility for at least 5 years. For 2023/24 the
government has capped this increase at 7% for the majority of tenants due
to the cost of living crisis which sees the September 2022 inflation rate at
10.1%. Looking ahead to 2023/24, the overall position will gradually
improve as rental level continues to increase faster than other inflationary
pressures.

Over the longer term, the HRA remains in a financially viable position, able
to invest in its stock to address backlog maintenance and to maintain a
development programme. However, caution will need to be exercised over
the coming years as the financial position will be difficult for at least another
3 years until the HRA has become financially sustainable with an adequate
level of reserves to manage future risks.

New Charter for Social Housing and Revised Consumer Standards

4.8 The housing standards that Adur Homes are required to meet are in the
process of being reviewed, changed and improved.  The Government
published ‘The Charter for Social Housing Residents’ white paper in
November 2020 and this paper seeks to improve housing standards for
those who rent, leaseholders and shared owners in social housing. It sets

63



out a new charter outlining what every social housing resident should expect
from their landlord:

● To be safe in your home. Landlords will be required to ensure every
home is safe and secure.

● To know how your landlord is performing: Landlords will be held to
account regarding repairs, complaints, safety, and how it spends its
money.

● To have your complaints dealt with promptly and fairly: The
Ombudsman will be strengthened giving swift and fair redress when
needed.

● To be treated with respect: The Housing Regulator will be
strengthened and there will be improved consumer standards.

● To have your voice heard by your landlord:  Tenant voice will be
increased for example through regular meetings, scrutiny panels or
being on housing boards.

● To have a good quality home and neighbourhood to live: Landlords
will be required to keep homes in good repair and the decent homes
standard will be reviewed.

● To be supported to take your first step to ownership: Increasing the
supply of good quality social homes, and working to give as many
residents as possible the right to purchase their own home.

4.9 Many of these changes will be implemented by the Regulator of Social
Housing but most of these changes can only be made when parliament has
passed legislation to change the Regulator’s objectives and legal powers. The
Government has said that it will introduce the legislation needed to implement
the white paper as soon as practicable. While this means new consumer
standards cannot be implemented yet, boards and councillors responsible for
social housing are advised not to wait for new consumer regulation to look at
how they can improve their services and engagement with tenants.

The improvement plan and the housing strategy updates described in this
paper will need to take into account these forthcoming changes and will assist
the Council in its readiness to respond to these changes once they become
legislation.

5. Housing Strategy Roadmap

5.1 The challenges outlined above in relation to Adur Homes must also be
considered in the context of the wider housing strategic approach.  There are
currently three key housing strategies which are ending imminently and need
to be renewed for Adur and Members are asked to approve the extension of

64



each of these until March 2024 to enable officers to undertake the full work to
renew and refresh these. This includes:

● Housing Strategy: Enabling People to thrive in their own homes
2020-2023 - This provides the main strategy for our housing strategy
for Adur and Worthing, progress of which has been reported to the
JOSC Committee in January 2023.

● Temporary Accommodation Placement and Procurement Strategy
2017-2020 - This strategy sets out the approach to the placement of
households in temporary accommodation and the acquisition of
suitable accommodation for people who the Council accept as having
an ‘interim’ and full housing duty.   This strategy was due to be
reviewed in 2020 and now needs to be fully reviewed and updated
during this year.

● Community Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2017-2022 - This
strategy was developed in collaboration with the Adur and Worthing
Homelessness Partnership to set out a systematic approach to tackling
homelessness through help and interventions to sustain and secure
suitable accommodation. Work is now underway to re-form a new Adur
and Worthing Homelessness Prevention Partnership, which will include
a number of statutory and voluntary sector partners involved in tackling
homelessness, with a first date being planned for March 2023.  This
partnership will drive the development of a new Homelessness
prevention strategy for Adur and Worthing

5.2 Officers are developing a strategy roadmap to develop, produce and deliver
these strategies during 2023/24, in line with required improvement work,
which will focus on key elements:

● Needs assessment: The Council is commissioning a full housing
needs assessment of Adur’s communities to determine housing and
support needs as well ast gaps in provision and opportunities for
collaboration and joint commissioning. The assessment will commence
in February with a report expected in April 2023.

● A&W Homelessness Prevention Partnership: The Council will
establish the new partnership to drive forward a collaborative approach
to how we work together in line with council principles to prevent
homelessness and rough sleeping.

65



● A&W Homelessness Prevention Strategy: The Council will review its
existing Strategy and work with our new partnership to develop a new
strategy for the district.

● Review the Housing Strategy: With our Members and partners to
assess our progress and learning and develop the work required to
create our next strategy for Adur.

● Review our Temporary Accommodation Placement and
Procurement Policy: we will review and renew our temporary
accommodation policy, focusing much more on our map of place, the
use of evidence to inform this work and innovative approaches to how
we make the best use of our resources as well as how we partner with
other to meet the housing and support needs of our residents in
temporary accommodation.

Engagement and Communication

6.1 In undertaking this referral the Director for Communities has briefed the Adur
Homes Management Board, which is made up of members, officers and
tenant representatives as set out above.

6.2 A communication and engagement plan is being developed and tenants and
leaseholders have been contacted to update them on the decision to refer to
the Regulator, the reasons for this referral and an outline of the next steps.

6.3 We are also recruiting a new Tenant Participation Officer and we will, when
appointed undertake the work necessary to improve our communication
and engagement with tenants and leaseholders. Improvements in this area
are required and will be undertaken as part of the improvement plan. This
work will be supported by the Council’s wider commitments and investment
around the Corporate Plan’s (Our Plan) principle of participation.

7. Financial Implications

7.1 The resources to ensure compliance with the Regulator’s Standards must be
found within the Adur Housing Revenue Account which is a ring-fenced
account. Overall, the HRA has significant budgets available to it (£14.8m) and
every endeavour will be made regarding best use of these existing resources
to deliver the improvement plan.

7.2 However, to improve financial capacity to deliver any additional requirements
arising which cannot be accommodated with the existing revenue budget, a

66



capitalisation direction will be sought to enable the council to access the
Major Repairs Allowance which stood at £9.4m as at 31/3/2022. This reserve
can currently only be used to fund capital expenditure and the repayment of
any debt under legislation. Members are reminded that there is no guarantee
that a direction will be given and that there will be revenue consequences in
utilising this reserve as it was planned to be used to finance the capital
programme. Any resources used to support the revenue budget would need
to be replaced by borrowing at an estimated revenue impact of £45,000 per
£1m additional borrowing in a full year.

7.3 A review of the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan will be undertaken
shortly to enable the service to track the management of resources to deliver
against the government’s Decent Homes Standard and to ensure compliance
in all other service areas.

Finance Officer: Sarah Gobey Date: 23rd February 2023

8. Legal Implications

8.1 Under Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the
power to do anything that is calculated to facilitate, or which is conducive or
incidental to, the discharge of any of their functions.

8.2 s1 of the Localism Act 2011 empowers the Council to do anything an
individual can do apart from that which is specifically prohibited by pre-existing
legislation

8.3 Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 1999 (LGA 1999) contains a
general duty on a best value authority to make arrangements to secure
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised,
having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

8.4 Section 8 of the Housing Act 1985 continues to place a duty on every local
housing authority to consider housing conditions in their district and the needs
of the district with respect to the provision of further housing accommodation.

Legal Officer: Joanne Lee Date: 21/02/2023

Background Papers

● Regulatory Standards
● Decent Homes Standards
● Our Plan

67

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/regulatory-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-decent-home-definition-and-guidance
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,168817,smxx.pdf


● Housing Strategy: Enabling communities to thrive in their own home”
2020-2023;

● Temporary Accommodation Placement and Procurement Policy, and
● Community Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022
● Housing Revenue Account 2023/24 Budget
● The Charter for Social Housing Residents - Social Housing White Paper
● Adur District Council Constitution

Officer Contact Details:-

Richard Tuset, Policy Lead
Telephone: 01903 221003  Email: richard.tuset@adur-worthing.gov.uk

Tina Favier, Director for Communities
Telephone: 01903 221001  Email: tina.favier@adur-worthing.gov.uk

68

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,157368,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,157368,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,148535,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,119502,smxx.pdf
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/g1754/Public%20reports%20pack%2002nd-Feb-2023%2018.30%20Adur%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936098/The_charter_for_social_housing_residents_-_social_housing_white_paper.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,168761,smxx.pdf
mailto:richard.tuset@adur-worthing.gov.uk
mailto:catherine.howe@adur-worthing.gov.uk


Sustainability & Risk Assessment

1. Economic

1.1 Thriving Economy is one of the four Missions identified in Our Plan and will
therefore become one of the key documents informing the direction and
prioritisation of the council’s work with regard to Adur Homes.

1.2 Providing a decent home that is secure, affordable, warm and modern,
supports the wellbeing of our residents, enabling those who are able to work
to enter and sustain employment and contribute to economic activity.

2. Social

2.1 Social Value

2.1.1 Residents and communities are central to Our Plan and ‘Thriving
People’ is one of the four Missions identified in Our Plan. This mission
aims to ensure people are healthy, resilient and resourceful, that they
can access the right help when they need it and everyone has a safe,
secure and sustainable home.

2.1.2 One of the three overarching Principles in Our Plan is Participative,
which is based on the explicit intention to work more closely with
citizens to involve them in deeper and more meaningful conversations
about service design and delivery.  Our work to meet decent homes
and the other housing standards linked to tenant participation therefore
forms a central part of the council's commitments.

2.2 Equality Issues

2.2.1 The council is subject to the general equality duty set out in section 149
of the Equality Act 2010. This duty covers the following protected
characteristics: age, gender, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, and sexual orientation.

2.2.2 In delivering housing services the council must have due regard to the
need to:

● Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation
● Advance equality of opportunity between different groups
● Foster good relations between different groups

69



2.2.3 The participative principle in Our Plan describes the council’s
commitment to providing truly inclusive services by listening to
underrepresented voices, creating equal access and meeting our
equality duties.

2.2.4 The council’s legal duties (Equality Act 2010) will inform the
Development and delivery of the improvement plan, in relation to
eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity and
fostering good relations.

2.2.5 Decisions, actions and areas of investment relating to implementation
of the improvement plan, may require Equality Impact Assessments.

2.3 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)

2.3.1 The council is committed to the promotion of communities as safe
places. Our Plan seeks to progress delivery of the councils’ community
safety commitments by strengthening working partnerships with the
Police, communities, businesses and multidisciplinary teams across
the council.

2.3.2 As part of our ongoing work to meet the Neighbourhood and
Community Housing Standard  will see to keep the neighbourhood and
communal areas associated with the Adur Homes clean and safe,
co-operate with relevant partners to promote the wellbeing and help
prevent and tackle anti-social behaviour.

2.4 Human Rights Issues

2.4.1 The actions set out in the report will enable the council to identify
solutions that will enable our residents, communities and
neighbourhoods to flourish.

3. Environmental

3.1 Thriving Environment is one of the four Missions identified in Our Plan and
key actions include achieving net zero carbon, resilience to climate change
and increased biodiversity by restoring natural habitats and minimising waste.

3.2 The improvement plan, as part of the wider work plan for Adur Homes, will as
part of these commitments actively contribute to carbon reduction, waste
minimisation and biodiversity improvement objectives.

4. Governance

70



4.1 In line with the constitution this report will be referred to the Joint Audit and
Governance Committee to note and comment.  Additional engagement will
also be undertaken with the Adur Homes Management Board.

4.2 Further updates, including the improvement plan will be brought to JSC Adur
Subcommittee on a quarterly basis.

71



Appendix 1

Interim Policies and Procedures that will be updated and adjusted as required
through review and the Regulator’s recommendations.

Leasehold Management Policy

Major works payment policy

H&S policy

Damp and mould policy and procedures

Asbestos Management Plan

Electrical safety policy

Gas policy

Lift equipment maintenance and servicing Policy

Water Safety and Hygiene (Legionella).

Complaints

Compensation Policy

72

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1XXqF_qJ7uAVi9g1H4ctg7T8cqsuCLd_zlxI2dzdLifc/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1DQSBtIg0_q6JIq1ruJeMy5Qhclx60JxluI_5SgA2rwk/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1Fb93ZFtTY8jODSmF3DwxLRPEvGXC4ToP8LmlLt8Ej8U/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1FxviObDE-_spWPfbMKuOu6HgNA06M2JKb8Z7ELqYSc8/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1Xxhr3cAYUOM9345TVzvi2JPpvm_YB0Pb/edit?usp=sharing&ouid=114782631979094041584&rtpof=true&sd=true
https://docs.google.com/document/d/10bBpjUh4CqVevhMwOjJ5Iw_lywUWXE-px-fGR6X6t0Y/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1dM3s3xmJ2rHKyCX88GgnyaSZjtPpIrXUjRbqv-qHbUo/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1G_Z-sVzDFQ8s-BFk5mppMjxFJ2P-sN7_SzS_n1oC_-4/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1jZEdttNE7eZGPZ12GDKR3OCNHRFjq3CoI5qHDMsj7mk/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1oN3Rc0EYb8fQk60HDMZH7MKz8Sy6rk3Gkk5J0JJm6dg/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1s8iILrePmKOCTnX16O-qJbAOrhIubQrGsc885UZrD_w/edit?usp=sharing


ADUR HOMES

Enabling Communities to Thrive in Their Homes

Leasehold Management Policy
(2020 - 2025)

Adopted:

Review Date: March 2024

73



CONTENTS

1.0 Introduction and Purpose

2.0 Definitions

3.0 Context and background

4.0 Policy Principles

5.0 Primary policy approaches

6.0 Leaseholder engagement and communication

7.0 Performance measures and standards

2

74



1.0 Introduction and Purpose

1.1 This document sets out the basic principles of how the Council will manage its
leasehold properties and comply with its obligations under the lease and its
wider statutory obligations towards leaseholders.

1.2 It also outlines the high-level policies for key areas of leasehold management.

1.3 The purpose of the policy is to provide clarity to Council staff and to residents on
the Council’s responsibilities towards leaseholders and to show leaseholders
what they may expect from the Council.

2.0 Definitions

In this document the following key terms are used:

Leaseholder The owner of a flat or maisonette, who either bought their
home from the Council under the Right to Buy, or who bought
it on the open market from the Right to Buy purchaser or
from a subsequent owner.

Lease A lease gives the right to the leaseholder to use and occupy
a property for a fixed period of time . Leases granted under
the Right to Buy are for a term of 125 years from the first
sale in the block. The lease sets out the rights and
responsibilities of both the leaseholder and the landlord.

3

75



Freeholder

Landlord

Service
Charges

Adur District Council owns outright the building of which a
flat or maisonette forms a part, including any grounds or
communal areas and has granted the leases to the
leaseholder.

Adur District Council is the landlord as it has granted the
leases . Its legal obligations towards leaseholders and the
rights it is able to exercise are set out in the lease and by the
relevant legislation.

The charge paid by the leaseholder as their share of the
landlord’s costs including overheads for carrying out
communal repairs or providing services such as grounds
maintenance and building cleaning . These services are set
out in the lease. The legal definition of a service charge is
given by the Section 18 of Landlord & Tenant Act 1985 (as
amended).

Major
Works

Cyclical,periodic or capital works, such as external repairs
and decorations, roof repair or renewal , or the installation of
replacement windows. A legal consultation process is
carried out before such works are undertaken where the cost
to any leaseholder is £250.00 or more.

Long-term
agreement

This is an agreement with a contractor that lasts more than
12 months to carry out repairs or provide services . Where
any leaseholder may be charged more than £100/ year
under such an agreement, a legal consultation process has
to take place with leaseholders before entering into the
agreement. Examples of services which might be provided
under a long term agreement include grounds maintenance ,
communal TV aerial service/maintenance, building cleaning
etc

3.0 Context and background

3.1 Adur District Council manages approximately 530 leasehold properties. This is
approximately 20 % of its housing stock.

3.2 The principal legislation governing the Council’s relationship with leaseholders
and which informs this policy includes :

4

76



● Housing Act 1985 (as amended)

❏ Gives secure tenants the Right to Buy
❏ Prescribes the provisions that can be included in a Right to Buy lease ❏
Gives the landlord powers to offer loans for the payment of service charges
❏ Requires tenants who have bought their home under the Right to Buy and

want to sell it within the first 10 years to give the Council first refusal to buy
it back

● Landlord & Tenant Act 1985 (as amended)

❏ Defines meaning of service charge
❏ Gives leaseholders rights in relation to service charges and consultation

about major works
❏ Requires demands for payment of ground rent to be in a prescribed form
❏ Requires a demand for payment of a service charge to be accompanied by

a summary of leaseholder rights and obligations in a prescribed form

● Landlord & Tenant Act 1987

❏ Gives qualifying leaseholders the right of first refusal to buy the
freehold

● Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993

❏ Gives qualifying leaseholders the right collectively to purchase the freehold
of their building (enfranchisement)

❏ Gives qualifying leaseholders the individual right to extend their lease

4.0 Policy Principles

4.1 The Council will carry out its obligations as landlord under the lease and will
comply with all relevant legislation relating to leaseholders and will follow best
practice in leasehold management.

4.1 Leaseholders have a clear obligation under the terms of their lease to pay their

5

77



share of the Council’s costs in carrying out repairs and providing services to
their building. These costs are apportioned between the number of properties
within the block.

4.2 The Council has limited powers to waive service charges from leaseholders and
these are in specific circumstances; additionally the Council has a general
fiduciary duty to recover charges due to it. The Council’s policy aim is therefore
to provide leaseholders with a range of payment options and to signpost them
towards sources of advice and support to assist them in paying their share of the
costs of services, repairs and improvements.

4.3 The Council aims to provide the same standard of service and customer care to
both tenants and leaseholders.

5.0 Primary policy approaches

Service Charges

5.1 Service charges will reflect the actual cost of delivering repairs and services,
including overheads, and the Council will ensure these costs are supported by
appropriate records and documentation.

5.2 Service charge schedules showing the actual costs for the previous financial
year will be produced annually in a timely manner.

5.3 The management charge will regularly be reviewed to ensure it accurately
reflects the Council’s costs of calculating and collecting service charges and the
management of leasehold properties and services to leaseholders.

5.4 The Council will offer a range of payment options to assist leaseholders. For
major works charges the repayment period will be based on the size of the
charge (Please refer to Payment Policy for Leasehold Major Works Charges) .
There will be an interest free period, but interest will apply where the repayment
period exceeds this.

Major Works consultation

5.6 The Council will ensure it carries out statutory consultation where it is required
under the Landlord & Tenant Act 1985 (as amended) in advance of carrying out
major works. It will also carry out consultation where required in respect of any
long-term agreements.

6

78



5.7 The Council will consider applying to the First-Tier Tribunal for a dispensation
from some/all of the consultation requirements where it is appropriate, for
example, for emergency repairs.

Leasehold Management
5.8 The Council will have procedures to deal with routine leasehold management

processes, including subletting, alterations, the Right of First refusal for the
Council to buy-back a property, applications to purchase the freehold (
enfranchisement) or to extend the lease etc.

5.9 The Council will apply its housing management policies to leasehold properties
where appropriate, for example, in relation to antisocial behaviour, or to access
to carry out repairs or inspections.

6.0 Leaseholder engagement and communication

6.1 The Council is committed to involving its leaseholders in developing and
improving the service, and listening to leaseholders’ views and feedback and
will promote engagement opportunities for leaseholders.

6.2 The Council will provide information for leaseholders , including a leaseholders’
handbook or set of factsheets. This and additional information will be available
on the Council’s website.

7.0 Performance measures and standards

7.1 The Council will monitor its performance in relation to the services it provides to
leaseholders to help drive improvements in service charge collection rates and
in customer satisfaction rates.

7.2 The Council will have a rolling programme of reviewing its leasehold policies
and procedures reflecting customer feedback and changes in legislation or best
practice.

7

79



Adur Homes

PAYMENT POLICY FOR
LEASEHOLD

MAJOR WORKS CHARGES

Adopted:

Review Date: March 2024

80



CONTENTS

1 Introduction
2 Leasehold financial assistance
3 Prompt Payment Discount
4 Signposting and advice

2
81



1. Introduction

1.1. This policy affects residential leaseholders of the council. These
include those who have bought their home under the Right to Buy and
those who have purchased a council leasehold property on the open
market.

1.2. The policy covers major works service charges which are payable by
the leaseholder to the council as freeholder under the terms of the
lease.

1.3. Major works can include maintenance and repair, and sometimes
improvement, of the exterior and structure of the building and common
parts. Examples of major works might include repairing, replacing or
decorating the roof, window frames, exterior brickwork or structural
repairs, communal areas, soffits, facias, external guttering, downpipes,
pathways,door entry installation or replacement; lift renewal.

1.4. Major works will not include maintenance and repair of the ‘demised
premises’, which will normally be the interior parts of the flat. The lease
would have a definition of what is included within the demised
premises and what is, therefore, what is the leaseholder's
responsibility. Please see your lease agreement for further details.

1.5. Leaseholders have the legal right to be consulted where any major
works charge would be more than £250 per leaseholder. Section 20 of
the Landlord & Tenant Act 1985 requires a landlord to consult with
leaseholders or a Recognised Tenants’ Association before major works
are carried out.

1.6. The consultation process involves

1.6.1. Writing to leaseholders (Notice of Intention) describing the
proposed works. The notice(s) would invite leaseholders to
comment on the proposed works and estimate(s) within the
following 30 days.

1.6.2. Providing leaseholders with at least two estimates after the
consultation period above (Notice of Estimates) – provide the
leaseholders with a minimum of 30 days to make observations
and specify the address where observations should be sent.

1.6.3.    Serving a Notice of Reason if the contractor chosen is not the
lowest estimate.

3
82



2. Leasehold financial assistance
2.1. We offer a support package to leaseholders in council-owned blocks

for major works costs.

2.2. For non-resident leaseholders, payment is due within 14 days of the
invoice. In certain circumstances, we may consider an extended
repayment term of up to two years with interest charged on the
outstanding debt at an interest rate based on the bank base rate plus
2%.

Extended payment options

2.3 The table below states the extended payment options available to
residential leaseholders. These options are not available to
non-residential leaseholders

Amount Maximum
Interest

repayment period

Admin
Land

fee
Registry fee

> £1,000 1 year 0% - -

£1,000-£2,000 2 years 0% - -

£2,000-£5,000 3 years 0% Yes Yes

£5,000-£10,000 5 years 0% Yes Yes

< £10,000 10 years 0% Yes Yes

2.4. The following are the terms and conditions of the extended payment options

2.4.1. Leaseholders must set-up the arrangement within 28 days of receiving
the invoice

2.4.2. Payment must be by direct debit
2.4.3. The maximum repayment period offered to leaseholders where the

property is not their only or principal home is 2 years
2.4.4. Any balances must be cleared on /before the sale of a property
2.4.5. The administration fee is for the council’s costs of setting up the legal

charge on the property. The land registry charge is the fee for
registering the charge.

4
83



Deferred payment scheme

2.5. The option to defer payment of a major works service charge subject to
a charge secured against the property. The principal and interest to be
payable on the sale of the property.

2.6. The option is available where the major works charge is at least
£2,000.00 and for leaseholders who:

2.7. The following are the terms and conditions of the deferred payment
scheme; leaseholders must

2.7.1. Reside in the property as their only or principal home
2.7.2. Be of pensionable age OR
2.7.3. In receipt of state benefits as their only source of income
2.7.4. Be able to demonstrate that they cannot afford the repayments

under the extended payment scheme
2.7.5. Be able to demonstrate that they cannot access alternative

finance
2.7.6. Provide satisfactory evidence that there is sufficient equity in the

property

2.8. Leaseholders wishing to defer payment will also have to meet the
following cost at the time of setting up the agreement

2.8.1. An administration charge for setting up the loan agreement
2.8.2. A fee for registering the charge.
2.8.3. A further fee when the loan is discharged
2.8.4. Solicitors fees depending on amount of work or negotiation

involved

2.9. Interest will be charged based on the bank base rate plus 2% which
compounded annually will apply to the sum deferred.

2.10.  The principal and interest will be repaid when the property is sold or on
the death of the leaseholder/joint leaseholders (as the case may be).

5
84



3. Prompt Payment Discount
3.1. A prompt payment discount of 5% is available where the major works

invoice is paid in full within 28 days.

4. Signposting and advice
4.1. Leaseholders are encouraged to make their own arrangements to

make payment of major works charges, for example by approaching
their existing lender. This reflects the fact that it is not a primary
function of the landlord to facilitate the financing of a leaseholder’s
obligations to pay the charges due under their lease.

4.2. The council will provide information and support and signpost
leaseholders to independent sources of advice.

5. Review of policy
5.1. The Head of Housing and the Chief Financial Officer have delegated

authority to review the terms and conditions, interest rate (for new
cases) and administration fees every 3 years.

6
85



Adur Homes

Health and Safety

Adopted:

Review Date: March 2024

86



Contents
1. Introduction ................................................................................................................
1.1 Adur Homes and its approach to health  and safety
..........................................................................................................................
1.2 Links to the Corporate Health and Safety Policy.................................................
1.3 Setting out the minimum standards we require in health and safety  management
..................................................................................................................... .
2. Aims ............................................................................................................................
2.1 Our Goals ..................................................................................................................
2.2 Training and information..........................................................................................
2.3 Risk Assessments ....................................................................................................
2.4 Accidents/Incidents ..................................................................................................
2.5 Monitoring and inspection .......................................................................................
2.6Review........................................................................................................................
2.7 Document Control ....................................................................................................
3. Health and Safety Responsibilities .........................................................................
3.1 Health and safety management structure ............................................................
3.2 Management responsibilities ..................................................................................
3.3 Overall health and safety responsibility ................................................................
4. Policy Statement.....................................................................................................

5. Policy compliance...................................................................................................

6. Consultation, communication and training..........................................................

7. Monitoring and performance management.........................................................

8. Equalities Implications............................................................................................

2

87



1. Introduction
1.1 Adur Homes and its approach to health and safety

The purpose of this document is to clearly communicate standards of health and safety
management throughout our housing stock, for our tenants, staff and contractors.

Health and safety is a key focus for Adur Homes. We are committed to addressing all health
and safety challenges to ensure that our service is operated and managed in a responsible
manner to comply with all relevant legislation and where possible to implement best practice
and set sector leading standards.

Adur Homes has produced this document to ensure those affected by our undertaking
understand the health and safety standards which we require across our  business.

1.2 Links to the Corporate Health and Safety Policy

This policy document is designed to support the corporate commitments made on Health
and Safety: -

‘The Councils recognise and accept their responsibilities as employers for providing safe and
healthy workplaces and working environments for all of their employees’.

This policy statement reflects how the work of Adur Homes links to the delivery  of the
corporate policy, specifically ensuring the provision and maintenance of:-

● Plant, equipment and systems of work that are safe and risk assessed;
● Safe arrangements for the use, handling, storage and transport of articles and

substances;
● Sufficient information, instruction, training and supervision to enable all employees to

avoid hazards and contribute positively to their own safety and health at work;
● A safe place of work with safe access to, and egress from such place of work;
● Safe processes for our contractors to work in our stock
● A healthy work environment;
● Adequate welfare facilities.

1.3 Setting out the minimum standards we require in health and safety
management

We recognise that health and safety performance is an integral part of what we do and will
reflect on our overall performance as a service. We acknowledge the costs of accidents
both in human distress and financial costs and embrace our legal and moral obligations to
ensure, wherever possible, that the risks to health and safety are  minimised.

388



The standards contained in this policy should be used by all employees and contractors as
a guide to the safe management of work activities. It does not provide all the technical
information for each specific topic, however it does provide a framework to deliver a
consistent approach.

It will also give guidance on where to find further help and advice if necessary.

This document only covers health and safety issues that relate to the provision of Adur
Homes. The Council’s Corporate Health and Safety Policy and Employees Handbook -
Covering Welfare, Health & Safety and Standards of Personal Behaviour at Work provides
advise on generic health and safety issues which cross departments (Lone Working and
Personal Safety for example).

2. Aims
Our health and safety aims, goals and targets within the Housing Service are:

2.1 Our Goals

● To secure the health, safety and welfare of all those who may be affected by our
undertaking.

● To foster a commitment to health and safety through consultation and  involvement.
● To set health and safety performance targets to enable performance to be  measured
● To improve awareness of health and safety management amongst Housing Service

staff.
● To develop, maintain and implement standards and procedures that are  considered

to be best practice.
● To consult and involve tenants as necessary.

2.2 Training and information

● To ensure staff are provided with information, instruction and training
● To ensure all staff should have an agreed training programme which is reviewed

annually.

2.3 Risk Assessments

● To ensure risk assessments are completed by a competent person.
● To ensure risk assessments are reviewed at least every three years, or when

significant changes are made or following an accident.
● To ensure any uncontrolled risks are mitigated effectively.
● To carry out continual hazard and risk identification to mitigate any potential for

harm.

489



2.4 Accidents/Incidents

● To ensure all accidents and incidents are reported in accordance with statutory
requirements and departmental protocols.

● To ensure that accidents, incidents, dangerous occurrences and near misses
are kept at the lowest possible level.

● To ensure that all identified risks are appropriately controlled.

2.5 Monitoring and inspection

● To implement a routine procedure auditing programme to measure the
effectiveness of management procedures.

● With the Corporate Health and safety Team, an annual review of the health and
safety management system is to be undertaken by a competent person.

2.6 Review

● To undertake performance reviews (for example in 1:1s) and maintain records
of data collected in order to demonstrate continuous improvement in health
and safety  performance.

2.7 Document Control

● All health and safety documentation will be reviewed in line with statutory
and  service requirements and best practice.

● All documents will be subject to periodic review and reassessment in the
light of any internal or external changes in the way we operate.

3. Health and Safety Responsibilities
3.1 Health and safety management structure
The management structure for health and safety is being reviewed and the structure below is indicative
of the key roles and areas of responsibility required. The indicative structure described below follows
similar principles to the corporate structure but defines responsibility within Housing  specifically.

3.2 Management responsibilities

The health, safety and welfare of all those who may be affected by our business activities is
our highest priority and therefore, we commit to ensuring that appropriate resources are set
aside for the delivery of safe systems of work, a safe environment for our tenants, the
prevention of accidents, incidents and ill health, the effective management of our contractors
and to meet our health and safety targets.

590



3.3 Overall health and safety responsibility

The Chief Executive is responsible for health and safety compliance at Adur District Council
ensuring that all legal obligations are met. The Chief Executive ensures the implementation
of Council policy, monitors compliance via the service performance indicators and reports to
the Corporate health and safety board, to ensure that health and safety performance is an
integral function of management.

The Head of Housing

Reports to the Chief Executive, recommends policy, takes responsibility for management
across Adur Homes and housing services and reports on compliance to the Chief Executive.
Responsibilities include;

● Recommends policy to the Chief Executive for submission to the Housing
Committee

● Monitoring compliance and escalating where appropriate.
● Ensuring sufficient resources are available
● Provides adequate management systems and support to ensure standards are

maintained.
● Communicating standards, requirements and providing updates on performance.
● Chairing meetings of the Housing Management Team – Health and Safety to be

an embedded agenda item.
● Ensuring that all staff are made aware of matters which could affect their health

and safety at work.
● Ensure they have adequate knowledge and or access to all legislation relevant to

Housing Services.
● Ensure that employees are released to attend appropriate training sessions and

that training is funded.

Asset Manager

Responsibilities include;

● Setting and monitoring performance standards
● Recommends policy for approval by the Head of Housing
● Ensuring adequate arrangements are in place to meet all health and safety

standards.
● Taking appropriate action to address health and safety issues which may arise.
● Facilitates staff consultation and communication.
● Ensuring Housing Service policies are implemented.
● Promoting greater risk management and Health and Safety awareness amongst all

Housing Services employees by example and ensuring that only properly trained
and competent staff are responsible for assessing risks and determining adequate
control measures within the working environment.

6
91



Managers
Responsibilities include;

● Staff are provided with such information, instruction, supervision and training to
enable them to safely carry out their duties.

● Risk assessments are carried out on work activities that may present a significant
risk to staff, and suitable control measures are devised and implemented.

● Accidents, incidents and ill-health arising out of work are reported, recorded and
investigated where necessary.

● Work areas are regularly inspected and monitored for unsafe conditions.
● Where managers have responsibilities for premises, risks relating to both employees

and non-employees are adequately controlled.
● Ensuring that the health and safety training needs of all their staff are assessed and

fulfilled.
● Ensuring that any contractors, including contract or agency staff, taken on are

competent taking particular care with specialist compliance areas such as gas,
asbestos, electrical and fire safety.

● Ensuring that any contractors supply suitable risk assessments and method
statements before commencing work in and on our stock

● Ensuring that both they and their staff are aware of personal responsibilities.
Providing regular reports on health and safety performance and issues to Asset
Manager.

Employees
Responsibilities include;

● As employees we all have a legal duty to take care of our own health and safety and
that of others, fellow employees, contractors, tenants and visitors or anyone else
who could be affected by their actions or omissions.

● Compliance with all Adur District Council requirements, instructions, policies and
procedures.

● Being familiar with Adur Homes Health and Safety policy and any other relevant Adur
District Council health, safety or compliance policies

● Not intentionally or recklessly interfering with, nor misusing, any equipment provided
for the protection of their, or anybody else’s health and safety.

● Measures to control risks must be followed at all times.
● Effective health and safety will only be achieved through co-operation with the

Housing Service management team.
● Co-operate with all supervisory and management staff to ensure all relevant

statutory regulations, policies and procedures are adhered to.
● Participate in any training designed to improve their knowledge, skills and

understanding about health and safety
● Report to their manager all faults, hazards, errors, accidents/incidents, near misses,

dangerous occurrences or damage, regardless of whether anyone is  injured.
● Be aware of the risk assessment process and its relevance to their roles.

7
92



Compliance Manager

Responsibilities include:

● Advising the Housing Service on all health and safety matters concerning
property  management.

● Producing management updates as required.
● Review as directed management compliance against legal, best practice and our

requirements and reporting on a timely basis.
● Conducting regular risk assessments and audits to identify, analyse and eliminate or

mitigate any potential risks.
● To act as lead risk officer and effectively manage all associated risks, health and

safety and statutory compliance risks relating to Adur District Council Housing
Services.

● Liaise with the Corporate Health and Safety Advisor to ensure all CPD and training
requirements for Housing Services employees are met.

● Liaise with the Corporate Health and Safety Advisor on the identification of any
mandatory training needs for Housing Services employees.

● Provide advice, support and guidance to other team managers within Adur Homes for
the review and approval of RAMs and SSOW documents from contractors.

Competent Advisor – Safety and Resilience Team

The “Competent Advisor” is responsible for:

● Advising the Housing Service on all health and safety matters concerning property
management.

● Producing management updates as required.
● Undertaking risk assessments and inspections as directed by the Asset Manager
● Review as directed management compliance against legal, best practice and our

requirements and reporting on a timely basis.
● Undertaking accident investigations when required to do so.
● Delivering and securing relevant training when required to do so.

Contractors

A contractor is anyone retained to carry out work who is not an employee to perform tasks such as
maintenance, repairs, installation, construction, demolition etc.

The employment of contractors or consultants will not absolve the duty holder of responsibility for
ensuring that hazards have been identified, risks quantified and control measures meet the standard
required. To this end reasonable steps must be taken to ensure the competence of contractors before
entering into contracts or ad-hoc work. Similar steps must be taken to ensure on-going compliance.

Our Requirements

● We will ensure that all contractors are thoroughly vetted to ensure they have adequate health
and safety policies, procedures and practices in place prior to being used on our properties.

8
93



● We will ensure contractors are provided with the necessary information required to undertake the
work safely. Such information may include but is not limited to; risk assessments, fire risk
assessments, asbestos surveys, safe systems of work, statutory inspections, training records,
customer of concern information and monitoring procedures.

● We shall maintain a copy of the contractor’s written health and safety policy statement along with
risk assessments, method statements and Public Liability and Employers Liability Insurance.
This will be subject to an periodic review.

● We will notify tenants affected by any works and ensure they are consulted prior to works being
undertaken and kept informed as to the progress of the relevant works.

Contractor’s responsibilities

● All contractors must ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of their contract and Adur
Homes Health & Safety policy which makes specific reference to compliance with legislation and
Approved Codes of Practice at all times.

● It will be the responsibility of approved contractors to review risk assessments and method
statements, comment on their suitability and make adjustments where required to ensure that the
health and safety of all parties is protected throughout the period of the work. Details of this
review must be provided to Adur Homes. Wherever possible the contractor must ensure that risk
is eliminated.

Permit to Work

● We will ensure that no hazardous works are to be carried out without the completion of a valid
permit to work form.

● The following works are considered to be hazardous:
○ Hot works*
○ Work within a confined space
○ Certain work at height e.g. working on unprotected roof areas.
○ High risk electrical works e.g. live working.
○ Removal of asbestos, for details refer to Asbestos Management Plan

● We will ensure that all permits to work are supported by a written risk assessment and method
statement that must be submitted in advance. Any permit to work must be authorised by an
appropriate and competent person. Suitable records must be maintained.

● We will ensure that contractors do not start any hazardous work without the authority of the
appropriate signed and dated permit to work. All permits to work should be time limited and are
valid only for the period stated on the document itself.

5. It shall be the responsibility of the contractor to ensure that before the contractor’s employees leave
the site:

● The work area is free from obvious hazards.
● There are no residual fire safety hazards.
● All equipment that has been worked on has been re-commissioned and is operating safely (or is

safely decommissioned as is appropriate).
● The contractor will sign in before commencing work and out on the completion of the work each

day on site.

9
94



● When issued a permit to work must be signed off as completed.

*Hot Works is defined as “operations requiring the use of open flames or the local application of heat or
friction”. This includes welding, flame cutting, soldering, brazing, grinding and the use of other
equipment incorporating a flame, e.g. tar boilers, etc.

4. Policy Statement
4.1 Policy statement

Adur District Council’s Housing Service recognises and accepts its responsibility to provide
and maintain the safest and healthiest work conditions which meet best practice and
achieve legal compliance so far as is reasonably practicable.

Adur Homes also recognises that every accident or dangerous occurrence, however slight,
is a matter for concern and that the need for constant alertness by all Corporate Heads,
Heads of Service, managers, supervisors and employees is equally important in identifying
potential hazards and removing or minimising their effect.

All employees of Adur District Council and others who work for or with Adur District Council
are expected to co-operate with Management to help ensure the effective implementation of
this policy and all employees, consultants and contractors are regularly reminded that failure
to comply with this policy either by action or inaction may result in the termination of
contracts and cancellation of agreements, and may, in very serious cases, result in civil or
criminal prosecution.

4.2 Policy Objectives

To this end the objective of the Health and Safety Policy for the Council’s Housing
Service shall be able to:

● To establish and maintain safe working systems throughout the Council, including the
introduction of permit to work systems (i.e. for hazardous situations or workplaces)
where required.

● To scrutinise risk assessments and method statements of contractors working in our
stock to ensure  due regard has been given to health and safety.

● To take all reasonable measures to establish the causes of accidents and
impairments to health occurring across the housing service and to institute all
reasonably practicable  remedial measures to prevent recurrence.

● To provide all reasonable facilities to mitigate the effects of accidents and
impairments to  health and safety when they do occur.

● To ensure that no process, plant, or machinery, is introduced in the Council unless it
has conformed with any relevant statutory testing or examination requirement and it
has been established that, so far as is reasonably practicable, the safety or health of
employees will  not be impaired.

● To disseminate information on safe working relating to specific areas of work and on

10
95



general safety and health matters relating to all employees.
● To provide proper and adequate training facilities in order to ensure that all

employees are  fully instructed in the safe working methods applicable to their jobs
● To encourage and foster the closest possible liaison between management and

employees in all matters affecting safety and health, including the formation of Staff
Safety Committees and appointment of Safety Representatives as appropriate.

● To ensure that all requirements of legislation relating to Housing activities are fully
complied with in regard to safety and health, it being recognised that these in the
main constitute only a minimum standard of achievement. Monitoring of performance
on all health and safety activities undertaken by the Council designed to protect
tenants, such as gas and electrical safety testing and rectification, asbestos
identification and removal, legionella testing and prevention, fire safety risk
assessment, CDM 2015 regulations will be undertaken quarterly.

● To aim for continual improvement of health and safety performance through
employee involvement and by the adoption of newly developed safety and health
measures and  codes of practice.

● To advise and keep employees informed of their duties and responsibilities under
legislation, including:

○ the requirement to adopt and follow safe working systems and practices - the
requirement to make use of facilities and equipment provided for their
protection.

○ the requirement to abstain from any act which could endanger the safety or
health of  themselves or any other person

○ the requirement to refrain from intentionally or recklessly interfering with or
misusing  anything provided in the interests of health, safety or welfare

○ the requirement to report any known defect which could endanger the
safety or health  of themselves or other persons

○ the requirement to cooperate with the Council or any other person as far
as is necessary to ensure that statutory duties or requirements are
performed or complied with.

● Adur District Council will prepare a plan and provide sufficient resources in order to
comply with this policy and will make this available to all employees.

5. Policy compliance
5.1 Compliance with other policies

The standard that this policy aims to achieve can only be met by adherence to all Adur
District Council’s Housing Service health, safety and compliance related policies and to
Adur District Council’s corporate Health and Safety policies included in the Employee
Handbook.

11
96



6. Consultation, communication and
training
Adur District Council will consult fully and meaningfully with recognised trade unions and
non-union staff, on health and safety matters and seek to further develop an effective
partnership with the unions in promoting a healthy and safe workplace for all employees and
ensuring  contractors are doing the same for their employees.

7. Monitoring and performance
management
The Health and Safety Policy will be reviewed annually or where there is a need for early
review due to learning from incidents or changes to legislation.

All related health and safety policies, guidelines and procedures will be audited, monitored
and reviewed on a cycle agreed by the staff Health and Safety Group with an annual update
following the review to the Housing Committee. The timescales will depend upon particular
issues and whether there is a need for early review.

Compliance against health and safety management requirements, within Housing, will be
monitored through a variety of methods including internal audits and a suite of performance
indicators.

The effectiveness of health and safety training will be evaluated and reviewed on an
ongoing basis by the staff Health and Safety Board. Health and safety and compliance
performance indicators will be developed to assist in monitoring performance. These
indicators will reflect national standards and measures  required by enforcing authorities.

8. Equalities Implications

The Equality Act requires that current employees (or job applicants) who fall within the
provisions of the Act are treated no less favorably than those without protected
characteristics. Consequently, Adur District Council will as necessarily make such
adjustments to working practices, systems, and environment as are reasonable and
practicable in order that employee or job applicants with protected characteristics are
not discriminated against.

12
97



Adur Homes

Interim Damp and Mould
Policy and Procedures

Adopted:

Review Date: March 2024

98



CONTENTS

1. Introduction
2. Objectives and Purpose
3. Principles
4. Legislation
5. Damp and Mould Responsive Repairs
6. Adur Homes Responsibilities
7. Tenant’s Responsibilities
8. Leaseholder responsibilities
9. Private Rented Accommodation
10. Performance Monitoring
11. Complaints
12. Equalities

Appendix 1: Adur Homes Procedure for responding to
concerns related to damp and mould.

2
99



1. Introduction and Definitions

1.1 This policy has been written to ensure that wherever possible, residents
are not adversely affected by the causes of damp and mould and drives
forward an agenda of proactive action to tackle/manage the causes of
damp and mould.

1.2 This policy and associated procedure will take into account
recommendations made in the Housing Ombudsman Service Report –
Spotlight on: Damp and Mould – Oct 2021 and the recent guidance from
the Housing regulator in November 2022.

1.3 In terms of definitions, damp can be broadly categorized into 2
predominant types and to be clear this isn't a technical report for surveyors
etc, but a general report to help promote understanding.

Type 1 Penetrating Damp

This is when water/moisture enters the building as a result of building
failures allowing moisture to enter the internal fabric of the building either
directly (ie poor pointing, spalled bricks, roofing issues, drain/gutter issues
or failed windows) or via capillary action ( ie de laminated/porous bricks,
dpc failure, dpm failure or saturated insulation). This would fall under the
landlord's responsibility to rectify as it is the fabric of the building.

Type 2  Condensation Damp

This is when internally generated moisture (breathing, drying clothes,
washing, cooking etc), is not properly ventilated and condensates (forms)
on surfaces (generally colder). This is generally and something a tenant
can control, however there are some specific issues which the tenants are
unable to control such as cold bridging (when external parts of the
structure directly contact the inner leaf), insufficient heating and
hygroscopic salts ( when moisture reacts with the plaster and walls - these
salts then draw moisture from the air).

Type 3 Plumbing Leakes

Leaks are a common cause of damp. For example leaks may occur in
bathrooms, kitchens, pantries or any other areas where there are taps or
pipes. Large leaks caused by burst pipes or broken toilets will be noticed
easily, but even small leaks can lead to damp. Over time, leaky bathtubs
or sinks can result in damp patches forming on the floor, or broken seals
on showers can lead to a build up of moisture that can seep into the walls.

3
100



Mould

The most common form of mould found is Black mould (Cladosporioum)
which is a fungus and is almost exclusively caused by condensation. It is
important to note it is a fungus and therefore produces spores, which
when concentrated can affect young children or people with asthma.
These spores can also affect those with underlying health conditions
linked to the respiratory system and immune suppressed conditions.
There are also broader well being effects, including mental health, from
living in a home with damp and mould.

2. Objectives and Purpose

2.1 The overall aim of this policy is to contribute to the efficient and effective
management of damp and mould of Adur Homes council housing stock.

2.2 To provide an efficient, prompt, and cost-effective repairs and maintenance
service, to ensure that the fabric of our properties are protected from
deterioration and damage caused from damp and mould.

2.3 To adopt a data led, proactive approach to identify high prevalence, high
risk areas for damp and mould within Adur Homes Housing Stock

2.4 To promote understanding of the Council’s legal responsibilities and mutual
obligations in relation to delivering housing management, repairs and
major works services.

2.5 To ensure the Adur Homes achieves high standards of workmanship and
customer satisfaction.

2.6 To provide a service which reflects the Council’s commitment to equality of
access to the repairs and maintenance service for all customers.

3. Principles

3.1 The principles of this policy are:

● To provide dry, warm, and healthy homes for tenants.
● That all tenants, leaseholders, and stakeholders are involved and

consulted in the development of the service and its operational
procedures.

● That through supervision, monitoring and feedback from tenants,
leaseholders and stakeholders, the service is continuously
improved.

● That communication with tenants, leaseholders and stakeholders is
clear, appropriate, easily understood and in certain circumstances

4
101



fulfils our legislative requirements.
● That the repairs service is supported by relevant training for

operational staff; and that the Policy should be supported by
detailed procedures and agreed practices applied uniformly across
the Regeneration, Economy & Asset Management Service unit.

3.2 Adur Homes will utilise both the in-house repairs and maintenance team
and external contractors to fulfill its needs and obligations in delivering
this service.

3.3 Adur Homes will ensure that Value for Money and procurement tender
regulations are adhered to. 5 of 8

4. Legislation

4.1 The following is a list of the current legislation that is applicable to this
policy:

● Landlord & Tenant Act 1985
● Homes fit for habitation Act 2019
● Commonhold & Leasehold Reform Act 2002
● Right to Repair Regulations 1994
● Building Regulations
● The Housing Acts 1985 & 1996
● Housing Act 2004 – Housing Health and Safety Rating System

BS7671 - Requirements for electrical installations 2008 (17th
Edition)

● Health & Safety at Work Act 1974
● Environmental Protection Act 1990
● Equality Act 2010

5. Damp and Mould Responsive Repairs

5.1 Damp and Mould responsive repairs are defined in this Policy as requests
which are received by the customer or employee, where the defect has been
identified.

5.2 On report of a defect we will:

● Complete a property inspection, this may include taking damp and
humidity measurements.

● We will evaluate the results of the inspection and identify any

5
102



factors that may lead to damp and mould growth to establish the
cause of the problem.

● If the outcome of the inspection shows that condensation is causing
the problem, we will liaise with the tenant and evaluate what
mitigations we can put in place to support tenants. This will include
support to tenants with regards to heating and ventilating their
home, if fuel poverty is identified as a factor then we will offer
support through Proactive and our Cost of Living support packages.

● If damp is found to be present, we will seek to carry out repair
works to areas that are the responsibility of Adur Homes. Where
this requires complex work, we will keep tenants informed of
actions being taken to bring about an effective solution.

● Where extensive works are required, Adur Homes may be required
to move the tenants out of their home for a period whilst these
works are completed.

● Provide tenants with a damp and mould information leaflet to
support them in avoiding damp and mould in their properties.

6.  Adur Homes Responsibilities

6.1 Adur Homes shall investigate to determine the cause of damp and
condensation and carry out remedial repairs and actions in accordance
with the tenancy or lease agreement.

6.2 Where it is identified it is Adur Homes responsibility Adur Homes will
diagnose the cause of damp correctly and deliver effective solutions
based on the  ethos of dealing with the cause of the damp not just the
symptom and wherever possible “fixing first time”.

6.3 Promote and provide general advice and guidance on how to manage
damp and Condensation.

6.4 Adur Homes will ensure that all of our staff have training and are aware of
and understand the delivery of the service that will meet the aims of this
policy.

6.5 Adur Homes will ensure that only competent contractors will be employed
to carry out any works and that the tenant’s possessions are adequately
protected during the Works.

6
103



6.6 Adur Homes will, using the communication channels preferred, inform the
tenant of the findings of the investigations following a House visit. This will
include identifying the possible causes of damp, recommending  effective
solutions and all necessary remedial works / actions / enhancements and
the estimated timescales to complete the works /measures. This will be
communicated to the tenant keeping them up to date with their enquiry
through the process from inception to completion.

6.7 Adur Homes is responsible for insulating the tenants home in accordance
with Decent Homes Standard to help reduce the likelihood of
condensation occurring.

6.8 Adur Homes is responsible for maintaining a tenant’s home to avoid leaks
and penetrating and rising damp and for carrying out remedial action if
these do occur.

6.9 Adur Homes will undertake reasonable improvement works required to
assist in the management and control of condensation damp, for example
installation of mechanical extract fans, fresh air vents, repairing existing
insulation, etc.

6.10 Remedial works will only be carried out where it is reasonable and
practical to do so. Adur Homes will have regard to the constraints of the
existing building design and structure and will take a pragmatic approach
in finding appropriate solutions.

6.11 Adur Homes will make good internal surfaces following any remedial work
carried out ensuring that surfaces are prepared to a condition ready for the
tenant to redecorate.

6.12 Mould wash will only be carried out where this is found to be persistent or
extensive and cannot be controlled by the tenant.

6.13 In some cases remedial work may not be necessary requiring additional
support and advice to be given to the tenant on managing and controlling
the occurrences of condensation damp.

6.14 Adur Homes will make reasonable attempts to access the property to
inspect and Carry out the works.

7
104



6.15 Adur Homes will not be able to control condensation damp where it is
unreasonable or impractical to do so or if any remedial action would be
ineffective for example poor construction / design.

6.16 Adur Homes will respond to a report of damp and condensation and
complete any reasonably practicable remedial works within a reasonable
timescale in accordance with the processes and procedures. This will be
dependent on the severity and urgency of the problem and on the
complexity of the solution of the remedial works/actions required.

6.17 Under certain exceptional circumstances where the tenant is unable to
carry out mould washes or redecorations, for example because of
hardship, disability, age, Adur Homes will seek to support and assistance.

6.18 Where Internal conditions within a home for example, overcrowding and
excessive hoarding of personal belongs are having an effect on health and
wellbeing of the occupants or are preventing inspections or remedial
works being carried out, the Adur Homes will provide support and
assistance to review the tenant’s options that may include moving to more
appropriate alternative suitable accommodation. Effective remedial action
will not be possible in these instances until the situation(s) has been
Resolved.

6.19 If it is unsafe for the occupants to remain in the property while the works
are carried out, alternative accommodation arrangements will be made.
This may be on a day by day basis or a temporary decant to an alternative
property. The tenant will be supported through this process to find suitable
accommodation.

7. Tenant’s Responsibilities

7.1 The tenant is asked to regularly check for damp and immediately report to
Adur Homes evidence of rising and penetrating damp and also faulty
equipment that will hamper the management and control of damp and
condensation (faulty extractor fan, unable to open windows, lack of
heating etc.). This can be reported via Adur Homes online report form.

8
105

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/adur-homes/request-a-repair/


7.2 The tenant shall regularly check for mould and clean signs of mould as
soon as they are discovered. Manage condensation damp following
council’s guidance found on the website:

General Information
www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/housing/conditions-and-empty-properties/damp
-and-mould/

Leaflet
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,97569,smxx.pdf

7.3 Clean mould from clothes, fabrics, carpets and furnishings etc.

7.4 If all reasonable efforts have been made to manage and control
condensation and mould, and this has not been successful contact Adur
Homes.

7.5 If following an inspection by Adur Homes the outcome shows that all
reasonable measures are in place for the tenant to adequately manage
the condensation damp further advice and support will be given to the
tenant.

7.6 If the tenant fails to take the advice and reasonable steps to reduce damp
the tenant may be recharged for any resulting repairs required which are
considered to be result of this neglect.

7.7 Adur Homes recommends that the tenant arranges adequate household
contents insurance which should include cover against flood damage.

7.8 Where remedial works and mould wash treatments have been undertaken
by the Adur Homes, the tenant is responsible for redecoration.

7.9 Allow access for inspections and for the carrying out of remedial works (in
accordance with the tenancy agreement

8. Leaseholder responsibilities

8.1 Leaseholders shall manage and maintain their properties including damp
and condensation in accordance with their lease agreement. Adur Homes

9
106

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/housing/conditions-and-empty-properties/damp-and-mould/
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/housing/conditions-and-empty-properties/damp-and-mould/
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,97569,smxx.pdf


will not carry out damp and condensation remedial works to leasehold
properties unless it is determined that the cause is due to a building
defect/repair.

8.2 Any neglect by the leaseholder to manage or carry out repairs for which
they are responsible for that as a consequence has a direct impact on the
condition of a council owned property will be dealt with in accordance with
the lease.

9. Private Rented Accommodation

9.1 Where the council assists with placing an applicant into the private rented
sector the council will provide support and assistance that may involve

carrying out a site inspection, identifying the cause of the damp and
condensation and notifying the landlord of the findings. If the landlord does
not respond in a satisfactory manner further support will be provided and
legal advice will be sought.

10. Performance Monitoring

10.1 The Head of Housing will monitor this policy and its effectiveness,
reporting progress to the Director of Communities, the relevant Cabinet
Member and through performance reporting to tenant engagement
arrangements, Joint Strategic Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny
Community.

10.2 This policy will be reviewed on a biennial basis or in line with legislative or
Regulatory changes.

11. Complaints

11.1 If a tenant or leaseholder is not satisfied with our service a formal
Complaint may be raised.

11.2 Complaints can be made via the Councils website:
www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/complaints/

11.3 Matters should be resolved as soon as possible and within 10 days of the
acknowledgement; for complex cases this may be extended for a further
10 working days. If matters cannot be resolved within the maximum

10
107



timescale of 20 working days, we will contact the complainant to let them
know of the delay and advise when we will be able to respond.

12. Equalities

12.1 All Council policies aim to address the general duty of the Public Sector
Equality Duty (A requirement on Public Bodies within the Equality Act
2010) to:

● Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimization and
other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010.

● Advance equality of opportunity between people from different
groups; and foster good relations between people from different
groups.

● We will comply with all statutory and regulatory requirements and
with best practice relating to the provision of this service, treating
tenants in a fair and non-discriminatory way, in accordance with the
Equalities Act 2010.

11
108



12
109



Appendix 1  -

Adur Homes Procedure for responding to concerns related
to damp and Mould

Introduction

This procedure outlines how Adur Homes will deal  with reports of damp and mould.

It is essential that Adur Homes addresses issues associated with damp and mould in tenanted
properties.  Responses will be based on priority rating identified through our triaging process.

A Property Inspection should be raised to initiate this procedure. Notes can then be  made under the
inspection both by Technical Services and Housing Services.

Responsibilities are identified within the procedure. Each step of the process identifies  the role
responsible for the task.

This process will be reviewed every 3 years.

Discretion

This procedure relies on Surveyors and Adur Homes staff looking for inventive
solutions to the damp and mould presenting in the tenanted property.

Discretion is identified within this procedure for this reason.

In terms of educating the tenant to tackle damp and mould themselves successfully –
house plants and moisture traps/crystals should be considered.

There is an assumption built into this procedure that notes will be maintained to record
actions that have been taken in accordance with this procedure.

Those notes should be recorded in Adur Homes systems as appropriate.

13
110



Standard letters

Mould Acknowledgement Letter

Dear TENANT

Report of mould in ROOM at ADDRESS

Thank you for contacting Adur District Council regarding mould developing in your
ROOM.

Unfortunately, mould is a very common problem in many properties. As a result, Adur
District Council has put together a guide for its tenants to help them tackle  any mould
growth building up within their property.

I have included the guide with this letter. I am hopeful that if you follow the guide you will
no longer experience mould and/or will be able to keep the growth to a minimum.

I intend to visit you on DATE to ensure that you do not need further support from
Adur District Council to help manage mould growth within your property.

The reason for the delay is to give you the opportunity to act on the content of the guide
before my visit.

Yours sincerely

Property Surveyor

Mould Letter 1

Dear TENANT

Visit to address mould in ROOM at ADDRESS

Thank you for arranging for me to visit your property on DATE following your call to
Adur District Council on DATE. From my visit today I can see that mould has  started
to accumulate in AREA.

We agreed at the visit that Adur District Council would do the following to assist  you to
tackle the mould within your property.

• Send you a ‘mould pack’ which contains a wash for the area in question •
Install a positive air pressure system
• Refer you to our Housing Services Team to support you to reduce the  moisture

generated in your home.
• Other

We also agreed that to keep the mould away you would need to: -

• Clean and wipe the area daily

14

111



• Ventilate the area to ensure the room has the opportunity for water molecules to
disperse

• Limit the amount of furniture and other items are kept in the room to ensure that
air is able to circulate

• Ensure that clothing is not dried in the room or if it is the window is left open to
minimise water build up on the walls

I have also provided you with a leaflet which explains more about how mould can
develop and how to keep it away.

I will arrange to visit you again on DATE (in 2 months) to see if you need further support
with the above actions.

I am confident that with us both working together we can keep mould within your
property to a minimum.

Please contact our Customer Services Team on BLANK should you need further support
with this issue between me visiting and my next visit on DATE.

Yours sincerely

Property Surveyor

Mould Letter 2

Dear TENANT

Visit to address mould in ROOM at ADDRESS

Thank you for seeing me on DATE following your call to Adur District Council on DATE.

My colleague from our Technical Services Team visited you on BLANK and asked me to
make contact with you to discuss how Adur District CouncilServices Team can support
you to reduce the mould at your property.

Adur District Council do not consider there to be any issues with the property  that is
allowing the mould to accumulate.

We agreed at the visit that Adur District Council would do the following to assist  you to
tackle the mould within your property.

• Ask Adur Homes to support you to reduce the items contained within the
ROOM to improve air flow.

• Discussed the importance of ventilation and how to do that in a way that
minimises the impact on heating bills.

• Send you a warning notice regarding the condition of your property, which may
escalate into more serious action if the condition does not improve.
• Refer the case back to ask for an independent  investigation into the cause of the
mould in your ROOM.
• Other

We also agreed that to keep the mould away you would need to: -

15

112



• Clean and wipe the area daily
• Ventilate the area to ensure the room has the opportunity for water molecules to

disperse
• Limit the amount of furniture and other items are kept in the room to ensure that

air is able to circulate
• Ensure that clothing is not dried in the room or if it is the window is left open to

minimise water build up on the walls

I have also provided you with a leaflet which explains more about how mould can
develop and how to keep it away.

I will arrange to visit you again on DATE to see if you need further support with the
above actions.

I am confident that If you take daily action to minimise mould build up; you will not have
a problem with this issue going forward. Unfortunately, if you fail to take any action,
mould will continue to build up potentially causing damage to the property.
Please contact our Customer Services Team on BLANK should you need further support
with this issue between me visiting and my next visit on DATE.

Yours sincerely

Damp and Mould Leaflet

Link to relevant part of the website

16

113

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,97569,smxx.pdf


Draft Checklist

Property Inspection

Tenant’s name:

Property Address:

Carried out on DATE

Tick

Issues considered: Trickle vents

Fans

Window locks and opening

Cavity wall insultation

Heating system and use

Ventilation

Structural issues

Other

Moisture reading/location:

Advice given:

Actions and date for delivery (ADC):

Actions and date for delivery (tenant)

Northgate Updated?

Housing Services Inspection

Tick

17

114



Issues considered: Amount of items in property

Where best to dry clothes

Wiping moisture and mould

Tumble drier

Other

Advice given:

Actions and date for delivery (ADC)

Actions and date for delivery (Tenant)

Property Inspection Log Updated?

18

115



Damp and Mould Procedure

19

116



ADUR HOMES

Asbestos Management Plan

Adopted:

Review Date: March 2024

117



CONTENTS

Management Plan Overview

1. Survey Types
2. Survey Outcomes
3. Working On Acm’s
4. Upkeep And Sharing Of Information
5. Customer Communication
6. Training And Contract Procurement
7. Audit And Control Measures
8. List Of Appendices

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

2118



SURVEY REQUIREMENTS

ASBESTOS MANAGEMENT PLAN

Adur District Council (ADC)

Version History

version Approved
By

Version
Date

Next Review
Date

Description
of Change

Author

1 R Hunns 01/10/2021 October 2022 R Hunns/ P
Smith

2 J Seaton 09/02/2023 February 2023 Updated
appendices

J Seaton/ P
Smith

MANAGEMENT PLAN OVERVIEW

The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 requires all duty holders as a part of their
ongoing asbestos management to have a written Asbestos Management Plan (this
document).

The Asbestos Management plan details Adur District Councils (Homes), approach to living
and working with Asbestos containing materials (ACM’s) and the actions required by
employees, contractors and customers. The processes detailed within this Asbestos
management plan will include:

1. Survey Requirements
1.1. Survey Types
1.2. Survey Strategy

2. Survey Outcomes
2.1. Managing Asbestos in Situ
2.2. Removals and encapsulation

3. Working on ACM’s.
3.1. Delivery Methods
3.2. Non Licensed Removal
3.3. Licensed and Non licensed notifiable removal

4. Upkeep and sharing of information
5. Customer Communication
6. Training and procurement requirements
7. Audit and Control Measures

The Adur Homes estate comprises properties owned/managed by Adur Homes, and AWC
Temporary Housing Stock.

There is approximately around:

● 261 Common areas within buildings built prior to the year 2000 which fall under
CAR2012 Duty 4 ‘Duty to manage’

● 2452 prior to the year 2000
● 1500 domestic dwellings which will be surveyed in accordance with HSG264
● 1000 Garage Sites which fall under CAR2012 Regulation4 ‘Duty to Manage’

The general management principles will be applied

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

3 119



● In accordance with ADC’s duty under regulation 4 of CAR 2012 to manage asbestos
in Non domestic premises, AWC will instruct a competent UKAS accredited
Asbestos Management Consultant to undertake management surveys on
domestic properties built prior to the year 2000.

● ADC has a duty under regulation 4 of the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 to
manage asbestos in non-domestic premises. Adur and Worthing Council will
therefore instruct a competent UKAS accredited Asbestos Management
Consultant to re-inspect all known ACM’s within non-domestic properties
periodically.

● In accordance with best practice and HSG 264 (The Surveyors Guide) ADC will
survey its domestic dwellings built prior to the year 2000, which will be carried out
in line with the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012. This will be carried out by a
competent UKAS accredited Asbestos Management Consultant. ADC recognises
that it does not hold survey data for all of its domestic properties and seeks to
achieve this by the survey strategy detailed within section 1.2.2

● ADC has decided to adopt a proactive approach in relation to management of
asbestos within domestic properties. All properties that were built prior to 2000
potentially contain asbestos products, and are to be included within the Asbestos
Management re-inspection programme. This will be carried out by a competent
UKAS accredited Asbestos Management Consultant.

● ADC will carry out targeted Refurbishment and Demolition surveys on planned
maintenance on both domestic and non domestic properties built prior to 2000,
irrespective of the outcome of the management survey

● Any ACM identified as damaged will be actioned within an appropriate timescale
based on risk.

● Generally only those materials likely to pose a serious risk to health or are likely to
be disturbed as identified as high risk ACMs, will be removed subject to the reports
supplied

This document is intended to be read in conjunction with the supporting procedural
documents. Where services cross over between the building services team and the
corporate estates the relevant management plans should be read.

● Building Services Management Plan
● Corporate Estate Management Plan

1. SURVEY REQUIREMENTS
Adur District Council (Homes) will ensure that the following principles will be applied:

1. Surveys are to be undertaken in line with the guidance set out within HSG 264 –
Asbestos the Survey Guide.

2. Surveys are to be undertaken by a contractor/operative who has the correct level of
competency to carry out the role. They must have the appropriate skills,
knowledge, qualifications, training and experience. Only approved UKAS 17020
accredited contractors will be used.

3. Samples taken should be processed in line with ISO17025

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

4120



1.1 Survey Types
1.1.1 Management survey

A Management survey is the standard survey. Its purpose is to locate, as far as is
reasonably practicable, the presence and extent of any suspect ACM’s in the building
which could be damaged or disturbed during normal occupation, including forceable
maintenance and installation, and to assess their condition.

This is a systematic survey of the premises in which all areas which can be are assessed
without causing damage. This will include internal and external areas. All suspected
materials are sampled for laboratory analysis or can be presumed to contain asbestos
where the surveyor deems the evidence sufficient to do so.

This survey type is non intrusive and may well have areas and rooms which cannot be
accessed or are not safe to sample (such as electrical back boards) and therefore these will
be identified as ‘no access’ and presumed asbestos until such time as it is disproved by a
physical survey.

Management surveys can be undertaken during normal occupation and use of
buildings/premises.

Where asbestos has been identified this will be recorded and the action required for the
asbestos will be determined by

● The condition
● The location
● The type
● The likelihood of damage
● The severity of the risk if damaged.

These actions will then be fed into an overall programme of management and/or a
programme of works.

1.1.2 Refurbishment Surveys

Unoccupied properties

This is a systematic survey of the premises in which all areas are accessed. The survey may
be targeted, in which case a particular area is identified such as the kitchen.

This type of survey is a fully intrusive survey involving destructive inspections to open up
concealed areas (e.g boxing around services)

Within this fully intrusive survey all relevant areas will be accessed and there should be no
‘no access’ areas remaining within the agreed survey parameters.

Where refurbishment works are to be carried out to a specific area of the property (e.g
kitchen), this type of survey will only be required to these specific areas.

Occupied Properties

Where minor refurbishment works are being undertaken, for example a new kitchen,
without the removal of walls/ceilings etc. The survey would only apply to the room in
which the work is affecting.

The survey will still take the same principles as an unoccupied premises but additional
measures will be put in place to isolate the survey area, remove furnishings as far as

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

5 121



reasonably practicable, and protect areas using sheeting. The survey area must be free
from tenants/non authorised people at the time of the survey.

The surveyed area must be shown to be fit for reoccupation before the area is allowed to
be occupied again. This is through the form of visual inspections and issuing of a
Certificate of Cleanliness. If significant destruction has taken place, an additional air
reassurance test certificate will be required. However, it is likely that the tenant will be
decanted if any works requiring significant destruction are to be implemented.

1.1.3 Demolition surveys

These take a similar form to the unoccupied property refurbishment survey, however the
scope of the survey will be wider spread.

1.2 Survey Strategy

ADC will adopt the general principles of surveying:

● Properties built prior to the year 2000 will be surveyed.

● Cloned data may be used where there is high confidence which has been
demonstrated through extensive surveying across similar property archetypes
where asbestos is located.

● Where access is not available or practicable at the time of the survey, ‘no access’
will  be determined on the asbestos report

○ Adur Homes will provide access to all previously non-accessed areas and
limited access areas at the next asbestos reinspection visit / review to
ensure that a thorough inspection can be completed.

● Where access is not available or practicable at the time of survey, and there is
sufficient information to suggest there is ACM located within this area, it will be
noted as ‘presumed’.

1.2.2 Domestic Dwellings

● ADC recognises the need to obtain Management surveys for its domestic
dwellings. In order to deliver a comprehensive suite of information Adur Homes
will:

○ Survey a representative sample by archetypes. The representative sample
will depend on the variability of housing stock. A proportion should be
surveyed until the results demonstrate as far as reasonably practicable that
there is consistency in the range of ACM’s in the property type.

○ Reviewing previous survey Data and prioritising other properties within a
site where high risk asbestos has been identified.

○ Identifying where future works are planned and factoring these into the
management survey programme.

● Where a localised R&D survey has been specified but the property has no
management survey, a management survey will be instructed for the remaining
part of the premises outside of the scope of works.

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

6122



● A check for asbestos records will be made as soon as a property is void. If no
management survey is available, or the management survey on file is over 5 years
old, a new management survey is to be obtained immediately as part of the void
process. The survey will be recorded on Alpha Tracker and a new asbestos
management plan will be produced and made available.

The contractor will be supplied with, and refer to the asbestos register within the
management plan once supplied. The contractor will then, prior to any works
commencing, review any asbestos identified in the management plan, and ensure
that any ACM identified is inspected to ensure it has not been disturbed, or in a
state of decay and hazardous. Any ACM which is suspect shall be reported
immediately to the voids manager and or AH property improvement team
(asbestos coordinator) for follow up action. Any asbestos remedial work may
thereafter be co-ordinated and/or ordered by the voids surveyor in consultation
with the asbestos coordinator.

● When carrying out capital works such as kitchens, an appropriate sample of R&D
surveys across each archetype will be undertaken. The survey quantity will be
determined by the asbestos variation, a proportion (suggest initially 70%) should
be surveyed until the results demonstrate as far as is reasonably practicable that
there is constituency in the range of ACM’s in the property type and an accurate
picture of asbestos presence. Where major discrepancies are identified within the
same archetype, further surveys will be carried out.

● Disabled Facilities Grants/Adaptations will also adhere to AH policy and
management plan.

1.2.3 No Asbestos survey data

ADC recognises that it is yet to obtain a full record of its ACM’s across its full portfolio of
domestic dwellings. This impacts on the requirements to undertake responsive repairs
within domestic dwellings.

Contractors must ensure that the asbestos portal is checked prior to undertaking any
work. Where no asbestos information or survey report exists, any planned/cyclical works or
licensed and notifiable non-licensed work will be postponed until an appropriate survey
has been commissioned, completed and reviewed.

Where minor responsive repairs (non licensed asbestos works) are required the contractor
can review ADC’s asbestos register to review properties with similar archetypes, age,
location and construction to summarise the location and type of any ACM’s that may be
present. For example other flats within the same block, or other houses within the same
street, with the same age of build and archetype (3 bed semi). On the basis of this
information Asbestos should be presumed present in accordance with the archetypal
data reviewed.

The contractors (Building Services Team) will proceed with the works if the works are
Non-Licensed Asbestos Works and fit into the agreed Safe Systems of Work defined within
the Building Services Team Asbestos Procedures documents as follows:-

● Drilling into Textured Coatings / Asbestos Cement
● Ceiling and Wall Repairs - Textured Coating / Asbestos Cement
● Over boarding Textured Coatings / Asbestos Cement Ceilings or Walls
● Removal and repair of small areas of asbestos containing floor tiles and coverings
● Removal of carpets fixed to asbestos containing floor tiles and coverings
● Removing / Replacing Flash Guards and Fuse Linings

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

7 123



● Working on Electrical Boards containing Asbestos Cement
● Removing / Replacing Cisterns
● Removing / Replacing Sink Pads
● Replacing or Repairing Asbestos Cement Guttering, Soil Stacks, etc..
● Cleaning out Asbestos Cement Gutters
● Painting undamaged Asbestos Cement Soffits and Fascia’s
● Fly Tipping / Loose Sheet Removal

These works must be undertaken in line with Asbestos Procedures and Plan of Works and
following their own dynamic risk assessment process. All presumed ACM must be
managed in accordance with the contractor's safe system of work until such time as
proven otherwise through a completed survey data.

Any Asbestos Insulating Board (AIB) or Friable ACM falling outside of the above list when
presumed or known asbestos is present or suspected, must be undertaken by a Licensed
Asbestos Removal Contractor or Approved Non-Licensed Contractor.

1.2.4 Emergency Surveys

ADC recognises where works are deemed as urgent it may not be feasible to carry out the
survey process in time. ADC have tried to mitigate this risk by ensuring that within their
Asbestos consultancy contract there is an ability to commission emergency surveys. These
surveys periods are:

● within 2 hours
● within 24 hours
● a 5 day period

Appendix C, Emergency Survey Details describes the contractor, attendance types &
times.

1.2.5 Emergency Action

Where structural or building fabric damage occurs, i.e. from fire, collapses of ceiling from
water ingress or when a general finding is made where the internals of the building have
been disturbed (broken up), and with the potential of an ACM fibre release, a new
Management Survey + R&D report of the affected area(s) should be instructed as a priority
using the emergency surveys procedure in this section.

● On discovery and before access by council staff or other 3rd party contractors is
permitted, the area / property will be locked down until it is confirmed that the
premises are ACM clear, and recovery actions taken using the emergency
procedures as guidance.

Once the emergency survey is delivered, this survey shall be reviewed by the asbestos
coordinator and asbestos consultant. If positive ACM’s have been detected, emergency
actions shall be taken to clear & negate the ACM contamination potential by Licenced
Asbestos Removal Contractors (LARC).

2. SURVEY OUTCOMES
ADC’s current strategy is based on a preferred approach to manage low/medium risk ACM
in situ whilst removing ACM which poses a high risk (higher risk materials are those that
are friable, and can easily release asbestos fibres if disturbed).

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

8124



The surveyor will determine the recommended action as part of their survey process. In
general the surveyor will determine the course of action by reviewing the Priority and
Material assessment score.

Material Assessment

This is an assessment of the type and condition of ACM’s or presumed ACM’s, and their
ability to release fibres if disturbed. The scoring mechanism for this looks at aspects of the
ACM such as, Its Type (Chrysotile, Amosite, Crocidolite), Its condition (damaged contained
etc), its ease to release fibres, Its surface treatment.

Priority Assessment

This is an assessment on the likelihood of the ACM actually being disturbed and exposing
asbestos fibres. For there to be a risk to health it is not enough for it to be damaged or
friable, but also needs to be disturbed and get into the air we breathe. The priority
assessment therefore considers the normal occupation/activity within the area, the
likelihood of disturbance and so on.

*Any presumed ACM’s will be managed accordingly until proven otherwise

Where asbestos is left in situ, the Asbestos Consultant (surveyor) will label the location of
ACMs in the non-customer facing/service areas only to help provide a warning to
contractors undertaking any works in the area.

Reviewing the Survey

Upon receipt of the survey ADC will review the Material, Priority and overall risk rating
provided by the surveying contractor, as well as the recommended actions. Priority
actions will be dealt with in accordance with the survey timescales. Any recommended
works at a low/medium risk will be programmed.

Where it is felt that the surveyor misinterpreted the occupation/activity within the area,
the asbestos coordinator will refer this back to the contract surveyor to reassess the
priority assessment score and determine a more suitable course of action.

Refurbishment Surveys

Upon receipt of the survey the project manager for that premises/project will review the
survey and determine the best course of action for any ACM’s identified. The Asbestos
coordinator should also be made aware of any high/medium risk materials identified.

If ACM’s are to be removed then the asbestos coordinator must be informed prior to the
removal to ensure records are kept of the removal and the asbestos register updated
accordingly.

High Priority Asbestos Removals (as indicated in survey reports)

High priority removals will be progressed by the appropriate department who raised the
survey. These removals will be confirmed to the asbestos coordinator immediately for
assistance in the planning of, and recording of the removal.

Responsibility for any remedial works on ACM’s identified will be the responsibility of the
following:

● Communal Areas = Property Improvement Team
● Garages = Property Improvement Team
● Voids = Voids Team
● General Maintenance & Responsive Repair = Maintenance Surveyors / Building

Services
● Capital programs = Contract Administrator for the Program
● Disabled Adaptations = Maintenance Team

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

9 125



2.2 Re-inspection Surveys

Any ACM identified or suspected will be required to be reinspected at a regular interval to
ensure the condition has not changed, deteriorated or been damaged in any way.

2.2.1 Non Domestic Property

Non Domestic properties will be reinspected on an annual basis in accordance with ACOP
L143 ‘Managing and working with Asbestos’ and HSG 264 ‘The survey guide’. This will
include:

● All Internal communal areas
● All external areas of flats
● Garage Sites

2.2.2 Domestic Dwellings

At present Adur Homes does not hold full survey data for all of its domestic Dwellings.
Where Adur Homes does hold management surveys they will commit to the following
action:

● Re-inspect dwellings where original surveys identified remedial works with
immediate effect to ensure this work was completed. This action is to be
completed by August 2023.

● Identify a rolling 5 year programme of reinspections, prioritising properties that
have not been subjected to the void process within the last 5 years.

● As new management surveys are completed these will fall into the 5 year
re-inspection regime.

● Where properties have a management survey, these will be re-inspected as part of
the void process. This will effectively reset the reinspection life cycle.

These actions have been determined based on a risk/financial basis and will need to be
reviewed as part of the annual review of the management plan.

3. WORKING ON ACM’s

There is the potential for Asbestos to be damaged through various activities

● Routine maintenance
● Void inspections
● Monitoring surveys
● Contact from resident

The works required to ACM will fall into 4 categories

● Licensed asbestos removal
● Non-Licensed Asbestos removal
● Notifiable non licensed
● Remedial works to damaged Asbestos (encapsulation)

The following guidance is to be referred to for any asbestos works.

● HSG 210 – Asbestos essentials task manual for Non-Licensed Works
● HSG 247 – The Licensed Contractors Guide
● The Hazardous Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2005

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

10126



● ACOP L143 Managing and working with Asbestos

3.1 Delivery Methods
ADC wishes to separate out its asbestos consultancy works and the asbestos
remedial/removals/encapsulation works.

ADC's intention is to have a long term contract agreement with a licensed contractor to
undertake any removal, encapsulation and repair works to asbestos. This contractor will
have gone through a vigorous procurement exercise where insurance certificates,
licences, H&S policies, risk assessment and training records will have been reviewed to
ensure the contractor is competent.

A separate contract for asbestos consultancy services will also include an air monitoring
function, which allows for a independent air clearance certificate to be issued when
required on carrying out work to ACM’s

ADC’s Building Services team will only carry out works to Non-Licensed, Non-Notifiable
Asbestos, all other work will be carried out by the approved procured contractor.

All licensed and notifiable non-licensed works identified either through Building services
or ADC (homes) will be issued to the approved appointed contractor.

3.2 Non Licensed Works
Once the Asbestos project and Building Services Management Plan has been completed
non Licensed works via responsive repairs and voids will in most cases be carried out by
Adur Councils Building Services team.

Under these arrangements, where non licensed works are identified on the Asbestos
surveys, this will be carried out by the asbestos contractor as a programme of work using
the same plan of work principles as documented in Licensed and Notifiable Works..

Disposal of asbestos waste will be in accordance with Hazardous Waste Regulations 2005

3.3 Licensed and Notifiable Non-Licensed works
Where licensed remedial works have been identified to ACM, a works order will be raised
to the licensed contractor in line with a priority timescale allocated against it.

The scope and nature of the work will be determined along with access arrangements,
duration, and impact on tenant/s and visitors to the site. A plan of work will be provided to
Adur Homes by the contractor and will include the following:

● Site address
● Identification of the type, content and condition of ACM
● Nature of work to be undertaken
● how the work will be controlled
● Method statement
● measures employed to prevent/reduce the risk of exposure of those working on

ACM
● Measure to prevent the spread of asbestos fibres during works
● Details of RPE/PPE to be used
● Control measures for operative safe access and egress
● Measures and procedures for the safe handling, transporting and disposal of

asbestos waste
● Procedures to ensure the work area is clean, fit and safe for re-occupation

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

11 127



● Emergency procedures

The Plan of Work will be approved by the project lead and the asbestos coordinator, and
any other risks, decant requirements, utility cap offs, duration and any specific
requirements to complete the work will be discussed.

The licensed contractor will notify the work to the HSE before commencement of any
work. This notification must allow for 14 days prior to commencement of works.

When the work is non-licensed but notifiable, the contractor will notify the HSE before
commencement of any work, but there is no notification period associated with these
works.

The contractor will liaise with the Asbestos consultancy contractor to provide a third party
UKAS accredited analyst to provide the following services:

● Provide background monitoring to ensure the level of fibres released are within the
control limits

● Provide air reassurance certification to show the site has been left clean and safe.
Disposal of asbestos waste will be in accordance with Hazardous Waste Regulations 2005.

ADC will randomly audit the contractor and request Waste transfer and Waste
Consignment notices to confirm compliance with the Hazardous Waste Regulations 2005.

4. UPKEEP AND SHARING OF INFORMATION
In line with regulation 4 (Duty to Manage) and Regulation 5 (Identification of Asbestos) of
the CAR 2012, CDM 2015, Adur Homes will provide information on the location of ACM
within our premises to anyone who is likely to work on or disturb them, via the provision of
a detailed survey report and or the Site Asbestos Management Plan available from the
Alpha Tracker Software.

This Site Asbestos Management Plan sets out the:

● Blueprint for compliance with all relevant Health and Safety legislation regarding
asbestos for this Site.

● Asbestos management systems and procedures for the Site
● Process for reviewing available survey information
● Previously non - accessed and limited access areas from previous asbestos

inspections and surveys.
● Emergency procedures to be followed in the event of an asbestos incident /

disturbance event.
● Roles and responsibilities of key personnel in the safe management of asbestos.

The Site Asbestos Management Plan is for use by:

● The Premises Manager / Any persons Managing the Building
● All employees working in the Site
● All suppliers attending the Site
● The Emergency Services

4.1 Instructing Contractors
The instruction will be sent directly to contractors (on all repair orders) alerting them of
the requirement to check the asbestos register and directing them to the Councils
corporate asbestos management system Alpha Tracker.

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

12128



If the contractor does not have access to Alpha Tracker, a copy of the appropriate survey
will be sent along with the request for repair.

Where a management survey does not exist, the process in section 1.2.3 will be applied.

4.2 Alpha Tracker

Alpha Tracker (by Start Software) is the primary way in which asbestos information is
shared within the Portfolio. As asbestos information is acquired it is uploaded onto the
Alpha Tracker System to ensure it is available to all to view.

AWC will ensure all approved contractors who work regularly on Adur Homes stock will
receive training and access the asbestos portal to locate and identify any ACM present.

In-house training on use of the Alpha Tracker will be provided to ensure that all interested
parties are able to interrogate the information and find the information they require. This
training will be provided to key staff members,  managers and primary contractors.

4.3 Asbestos Coordinator

Adur Homes have identified within the roles and responsibilities section within the Adur
and Worthing Council Asbestos Management Policy an Asbestos Coordinator. This role
will be responsible for ensuring that:

● Changes in legislation / regulations and best practice are considered to influence
changes to policy and procedures

● Responsible for the validation of data on the Asbestos Register
● Advise the Health and Safety Team of any uncontrolled disturbance of asbestos

which should be reported to safety and resilience through an incident form on
T100

● Checking a random sample of surveys and ensuring the survey information and
any other relevant documentation has been uploaded to the asbestos register

● Responsible for the validation of data on the Asbestos Register
● The Asbestos Coordinator is responsible for ensuring that Alpha Tracker is kept up

to date. Alpha Tracker is available to any relevant staff / contractors, in particular to
any employees who carry out maintenance activities, those who order contracted
works and those who may disturb asbestos bearing materials during the course of
their work.

5. CUSTOMER COMMUNICATION

ADC recognises that it has a duty to inform tenants of any potential harm in relation to
ACM. In order to inform tenants the following methods will be adopted:

● Annual asbestos awareness article within newsletter;
● Tenant information at sign up of new tenancies, tenants handbook; Targeted

communications as required or as a consequence of events; An example can be
found in appendix A.

● Prior to a tenant starting DIY work which will interfere with the fabric and/or
services of a property, tenants will be required to seek advanced permission from
Adur Homes. Before issuing permission, the tenant and leasehold alterations

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

13 129



procedure [these are currently under review and once completed will be attached
to this document] will need to be followed to ensure that if any ACM’s are
identified within the proposed work zone, appropriate consultation with the
tenant/leaseholder has been issued.

● Where the asbestos data is inconclusive (e.g. where a Refurbishment Survey has
not been carried out), Adur Homes will review the request and decide whether to
refuse permission or to arrange for a Refurbishment Survey to be carried out.

● In the event that tenants’ works are liable to disturb ACM’s, Adur Homes will make
a decision on the appropriate course of action, ensuring that all asbestos works are
subject to the normal asbestos work procedures of the Adur Homes

● Where access to undertake a survey is denied, ADC will commence its ‘no access’
procedure to ensure access is gained. [these are currently under review and once
completed will be attached to this document]

6. Training and Contract Procurement

Adur Homes will ensure that:
● Asbestos Removal and Asbestos Air Monitoring is to be appointed separately by

Adur and Worthing Councils and Adur Homes to maintain impartiality and
integrity.

● AWC will ensure that its contractors undertake the relevant training with its
employees, and this is regularly reviewed and reinforced via tall box talks and other
methods of communication.

● AWC will ensure via procurement methods that the contractors are suitably
competent to manage asbestos.

● All contractors that work across the portfolio and have the potential to disturb
asbestos during their routine activities must demonstrate asbestos awareness
training is in place or undertake asbestos awareness training prior to conducting
any works.

6.1 Staff Training

Adur Homes commits to the following Training requirements:
● All incoming staff will receive an overview on the introduction to asbestos as part of

their mandatory induction process.
● Awareness training followed by annual refresher training is to be undertaken by all

those with the potential to disturb asbestos during their routine activities. This
refers to all staff within Adur Homes.

● Asbestos Management Training is to be undertaken by all those that manage
works involving/potentially involving asbestos and senior management team, this
will include:

○ A brief introduction explaining what asbestos is, and the hazards associated
with it, etc.

○ A brief summary of the information held by Adur & Worthing Councils and
Adur Homes and how to gain access to it

○ A brief summary of products likely to contain asbestos and where they are
likely to be found.

○ The types of activities which are prohibited, areas which are controlled
access, etc.

○ The main legislative requirements, in particular Regulation 4, of the Control
of Asbestos Regulations 2012.

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

14130



○ How to continue the everyday running of the sites should any planned
asbestos works take place.

All training provided will be recorded and a certificate of attendance issued. A training
matrix is set out below

6.2 Training Matrix

Role Training Required Frequency

Chief Executive, director
and head of service

Asbestos Awareness
Training

Upon induction and Annual
Refresher

Asset Manager Asbestos Management
Training

Upon Induction and Annual
Refresher

Fire Safety Manager Asbestos Management
Training

Upon Induction and Annual
Refresher

Compliance and Fire
Safety Officer (Asbestos
Coordinator)

P405 and Asbestos
Management Training

Upon Induction and Annual
Refresher and any change in
legislation

Maintenance and estate
Surveyors

Asbestos Management
Training

Upon Induction and Annual
Refresher

All other Staff Asbestos Awareness
Training

Upon induction and Annual
Refresher

7. AUDIT AND CONTROL MEASURES

In order to ensure staff and contractors are operating in a safe manner Adur Homes will
implement the following:

● An overarching asbestos coordinator to ensure a consistent approach to the
management of asbestos

● Effective contract management of the Asbestos Consultancy Contractor and the
Asbestos repairs/removal contract ensuring regular performance review meetings
are held.

● Audit a representative sample of the contractors risk assessment process when
working with asbestos.

● Incident reports, ensuring that findings are reviewed and where changes required
are implemented.

● Post inspection of 100% of licensed removal works.
● Post inspection of 10% of Non- licensed removal works carried out by Building

services
● Post Inspections of 10% of Non- licensed (including non licensed notifiable)

removal works carried out by the approved contractor.

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

15 131



7.1 Exposure and Incident Reporting

Whilst information (to tenants and staff) and training (to staff) is provided to prevent the
exposure to asbestos containing materials in our premises, there may be circumstances
where exposure is still possible, or exposure has occurred, or is constantly occurring.
Instances of exposure events not being reported by tenants are to be expected due to the
age of the properties within Adur District Council housing stock.

Procedures and processes are published to reduce the potential of exposure incidents and
risks from asbestos becoming a risk to tenants and staff. It is not practical to expect Adur
Homes to prevent all exposure incidents. Exposure responses will need to be balanced and
risk based. If an asbestos material is disturbed deliberately or accidentally, the response
should be proportionate to the risk posed, e.g:

● High risk (friable) materials will be dealt with as a high priority and will usually
require immediate action and ultimately clearance and removal.

● Medium to Low risk materials will be cleaned up and cleared under controlled
conditions depending on the ACM involved, and

● Low to very low materials may be managed in situ depending on the disturbance
levels, and possibly programmed into responsive maintenance programs.

A hazard is something that can cause harm, a risk is the chance (high, medium or low)
that any hazard will actually cause somebody harm.

Context statement:

An ACM (asbestos which is low in % content) and bound within a matrix (which is in good
condition so is unlikely to release fibres - non-friable) and contains white asbestos
(serpentine - chrysotile fibres) can be regarded as low or very low risk.

A wet / saturated ACM = ceiling textured coating, which has been disturbed due to water
damage, is not likely to have released fibres due to it being saturated (which is a control
method for that product during works or removal operations) so again low risk.

If exposure/potential exposure is identified during any works (including works undertaken
by the tenant) the following actions will be taken.

● All reported incidents will be reported to the Asbestos Coordinator or P405 officer
and if required the reporting form on T100 completed.

● An investigation process will be undertaken by the Asbestos Coordinator, The
Health and Safety Department and where required the appointed Asbestos
Consultant.

● Where required, the Insurers and Directors will be informed.

The outcome of the investigation will be shared with the Asset Manager and any other
involved stakeholder. Any outcomes will be implemented by the Asbestos Coordinator and
monitored.

Staff Exposure
The procedure as above will be followed. Where Staff have been involved within the
exposure incident, these records will be collated to detail the exact nature and known
extent of any exposure to asbestos that has occurred.

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

16132



● The records should be retained for a minimum of 40 years from the date of
exposure.

These records will be treated as confidential to each member of staff and be kept in a
controlled location. Each employee will have access to their own records upon request.
These records will be held by the HR Department. Copies will also be held within
individuals’ personnel  files.

Resident Exposure

Where residents have been exposed the H&S Department will investigate and record the
exact nature, and extent of any exposure to asbestos.
These investigation records will be treated as confidential to each resident and be kept in a
controlled location.

Fly tipped material

When fly-tipped material is reported, questions will be asked to try and establish the
contents of the fly-tipping. If there is a possibility that the contents contains possible
asbestos containing material the following actions will be carried out:

● The area will be made secure and signage displayed to ensure no further
trespassing or exposure takes place

● Within 1 working day of the reported fly tipping, arrangements shall be made for an
assessment of the fly-tipped material, this will determine if the material is likely to
contain asbestos

● If the material is likely/confirmed to contain asbestos, arrangements will be made
locally by Building Services to remove small amounts of low risk ACM’s positively
identified, or instruct the appointed asbestos removal contractor to remove the fly
tipping and treat the whole of the fly tipping as contaminated material

● The contractor or Building Services will provide the consignment notice to ensure
waste was disposed of in accordance with Hazardous Waste Regulations 2005.
Confirm this consignment notice to the AH asbestos coordinator without delay

7.3 Management Plan Review

The asbestos management plan will be reviewed every 12 months to ensure it is effectively
controlling risks and to allow for continuous improvements.

The monitoring arrangements of the management plan will include the following:

● The level of information provided in the asbestos register and how it is being
updated and delivered

● The condition of ACM’s left in situ and the adequacy and frequency of the re
inspections

● The provision of information to those who need it, and how this is managed and
communicated

● The effectiveness of the procedures for the management of working with asbestos
● The effectiveness and relevance of the training provided
● The recording of incidents, accidents, and their outcomes

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

17 133



8.0 List of Appendices

Appendix A.

Tenants Asbestos Information (confirmed in tenancy Sign-up pack)

View document

Appendix B.

Asbestos Survey Review Process

View document

Appendix C.

Emergency Survey Details describes the attendance types & times

(Environtec)

View document

Appendix D.

Asbestos Survey Appointment Letter (Environtec)

View document

Appendix E

Permission to enter letter (Environtec)

View Document

Appendix F.

Removal appointment letter (from contractor to tenant) TBC with

Aspect PS to check and confirm.

View Document

Appendix G.

Permission to enter letter (Aspect)

View Document

Appendix H.

T100 Form to request a Refurbishment & Demolition (+ Management

Survey if no management survey exists)

View Document

Appendix I.

T100 Form to request a Management Survey

View Document

Appendix J.

T100 Asbestos Removals Requests (to the removal contractor

Aspect)

View Document

Appendix K.

T100 Asbestos NLW - Minor Works Requests (to the removal

contractor Aspect)

View Document

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

18134

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1OyYSJk2Fsq2XISad0fPsVTYKRgy5X9Mye3H9MtnLwgM/edit#gid=0
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1RN2V3iEVkWqCvVzOJOX6F5sbX9dmqL8c/view
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1CraY_iW5FQOACalkggi8Cjn1YgkzmvLY463djBlnono/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1PfR72RhTgUIbIlhdpY6xVKTr_sJCbtS_zHlkzi0TVvs/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1X253bRrvYwnYWG1aKnleOkUG365YHzVg/edit?usp=sharing&ouid=103831869375836663775&rtpof=true&sd=true
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1u03V1w7LOz9wKCc3USblhgI-etoSx4FB/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1uQL6gSZBfWUxyRbztxcAaVuIBs7_RAVi/edit#heading=h.f9fsa6mvmuyg
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1zzyY81y5Eb0gLonM5i_VJN75QPk1Bs7r/edit?usp=share_link&ouid=103831869375836663775&rtpof=true&sd=true
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1IwGLZj1v46odXeF7qcoRNJqnyTWJ7BDf/view?usp=share_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1J63cKAucow6e5HS_aSZELunnyV9WwXOv/view?usp=share_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1yGfEw2yFT7DxcWnk--KhuU8Ft6Uws0HR/view?usp=share_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1yGy3Qb7cee2n3NPD_52Y0ygDAtfRK6LX/view?usp=share_link


Appendix L.

Asbestos Survey Review Process (PIT Asbestos Team review)

View Document

Appendix M.

HSE Asbestos Essentials Task Sheets

View Document

Appendix N.

T100 Form - LICENSED REMOVAL or REMEDIATION - ON SITE AUDIT

View Document

Appendix O.

Asbestos Survey Contractors Details

View Document

Appendix P.

Asbestos Removal Contractors Details

View Document

Asbestos Management Plan
Rachael Hunns v1 06012021

19 135

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1k8Hnwmy515qAoem_jujStsIscOzHwRFXWHuthlqRtxc/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/16ZXaiYDMY3m4TG1737-ga0aiRErITJ4hTpOFrxxFXkU/edit#
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1lQa9qtBN-VmgQydTMFamwaI5ugQOImiM/view?usp=share_link
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1-npiZCaXbV5PQT4Ba_fW8f7L-1EWdQk2ygjbeYXecRM/edit?usp=share_link
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1RAF1UUh3RdLvbWA__Xn4Umd4N5tLm4g39W-TzNL_If0/edit?usp=share_link


Adur Homes

Interim Electrical Safety
Policy and Procedure

Adopted:

Review Date: March 2024

136



CONTENTS

Electrical Safety Policy and Management Plan

1.0 Introduction
1.1 Overview
1.2  Scope
1.3 Related Policies, Procedures and Guidance

2.0 Policy Statement of Intent
2.1 Aim
2.2 Legislation and Regulatory Framework

3.0 Objectives and Service Standards
3.1 Fixed Electrical Installations & Equipment - Testing &  Inspection
3.2 Portable Appliance Testing
3.3 TV Aerials
3.4 Protection
3.5 Car Charging
3.6 PV, MVHR, Solar

4.0 Roles & Responsibilities
4.1 Council Roles and Responsibilities
4.2 Tenants and Leaseholders’ Responsibilities

4.2.1 Tenant Responsibilities
4.2.2 Leaseholder and shared owners responsibility
4.2.3 Council Responsibility

4.4 Contractor’s Responsibility

5.0 Operational Management
5.1 Management if Defects
5.2 Data Management
5.3 Contractor Performance Management

6.0 Communication and Access Management

2
137

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1uiY_fdFr5Lt0hxWSjuOlgf77vLQVC5gqy3Sp3-zKT64/edit#heading=h.dwntswvaojq5
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1uiY_fdFr5Lt0hxWSjuOlgf77vLQVC5gqy3Sp3-zKT64/edit#heading=h.en5gv87sex2k


1. Introduction

1.1 Overview

This policy aims to demonstrate that Adur District Council (ADC) takes all reasonable
and practical steps to eliminate, minimise and manage risks of electrical hazards to its
customer and properties and to ensure that ADC meets all its obligations in respect of
electrical safety, in particular with regards to the British Standard and the Guidance
Notes, in dwellings owned and managed by ADC

Adur Homes will ensure that over the next 12 months a specific electrical contract is in
place, in accordance with best practice, which provides adequate provision for suitably
qualified and accredited electrical contractors to manage all aspects of the delivery of
electrical testing, repairs, upgrades and the provision of new installations.

Adur Homes is committed to ensuring that tenants’ and leaseholders’ homes remain
safe and fit for purpose. In achieving this Adur Homes will comply with all relevant
legislation and regulations. Adur Homes recognises this process will take 3 to 5 years
following the appointment of a suitable contractor to ensure all homes and communal
spaces have a current EICR.

1.2  Scope

This policy covers all electrical installations located within dwellings and communal areas of
stock owned and managed by ADC.

An electrical installation is made up of all the fixed electrical wiring and equipment that is
supplied beyond the electric meter of a property. It includes the cables that are usually
hidden in the fabric of the building (walls, floors and ceilings), accessories (sockets, switches
and light fittings), and the consumer unit (fuse box) that contains all the fuses,
circuit-breakers and residual current devices (RCDs).

This policy covers repair, upgrading, testing and inspection of all electrical installations. All
electrical repairs, upgrades and renewals will be categorised to ensure that the correct levels
of priority are given.

The Council will take specific account of any health and safety requirements during the
prioritisation process for these works.

The policy also covers any portable equipment owned by the Council that is used to provide
services or is located in the communal areas of buildings. Electrical systems will be repaired,
renewed, upgraded and tested in accordance with industry guidance and manufacturers’
recommendations.

Typical installations and systems covered include:

3
138



● Domestic electrical installation.
● Communal landlord installations.
● Emergency lighting systems.
● Fixed fire or carbon monoxide alarm installations.
● Door entry systems.
● Electric heating systems (including conventional and sustainable heating

systems,  i.e. air source heat pumps).
● Portable equipment owned by Adur Homes
● TV aerial Systems

1.3 Related Policies, Procedures and Guidance

The Adur Homes Asbestos Management Plan should be read in conjunction with this
document. In addition, once completed and available the reference should also be made to
the Contractor Health and Safety Policy,  Access procedure, Tenants Handbook and
Recharge Policy

2.0 Policy Statement of Intent

2.1 Aim

This policy aims to ensure Adur Homes meets its obligations as a landlord and seeks
to provide assurance that electrical safety is adequately managed, ensuring the safety
of our tenants, leaseholders, and the general public.

2.2 The main objectives aims of this policy are to:

● Set out a clear approach for the maintenance and upgrading of electrical
installations.

● Ensure a prompt, efficient and cost-effective electrical repair, servicing, and
inspection service.

● Ensure legal compliance and promote good practice.
● Ensure remedial works are carried out within appropriate timescales so that

homes  remain safe and electrical installations are maintained to a high
standard.

● Outline a comprehensive electrical inspection and monitoring system.
● Ensure adequate records and quality monitoring systems are implemented.
● Ensure only competent persons undertake electrical works.
● Ensure our contractors hold suitable asbestos qualifications and are capable of

carrying out non-licenced works

2.2 Legislation and Regulatory Framework

Section 11 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 implies an absolute and non
excludable obligation upon landlords to keep in good repair and proper working order
the installations in the property including electrical installations.

4
139



Electrical hazards are also covered under the Housing, Health and Safety Rating
System (HHSRS), Housing Act 2004. The regulations define electrical hazards as;
electricity, flames and hot surfaces, fire and explosions.

The Government currently has the Social Housing (Regulation) Bill before parliament,
the purpose of this Bill is to require Local Authority and social Landlords to carry out an
Electrical Installation Condition Report within all dwellings, every 5 years

Relevant regulations applied are:

● Management of Health & Safety at Work Regulations 2006.
● Health & Safety at Work Act 1974. • Housing Act 2004.
● Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS).
● Electricity at Work Regulations 1989.
● Electrical Installation Regulations BS 7671 (as amended) 2018.
● IET Guidance Notes - 18th Edition.
● BS:7671:2018 Requirements for Electrical Installations
● Building Regulations Part P

3.0 Objectives and Service Standards

3.1 Fixed Electrical Installations & Equipment - Testing &
Inspection

Only appropriately skilled and competent persons will carry out electrical inspection
and testing. A person shall be deemed skilled to carry out the appropriate inspection
and testing only if they have sufficient qualification, knowledge and experience.

The Council will ensure that all our homes and communal installations are tested in
accordance with the Institute of Engineering Technology (IET) Regulation statutory
timescales.

The council will ensure that a test is carried out prior to the re- letting of our properties
and a certificate will be issued as part of the tenancy pack.

The Council will also carry out Electrical Installation Condition Reports (EICR) testing
on all properties that are subject to particular types of improvement works where
electrical circuits are affected and a suitable minor works or Part P certification will be
supplied.

The Council recognises its current position around a lack of previous testing regimes
and certification The Council will therefore ensure:

● All properties will have an in date and satisfactory certificate by the end of
2026.

● Following this, 20% of the stock is to be completed per annum to allow for a 5
year program of re testing.

5
140



● The electrical engineer will determine any amendments to the frequency of
inspection and testing by completing the EICR.

● These amendments will be appropriately held on a suitable data system to
ensure these are programmed correctly

● All new installations shall be provided with an Electrical Installation Certificate
complete with a schedule of inspections and test results.

● Suitable procedures are in place to manage defects identified through the
testing and inspections.

3.2  Portable Appliance Testing

All portable electrical equipment owned / managed by Adur Homes to provide services
or located in communal areas will be subject to an annual portable appliance test
(PAT).

Appropriate labeling of equipment and recording of all equipment will be undertaken in
accordance with The Electricity at Work Regulations 1989 (EAWR) and Electrical
Equipment (Safety) Regulations 2016.

The Mobility Scooters in Adur Homes’s Policy defines the  requirements regarding the
PAT testing of tenants’ own mobility scooters. Over the next 12 months Adur Homes
will put in place processes to monitor and control to ensure full compliance.

Over the next 12 months Adur Homes will seek to utilise T100 to log all mobility
scooters and operational teams will review the register annually and complete
checklists to ascertain the storage location, condition and evidence of testing.
Performance information will be shared internally and with the relevant committee
meeting.

Adur Homes may also engage a third-party audit to check for errors in both condition
reports provided and to check the quality of work undertaken on site.

3.3 TV aerial

Adur Homes have a number of communal TV aerial systems which will be Inspected as
part of the communal EICR

In addition to the communal EICR, an ongoing planned maintenance and servicing
regime will be delivered on an annual basis.

All TV aerial installations should be fixed wiring, the council recognises that it has a
number of systems which are not installed through fixed wiring, and is working on a
program to resolve these.

3.4  Protection

Buildings and electrical installations can be protected from the effects of lightning strike
and voltage transients on the electrical system caused by lightning by a lightning
protection system consisting of lightning conductors and the bonding of external
metalwork to lightning conductors. The function of a lightning protection system is to
discharge the lightning strike directly to  earth.

6
141



Once a lightning protection system is installed, it must be professionally tested at least
once a year to ensure it is capable of conducting a potential lightning strike to a safe
earthing point. This ensures compliance with the Electricity at Work Act 1989 and BS
EN 62305.

Adur Homes will undertake a review over the next 24 months to ensure that lightning
risks are evaluated, and lightning protection systems are installed and maintained as
appropriate.

3.5 Car Charging

The UK government's new EV charging requirements came into force in England as of June
2022, as part of an overhaul of the country's Building Regulations: Every new home,
including those created from a change of use, with associated parking must have an EV
chargepoint.

As the council increases its development program, there is a requirement to ensure the
correct provisions are in place for maintaining safe EV charging points.

● EV charging point circuit will  be tested and inspected periodically in accordance with
the latest version of BS7671

● Guidance on initial verification and periodic inspection and testing is given in the IET
Guidance Note3: Inspecting and Testing and, upon completion of the required tests,
either an Electrical Installation Test Report or an Electrical Installation Condition
Report should be issued.

● All charging points must be equipped with suitable protective devices which, in the
event of a fault materialising, operate to remove the potential of electric shock,
damage to a vehicle (or it’s batteries) or fire.

● During estate inspections charging points should be visually inspected and noted for
any defects/vandalism. This must be reported appropriately.

3.6 PV, MVHR, Solar

Solar and photovoltaic Panels

IEC 62446 recommends that periodic verification of an existing installation shall be performed.

The standard defines the minimum requirements for system documentation, commissioning tests

and inspection for PV systems.

7
142



A periodic verification report shall be provided and include a list of any faults and

recommendations for repairs or improvements (such as upgrading a system to meet current

standards).

Having clean, well maintained, solar panels will help them work to their maximum capabilities
and also make them look a lot nicer on your roof! In addition, your feed-in-tariff payments will
improve over time and hopefully the benefits you get from installing the system will increase.
This means that with regular maintenance, your solar panels will:

● Perform at their best, maintaining their optimal service performance

● Last even longer

● Be a better long-term investment, with better financial returns

Mechanical Ventilation Heat Recovery Units (MVHR)

When building a new property it is important to comply with requirements in building
regulations for installation, inspection, testing, commissioning and provision of
information when installing fixed ventilations systems in your new and existing
property. Approved Documents provide guidance on how to meet these building
regulations.

For an existing dwelling, any building work (adding a room, replacing parts of a
ventilation system) should meet the relevant standards of ADF. Where any energy
efficiency standards are to be carried out in a dwelling, PAS 2035 is considered an
adequate means of demonstrating compliance for meeting the F1 requirement for
existing dwellings: There shall be adequate means of ventilation provided for people
in the building.

Building Regulations Approved Document F covers the building requirements of ventilation and
the different types of ventilation.

It is recommended that MVHR systems are serviced yearly to make sure everything is clean
and working as it should be.

The maintenance of the system is mostly low-tech house-keeping and can be done with your
annual spring clean:

● Check all filters and replace if necessary
● Remove any dust on your room terminals
● Check external terminals for dust and blockages.
● Clean heat exchangers

8
143



4. Roles & Responsibilities
4.1 Council Roles and Responsibilities

Role Responsibility

Chief Executive Has overall responsibility for the Electrical Safety

Asset Manager (to be
assigned)

Head Of Service

● Ensure implementation of the Electrical
Safety policy and management plan

● Responsible overall for the electrical safety
policy, procedure guide and the
management plan.

● Overall responsibility for legislative
compliance.

Planned Investment Manager
(role does not exist at present)

● Has delegated responsibility for Electrical
safety management on a day to day basis.

● Responsible for operational processes in
terms of overall contract delivery.

● Responsible for overall contractor
performance management.

● Responsible for advising on legislation and
electrical  policy principles

● Development and setting of annual planned
process budgets

Planned Surveyor ● Responsible for operational processes in
terms of overall contract delivery.

● Responsible for overall contractor
performance management.

● Responsible for advising on legislation and
Electrical Safety policy principles

● Development and setting of annual planned
process budgets

9
144



● Attend/lead joint Contract management
meetings with the electrical safety
contractor.

Employees All employees, irrespective of their position shall:

● Take reasonable care for their own health
and safety and that of other persons who
may be adversely affected by electrical
works, including members of the public,
tenants, visitors and contractors.

● Co-operate as appropriate with other staff
and agencies to ensure compliance with
this policy and all other legal requirements.

● Halt works that constitute a serious risk to
health and safety.

● Report any concerns that they may have in
relation to the management of electrical
compliance and electrical safety.

Contractor ● Responsible for meeting with all the
legislative requirements for the work they
are undertaking

● Halt works that constitute a serious risk to
health and safety.

● Report any concerns that they may have in
relation to the management of electrical
compliance and electrical safety

● Take reasonable care for their own health
and safety and that of other persons who
may be adversely affected by electrical
works, including members of the public,
tenants, visitors and contractors.

● Coordinate and cooperate with Adur
Homes in the management of electrical
installations and any contract requirements

● Act as the council's advisor around the
legal requirements surrounding electrical
safety.

4.2 Tenants and Leaseholders’ Responsibilities

4.2.1 Tenants Responsibilities

Under the terms of their Tenancy Agreement tenants must allow access to their

10
145



property for maintenance and/ or safety checks to be conducted.

Where tenants carry out property alterations and improvements, which include
additions/alterations to the electrics, they should seek authorisation prior to any works
being undertaken. If works are approved, tenants are responsible for ensuring
appropriate safety checks are carried out and all relevant certificates are supplied
following the works/installation. Tenants are also responsible for meeting the cost of
this. Any defective or unauthorised works needing rectification may incur a recharge. If
any installation has been undertaken without Adur Homes ’s permission, and is found
to be defective, the supply may be terminated and residents will be recharged to make
it safe again.

The tenant must ensure that they:

● Allow access to enable the landlord fixed periodic electrical safety check and where
applicable PAT testing of appliances to be undertaken

● Immediately reporting any concerns with electrical safety including wiring, sockets or
switches, turning off electrical appliances if they suspect a hazardous situation  and
keeping them turned off until checks have been carried out by a competent person

● Report to Adur Homes any faults they have, or suspect, with their or the communal
fixed electrical installation systems

● Do not tamper with any portable appliances supplied by Adur Homes
● Do not undertake, arrange or allow work on electrical installations without Adur

Homes express permission.
● Be responsible for finding out what their obligations are and maintaining their own

appliances in a safe order and good state of repair at their own cost
● Operate appliances in a safe manner and in accordance with manufacturer’s

instructions

It is expected that during the testing tenants will ensure:

● Any action in relation to saving electronic files i.e., IT-related software,
programmes or other electronic storage is taken prior to the commencement of
the work.

● Any contingency arrangements arising from the absence of electrical supplies
are  highlighted and agreed in advance of works.

● Appropriate access and relocation/removal of any obstacles will need to be
undertaken (in situations where the tenant is unable to manage support will be
agreed). The emptying and storage of freezers/ fridges etc.

4.2.2 Leaseholders and shared owners

Typically, these groups do not fall directly under Adur Homes’ responsibility for
ensuring electrical safety, as the responsibility for this remains with the leaseholder or
shared owner.

The leaseholder and shared owners  must ensure that they:

11
146



● Maintain a safe electrical supply within their home, ensuring that the systems are
tested, inspected and managed in accordance with the required regulations.

● Report to Adur Homes any faults they have, or suspect, within the communal areas
fixed electrical installation systems

● Be responsible for finding out what their obligations are and maintaining their own
appliances in a safe order and good state of repair at their own cost

● Operate appliances within their home in a safe manner and in accordance with
manufacturer’s instructions

4.2.3 The Councils Responsibility

In undertaking our duties, the Council will ensure that General Needs and Sheltered Tenants
are aware of their responsibilities  by providing information through our tenancy handbook,
website and through direct correspondence with our residents.

The council will ensure regular communication with tenants to inform them of how they
can maintain a safe electrical system.

4.3 Contractor’s

When undertaking any electrical installation works, the contractor will also be required
to conform in full with the requirements of this policy.

Contractor Procurement

Adur Homes will ensure that over the next 12 months a specific Electrical contract is in
place, in accordance with best practice, which provides adequate provision for suitably
qualified and accredited electrical contractors to manage all aspects of the delivery of
electrical  testing, repairs, upgrades and the provision of new installations.

All appointed electrical contractors shall be registered with the NICEIC, ECA, NAPIT or
other accredited body and shall be registered under a recognised Domestic Installer
Self-certification Scheme in compliance with Part P of the Building Regulations.

Asbestos

The Council recognises its current position around data held on ACM located within its
properties. Please refer to the Asbestos Management plan for further details on the
surveying strategy

The Council requires all contractors working within our homes have:

● Undertaken formal asbestos training within 3 years of the works and that it is
annually refreshed.

12
147



● Competent and fully trained operatives
● Any Non-Licenced asbestos works undertaken will be by a contractor who has the

relevant training, equipment, insurance and procedures in place to undertake these
works

5.0 Operational Management

5.1 Management of Defects

On completion of a periodic test, certification will be issued. The documents shall be
suitably completed and comply with the appropriate regulations. This document will
make recommendations which will be reviewed by a competent person and the
necessary remedial works prioritised accordingly.

The Council will manage the recommendations in the following manner:

● Code C1: Where a real and immediate danger is observed that puts the safety
of those using the installation at risk. The contractor will, if within the pre agreed
financial limit,  remedy the deficiency.  For items falling outside of the
pre-agreed financial limit the contractor will contact the Contract Administrator
and verbal permission (backed up with a written record) will be provided
(followed by suitable written confirmation) to proceed with the action to remedy
the deficiency.

● Code C2: An observed deficiency not considered to be dangerous at the time of
inspection but would become a real and immediate danger if a fault or other
foreseeable event was to occur. The contractor will, if within the pre agreed
financial limit,  remedy the deficiency.  For items falling outside of the
pre-agreed financial limit the contractor will contact the Contract Administrator
and verbal permission (backed up with a written record) will be provided
(followed by suitable written confirmation) to proceed with the action to remedy
the deficiency.

● Code C3: Used to indicate that, whilst an observed deficiency is not considered
to be a source of immediate or potential danger, improvement would contribute
to an enhancement of the safety of the electrical installation. Where
recommendations relate to observations only (i.e. C3), these will be monitored
through subsequent inspection and testing. Electrical works identified on
certification are recorded on a suitable data system and will be used to create
planned programs of improvements.

● Code F1: “Further investigation required without delay”.  The contractor will
advise of these in accordance with our specification.

13
148



5.2 Data Management

5.3 Contractor Management

We will regularly review and monitor the qualifications of all contractors’ employees
delivering works to ensure that only appropriately trained and skilled employees are
engaged on these works.

5.4 Monitoring

Adur Homes aims to review this policy in three years or sooner if needed to ensure it
reflects current legislation and latest examples of best practice.

13.2 Technical Services will monitor contractor performance (KPIs) and any complaints
from residents.

6.0 Communication and Access Management
Every effort will be made to arrange a convenient time and date with the tenant for
access to complete the works in accordance with the Council Access Procedure.

6.1 Communication and access

The Council will write to residents who are due (within the next 3 months) to have an
electrical condition inspection (EICR) carried out. Adur home will provide the following
information to residents:

● Name and contact details of the contractor completing the inspection
● Information on the nature of the inspection and what possible works

will be carried out following the inspection
● Frequently asked questions leaflet

The contractor will confirm in writing any appointments with residents (including any
rearranged or canceled appointments) made by telephone using the standard letters in
appendix A.

If the contractor is unable to reach a resident by telephone after 3 documented attempts they
will send a standard letter to the resident asking them to make contact to book in their
electrical condition inspection.

If there is still no response from the resident following the ‘no contact letter’ the contractor
must write again providing a date and time for the electrical condition inspection to be carried
out. This must give the resident a minimum of 2 weeks notice and the opportunity to contact

14
149



the contractor and rearrange the inspection. The contractor will attend the written
appointment whether they have received confirmation from the resident or not.

A copy of any letters sent to residents must be stored in the shared Google Drive folder
allocated to the contractor. The letter can be sent by email if this is agreed with the resident
at the time of the call.

If the EICR is unsatisfactory and further remedial work is required, the contractor must write
to the tenant advising of the additional works required and providing a copy of the frequently
asked questions for rewires and electrical works.

6.2 Refusals and non access
The Council will ensure that there are 3 documented access attempts made when
attempting to undertake essential electrical inspections, tests and follow up remedial works.
The first attempt will be made by the Council's contractor the second and third in conjunction
with Adur Homes.

● Adequate notice will be given to the tenant before each attempt
● Information will be provided on why it is important to allow access
● We will explain what will happen if access is not permitted

An agreed set of standard letters will be used to inform tenants of their responsibilities and
provide information on why the inspection, test or remedial works is necessary. See
appendix A.

If a tenant fails to provide access or refuses the works and the contractor has made a
documented access attempt, the contractor will refer the refusal or non access case back to
the Council.

Two further written attempts will be made, that will provide a detailed explanation on the
reason the works are necessary and information on how the works are to be carried out, in
line with the procedure. The tenant will be invited to discuss their concerns with a named
individual. See appendix A.

Tenants who continue to refuse access for either an Electrical Condition inspection or for the
remedial works following an electrical condition inspection will be referred to their Tenancy
Management team once the above procedure has been exhausted. The tenancy
Management team will review the case, arrange to visit the property to assess the condition
and discuss the residents' concerns. The final option will be enforcement through the
tenancy agreement, and a referral to Legal Services to seek an injunction for access to the
property.

The tenancy conditions state:

15
150



23. Access to Your Home

You must allow Council Officers, contractors or other authorised representatives to gain
access in order to inspect, service or repair gas installations, or other emergencies.
If access is prevented the Council will force entry and you will be charged the cost of doing
so. In cases of an emergency or suspected emergency the Council will force entry to the
property.

This does not apply to standard television aerials. You must obtain any other
permissions or consents required separately. For Health and Safety reasons, the Council
does not allow anything other than a doormat to be placed in the communal parts of flats.
You must also obtain any other permissions or consents separately e.g. planning permission.

Normally, you will be given at least 24 hours notice except in an emergency. You should
always ask any Council representative to produce official identification before permitting
entry to your property and if you are uncertain as to any cases of an emergency or
suspected emergency the Council will force entry to the property.

24. The Council must:

● Carry out the repairs and maintenance that it is required to do by law.
● Keep in repair and proper working order: The installations for the supply of water,

gas, electricity and sanitation

Tenants who miss two pre arranged appointments for the works may be recharged the cost
of the abortive visits. This will be decided by Adur Homes depending on the reason for the
two missed appointments.

6.3 Property condition concerns
In some cases the electrical contractors may refer a property back to the Council where the
condition of the property means the contractor's operatives can not safely complete the
statutory work required. The contractor must provide Adur Homes with the reasons they are
unable to complete the works, what they have done to date and the details of the
outstanding works along with its urgency.

Any referral in relation to the property condition will be passed on to the Tenancy
Management team to arrange to visit the property and review the conditions. The Tenancy
Management team will work with the tenant to bring the property back to an acceptable
condition as quickly as possible to allow the statutory inspection and works to proceed.

If the Tenancy Management team is unable to work with the tenant to resolve the issues and
there is a breach of tenancy conditions a referral to the Legal Services team will be made.

16
151



Adur Homes

Interim Adur Homes Gas Safety
Arrangements and Procedures

Adopted:

Review Date: March 2024

1152



CONTENTS

Adur Homes Gas Safety Arrangements and Procedures

1. Introduction
2. Landlord responsibilities
3. Gas Servicing Regime
4. No Access
5. Tenant Owned Appliances
6. Carcasses
7. Communal
8. Breakdown, Repairs and Maintenance
9. Reporting under RIDDOR
10. Audit Process
11. Confidentiality, Safeguarding and Equality Duty
12. Responsibilities
13. Organisation
14. Monitoring, Training and Review

Operational procedures

2 153



Adur Homes Gas Safety Arrangements and Procedures

1. Introduction

These Adur Homes and Gas Safety arrangements and procedures are set within the
required compliance with both the corporate Gas Safety policy and other relevant
Adur & Worthing Council policies and procedures and should be read in conjunction
with them. These procedures and arrangements apply to:

• Adur & Worthing (A&W) employees;
• Interim and temporary staff;
• Residents;
• Consultants working directly for A&W through an agency;
• Contractors to A&W

Contractors, consultants and others working on the organisation’s premises will be
expected to comply with the A&W Housing Gas Safety policy and procedures and all
relevant statutory provisions, Approved Codes of Practice (ACoPs), such as ACOP
L56 Safety in the installation and use of gas systems and appliances, (which gives
practical advice and guidance on the Gas Safety ( Installation and Use)
Regulations), Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 as amended, and
relevant guidance.

We will, wherever necessary, work with our contractors to assist them in developing
Gas Safety procedures within their own organisations to help them achieve the
standards required by A&W, although the responsibility for doing so remains entirely
theirs.

2. Landlord responsibilities

A&W have duties as a landlord to ensure that gas appliances and flues provided for
tenants’ use in residential property are installed and maintained in a safe condition.
A&W are required to perform an annual safety check, which must be undertaken by
a Gas Safe registered engineer, on each appliance and flue.

The Council is responsible for the following: -

● Arranging for a gas safety check to be carried out any time from 10-12 months
after the last check, without affecting the original check expiry date. If it is less
than 10 or more than 12 months after the last check, the property will end up
with a new deadline date - 12 months from the most recent check.

● Ensuring that all gas appliances (in the Council’s ownership) flues and gas
installation pipework are maintained in a safe condition. This also applies to
the safe fitting of gas installations in new build properties as well as the
replacement of installations through planned or reactive maintenance work.

3154



● Giving a copy of the landlord’s Safety Certificate to the tenants within 28 days
of the safety check.

● Ensuring that all new tenants, and mutual exchange tenant transfers, are
given a copy of the Safety Certificate prior to occupation of the property.

● Ensuring that any work carried out on the Council’s behalf is carried out by a
Gas Safe Engineer

3. Gas Servicing Regime

This process is a guide to ensure gas compliance, each property within this
procedure should be taken on a case by case basis, ensuring that liaison with the
Tenancy Services team commences at the earliest opportunity and sustains
throughout the process.

At due date minus 86-45 days (due to contract this is currently 62 days prior to
overdue) the contractor sends a 1st appointment letter (a week from the date of the
letter) and makes the 1st scheduled visit.

If access is not obtained, 2 further letters will be sent with appointments to the
customer before handing back to Adur Homes to resolve. This will be done on
roughly day 70 and day 55, currently due to contract this is done in weekly
increments after the initial letter.

On each “no access” visit, the Contractor will leave a card for the customer
confirming the date and time they attended and requesting the customer to make an
appointment (Date stamped photo taken and be made available and provided to
Adur Homes as requested).

The contractor will attempt to contact the customer via all available contact details
including letters, emails, telephone calls and text messages. They will also make
contact via any known relatives, support workers or external agencies in which the
tenancy team provides.

When the second letter is issued by the contractor, they will inform Adur Homes that
they have received no response. This is to be done by a weekly report issued to
Adur Homes by the contractor.

After 3 attempts by the contractor, the contractor will pass the property back to Adur
Homes along with the relevant evidence for Adur Homes to commence legal
proceedings.

The Contractor is to report any suspected abandonments to Adur Homes
immediately.

Throughout this process, Adur Homes will attempt to contact the customer via all
available contact details including letters, emails, telephone calls and text messages.
They will also make contact via any known relatives, support workers or external
agencies.

4 155



No Response - 1st Letter

At due date minus 45 - 30 days ( to be issued after 2 no access attempts by
contractor)

Upon receipt of the no accesses from the gas contractor the Technical Assistant will
commence the first stage of Adur Homes Process for gaining entry.

At This stage a coordinated approach to gaining access will be required by the
Technical Assistant and the Tenancy Services team. The Technical Assistant will
check the system to identify any obvious issues in gaining access, i,e requires
communication in a different formal, property void, tenant deceased etc.

This will be logged on the No access tracking sheet, with comments of actions
already completed by the Technical Assistant.

The Technical Assistant will also refer toTenancy Services team. At this stage the
Tenancy Services Team will undertake a review of the tenant to identify any other
potential vulnerabilities, potential sublet, abandonment and additional support the
tenant may require, they will also carry out a home visit. This will be logged on the
No access tracking sheet.

The Technical Assistant will generate the 1st legal letter which will be delivered by
post to the property by the Technical Assistant.

If an appointment has been agreed then this will be detailed within the letter

No Response - 2nd letter (following 3rd access attempt by contractor)

If no response is received within 7 days, the case will be discussed with the
Technical Assistant and Tenancy Services Team who will determine the best course
of action, this could be

● Cap Gas supply (External Meters)
● Gain Access via a lock change

The agreed course of action will be logged on the No access tracking sheet and
agreed by both the Technical Assistant and the Tenancy Services Team.

A 2nd  letter will be generated by the Technical Assistant which will be delivered by
post to the property by the Technical Assistant.

If an appointment has been agreed then this will be detailed within the letter

No Response - 3rd Letter

At Due date minus 20 days (currently 1 week after the second letter and no
response)

5156



Following further consultation with the Tenancy Services Team, The Technical
Assistant will produce an access request letter which will be hand delivered by the
Tenancy Services team giving the customer notice of Adur Homes intention to gain
access via a lock change or Cap the Gas supply unless the annual gas safety check
is completed within 7 days.

If an appointment is agreed with the tenant, This appointment must be within the
date of compliance (and within the 7 days notice). The Technical Assistant will send
out an appointment confirmation letter. The letter will make it clear that failure to
keep to the appointment will result in an immediate referral to court for access.

If no appointment is made/or kept within 7 days the technical assistant will
coordinate a meeting between the relevant Tenancy Services Team member, the
Housing Enforcement Team and the Contracts Manager to review the case and
agree to proceed to  seek via the court a warrant for entry.

The Housing Enforcement team will coordinate the final stage of the process

4. No Access: Gaining Access/Capping the Gas

On the appointment date, A council representative (to be determined case by case)
will attend at the property with the gas contractor, for forced entry with the locksmith
as well.

Where access is being obtained, If access is not given, the lock will be changed and
entry gained. The annual gas safety check will be completed or the gas meter
capped for safety. If the customer is not present, a sticker will be placed on the door
asking the customer to contact Adur Homes urgently and confirming how they can
obtain the new keys.

Capping Gas is a last resort - If the Gas is being capped, The gas engineer will
ensure that the gas is capped safely, and If the customer is not present, a sticker will
be placed on the door asking the customer to contact Adur Homes urgently and
confirming how they can obtain the new keys. If the tenant is present a letter will be
signed by the tenant stating their understanding of what has happened.

Follow Up Action

Where Gas supplies have been capped it is vital that ongoing liaison between the
Tenancy Services Team, the tenant and the Technical Assistance continues to
ensure that a gas supply is reinstated as soon as possible. Any Gas supplies capped
should be logged against the property, so a report can be issued to the Tenancy
Services Team.

No Access persistent offenders will need to be logged against the property this way
engagement in the future can be handled earlier to allow for access without the
requirement for legal action.

6 157



5. Tenant Owned Appliances

Tenants may choose to improve their homes but must seek written permission from
the Council. If permission is refused the Council will provide the tenant with a reason.
During the annual gas service tenants’ own appliances will be visually checked for
safety but not serviced. If the residents own appliance is found to be faulty, it will be
isolated by the gas contractor, and the resident notified. A record is to be made of
this.

Tenants are not permitted to replace/make alterations to the Council owned boilers.

Further work on condemned appliances is being undertaken and will be added to this
policy.

6. Carcasses

Carcasses will be checked on an annual basis in-line with the Landlord Gas Safety
Record. Tenants will permit the Gas Servicing Contractor access to the property to
undertake this inspection in the same way as the gas safety checks.

7. Communal

Communal boilers are serviced and maintained on an annual basis. At the same
time the Landlord Gas Safety Record is completed.

8. Breakdown, Repairs and Maintenance

The Council has through its Gas Contractor a 24-hour, year-round, breakdown
service to allow for breakdowns or malfunctions of Council owned appliance or
system.

The comprehensive service shall include the provision of all parts, component parts,
pipework and other items that may be necessary to affect any repair to any Council
owned appliance type or system together.

9. Reporting under RIDDOR

Certain gas related incidents also need to be reported under RIDDOR. These are
incidents that have caused fatal or major injuries, for example unconsciousness or
the need for hospitalisation for more than 24 hours, to gas consumers. The death or
injury may be as a result of either the acute symptoms of carbon monoxide poisoning
or the effects of gas escapes and any associated fires or explosions.

10. Audit Process

A&W commissions an independent audit of gas servicing by a Gas Safe registered
consultant to ensure that the quality of works meets both our statutory requirements
and best practice. This will be carried out on a sample basis of completed works to
domestic installations and of communal boiler installations.

7158



11. Confidentiality, Safeguarding and Equality Duty

Under the Data Protection Act 2018 (GDPR) and the Human Rights Act 1998 all
personal and sensitive information, however received, is treated as confidential.
Officers will ensure that they only involve other agencies and share information with
the consent of the tenant or leaseholder concerned unless required to by law, or
where the information is necessary for the protection of children and/or vulnerable
adults in accordance with A&W’s Safeguarding policy. A&W is committed to fulfilling
its Public Sector Equality Duty.

12. Responsibilities

Under the Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2008 an
organisation can be found guilty of corporate manslaughter in situations where there
has been a collective failure leading to a gross breach of the duty of care. If an
incident occurs that leads to injury or death those making decisions within an
organisation will be under significant scrutiny. This will include senior managers and
elected members. It is therefore important that managers and members are familiar
with the council’s obligations and that they monitor the delivery of this policy.

While the responsibility for Gas Safety within A&W ultimately remains with the Chief
Executive, the delegated responsibility for the delivery of Gas Safety within domestic
properties owned and or managed by A&W is with the Corporate Head of Housing.

13. Organisation

Members are responsible through the committee structure for ensuring that
adequate resources are made available for the Council to meet its statutory
obligations and must consider any reasonable request for resources needed to
ensure Gas Safety in the Council’s housing properties is suitable and sufficient.

The Chief Executive is deemed to be the duty holder within the organisation and is
ultimately responsible for ensuring the implementation of the policy at all levels within
the Council.

The Head of Housing is the responsible person for provision of adequate resources
to meet the requirements of the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998
and any other relevant regulations and guidance within Housing by ensuring:

● Systems are properly assigned and accepted.
● That sufficient financial resources are available for the implementation and

administration of this policy and associated management systems.
● That the responsibility for the implementation of and compliance with Gas

Safety is relevant and in line with all current legislation and guidance.
● The Council’s policies and management system are complied with and

properly assigned, understood, and actioned by their staff

8 159



The nominated deputy is responsible for the implementation of the policy within
Council owned and Council managed stock and the provision of adequate resources
to meet the requirements of this policy. They must also ensure a coordinated
approach to policy compliance through the servicing, maintenance, and
management of properties:

Policy Implementation

● Ensuring that the gas safety awareness training programme for staff is
followed and suitable records retained.

● Liaising with consultants, other members of staff and enforcement officers
over Gas Safety matters.

● Ensuring that any contractors (including contract or agency staff) taken on are
competent

● Ensuring that contractors are adequately assessing and managing gas in
relation to maintenance, servicing, major works, and improvements.

● Ensuring that incidents are reported to A&W in accordance with A&W policy
and procedure.

● Ensuring that contractors/ consultants report all RIDDOR reportable incidents
to the HSE and informing the Compliance Manager as soon as possible.

● Investigating Gas Safety incidents related to activities undertaken by the
contractors or consultants and providing suitable reports in line with A&W
procedures.

● Ensuring that contractors or consultants identify the Gas Safety training needs
of their staff and fulfil; them accordingly.

● Ensuring communication and co-operation with contractors or consultants as
appropriate to implement this policy

● Ensuring that all employees of contractors or consultants are responsible for
the reporting to their manager and or most appropriate or named person of
any Gas Safety matter of a serious nature or one which may pose immediate
danger to any person, or has resulted in injury, in a timely manner.

Ensuring Compliance

● Ensuring that all planned maintenance activities and contractors carrying out
work in any housing stock are adequately monitored and controlled.

● Ensuring each property is maintained and has a gas safety check carried out
every 12 months, as far as is reasonably practicable.

● Ensuring a competent appropriately qualified independent gas auditor carries
out quality monitoring of contractors who implement gas servicing, safety and
repairs and provides regular reports to the Compliance Manager.

● Providing advice on Gas Safety.
● Supporting implementation of the A&W Gas Safety Policy
● Advising and developing appropriate policies and procedures to provide A&W

with necessary guidance for achieving compliance with legislative
requirements

● Reporting to the organisation any actions relating to gas safety taken by
enforcement agencies, both formal and informal, and monitoring progress
made by A&W in complying with those actions.

9160



● Monitoring gas safety incidents within Housing where staff, residents or
visitors are involved.

● Monitoring reporting of gas safety RIDDOR incidents to the HSE
● Ensuring that adequate arrangements are made to provide appropriate gas

safety awareness training at all levels
● Will ensure the Gas Safety Policy is kept up to date as per legislative and or

good practice changes.
● Ensure all changes are communicated to all staff involved in the gas process,

providing information or training where necessary.

The housing management team are responsible for:

● Being aware of the importance of their role in the gas safety process.
● Ensuring they are aware of the gas safety policy and procedures and

adhering to them as appropriate.
● Reporting any dangerous/potentially dangerous incidents relating to gas to the

relevant nominated deputy and Corporate Health and Safety Advisor.

The Housing Services Manager is responsible for the dissemination of any gas
safety information relevant to property, either generic or specific, at the time of letting
that property. If these responsibilities are delegated to another member of staff, then
that person must be deemed competent through the completion of appropriate
training or briefings. The Housing Service Managers are responsible for:

● Encouraging all their team members to be gas safety conscious.
● Ensuring that the Gas Safety Policy is distributed and communicated to all
● members of their teams.
● Supporting their staff and providing guidance on how to respond to any

reported concerns to ensure they are monitored, reviewed and that
appropriate action is taken.

● Ensuring their staff manage their premises and equipment in a safe way.
● Liaising with consultants, enforcement officers and other member of staff

about gas safety matters and ensuring their staff notify the Compliance
Manager of any such visits.

The Gas Contractor is responsible for:

● Identifying any gas risks prior to undertaking any repair or maintenance.
● Being aware of the importance of their role in the gas safety process
● Following the procedures and processes to try to identify any problematic
● access/safety issues as soon as possible.
● Appropriately and accurately record what action they have taken at each step

of the process as per the procedures.
● Ensuring all Gas Engineers are competent and registered with Gas Safe
● Registration and quality monitoring and training reviews are undertaken by the

contractor.

The Independent Gas Auditor is responsible for:

10 161



● Ensuring competent and appropriately qualified independent external auditor
carries out a quality monitoring work of contractors, who implement the gas
servicing, safety, and repairs, and providing reports for the nominated deputy.

14. Monitoring, Training and Review

The Head of  Housing is responsible for the auditing of the Gas Safety Policy
to ensure compliance through these procedures and arrangements. The nominated
deputy is responsible for the regular review and management of the delivery of the
outputs resulting from the Landlord gas safety records (LGSR’s) relating to the
housing stock.

The nominated deputy is also responsible for ensuring that all ‘urgent’
remedial works identified through the LGSR’s, or through the audit inspection
processes, are completed in a timely fashion to ensure compliance.

Reviews of individual training requirements, including gas safety, will form part of the
regular appraisal process. New members of staff will receive gas safety training as
part of their induction, and it will be the responsibility of the relevant line manager to
ensure the delivery of this is relevant to the position held.

The Nominate deputy  is responsible for ensuring all staff with premises
management responsibility receive detailed and specific gas safety training. The
training will include awareness of the hazards associated with gas, relevant
legislation, requirements for Landlord gas safety inspections and the Gas safety
policy and procedures.

These procedures and arrangements, as part of the corporate Gas Safety Policy will
be subject to periodic audit and reviewed as necessary through the authorised
process to ensure that the procedures relating to Gas Safety are kept up to date and
relevant. The procedures will be made accessible to all staff and to all other
interested parties on request.

Operational procedures

Operational procedures for how Adur Homes will implement the above Gas Policy
are being reviewed and developed and will be added to this document once
completed.

11162



Adur Homes

Interim Lift Maintenance Policy
& Management Plan

Adopted:

Review Date: March 2024

163



CONTENTS

Adur Homes Lift Maintenance Policy

1 Introduction
2. Aims and Objectives
3. Legal and Regulatory Framework
4. Key Roles and Responsibilities
5. Policy Review

Management Plan

6. Introduction
7. Safe Systems of Work
8. Servicing & Preventative Maintenance Programme
9. Thorough Examinations

10. Supplementary Lift Testing
11. Passenger Lifts - Additional Checks
12. Emergency Release of Passengers from Immobilised Lifts
13. Lift Refurbishment & Replacements
14. New Build Developments & Other Lifting Equipment
15. Record Keeping
16. Performance & Monitoring
17. Training & Competencies

Appendix 1 -  Hydraulic Maintenance Procedure
Appendix 2 -  Traction Maintenance Procedure
Appendix 3 and 4 - Servicing regime.

2164



1. Introduction

1.1 The Council has a duty of care under the Health & Safety at Work Act to protect
its tenants, employees, contractors and visitors from harm when using lift equipment
within Council buildings.

1.2 The Council also has specific responsibilities under the Lifting Operations and
Lifting Equipment Regulations (LOLER) and Provision and Use of Work Equipment
Regulations (PUWER) to ensure that all passenger lifts, stair lifts and other lifting
equipment are; properly installed, serviced, maintained, thoroughly inspected and
tested at the appropriate intervals, and that adequate records are kept and retained.

1.3 This Policy and Management Plan will specifically cover Adur Homes’
responsibilities for the inspection, servicing and maintenance of passenger lifts, stair
lifts and through floor lifts across Adur Homes’s housing stock. Further work will be
undertaken in the coming months to incorporate all lifting equipment, inclusive of
stairlift and hoists, do you agree?

2. Aims and Objectives

2.1 The aim is to ensure that every Adur Homes building has safely
operating lift systems for which it has a responsibility. In meeting this aim Adur
Homes will:

● Ensure all powered lifts and associated equipment will be designed, installed,
operated, maintained and serviced to protect all personnel from injury or any
other damage arising from its use, as far as is reasonably practicable.

● Ensure suitable and sufficient risk assessments and safe systems for work
are made available and that contractors are competent to undertake tasks
involving lift maintenance.

● Ensure an efficient servicing and inspection scheduling regime of lift
equipment is in place.

● Ensure repairs, remedial and refurbishment works are carried out within
agreed timescales so that buildings remain safe and electrical installations are
maintained to a required standard.

● Ensure the Lift Maintenance Contractor responds to any cases of entrapment
within one hour.

● Ensure the Council complies with relevant statutory legislation and good
practice.

● Ensure adequate records and quality monitoring systems are implemented.
● Ensure all residents are given sufficient notice of planned duration for works

by letter drop to each property and displaying information in communal
locations.

3 165



3. Legal and Regulatory Framework

3.1 This policy is subject to, but not restricted to the following specific regulations,
HSE’s Approved Codes of Practice (ACOPS) and industry guidelines:

● Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA)
● Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999
● The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 (PUWER)
● The Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER)
● Lifts Regulations 2016
● The Safety Assessment Federation (SAFed) Guidelines
● HSE Guidance Note PM26 (safety at lift landings)
● HSE INDG339 – Thorough Examination and Testing of Lifts
● HSE INDG422 – Thorough Examination of Lifting Equipment
● HSE INDG290 – Lifting Equipment at Work
● Defective Premises Act 1972
● The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007

4. Key Roles and Responsibilities

4.1 The Chief Executive with assistance from Directors, Assistant Directors, the
Head of Housing and Service Managers are collectively responsible for ensuring the
implementation and management for the inspection, servicing and maintenance of
passenger lifts, stair lifts and through floor lifts across Adur Homes’s housing stock

4.2 The Chief Executive
The Chief Executive has the ultimate responsibility and accountability at board level
and is considered to be the ‘Duty Holder. The Duty Holder will ensure all lift
operations are in compliance with the relevant statutory requirements. The Chief
Executive will appoint management personnel who are familiar with the contents of
the LOLER and PUWER regulations, insofar as it is relevant to their roles and
responsibilities.

4.3 The Head of Housing
The Head of Housing is responsible for service strategy and quality of services
provided by Adur Homes. The Head of Housing also has overall budget
responsibility for all lift servicing and to ensure adequate resources are made
available to both develop and implement the maintenance programmes.

4.4 The Asset Manager
The Asset Manager is responsible for procurement, and selection of the Competent
Lift Servicing and Maintenance Contractor to undertake works within Adur Homes

4166



Housing stock. The Asset Manager is also responsible for service delivery, staff
training and ensuring that the Lift Maintenance Policy and Management Plan
continue to be robust and effective.

4.5 The Compliance & Projects Manager
The Compliance & Projects Manager is responsible for putting in place and
monitoring arrangements to ensure that the systems and procedures outlined in this
Policy and Management Plan are carried out. The Manager will monitor the Lift
Maintenance Contractor performance and ensure compliance is achieved in all areas
of the service.

4.6 Surveyor (Compliance & Projects)
The Surveyor will undertake the duties of the day-to-day management of Passenger
Lift servicing, maintenance and refurbishment programme. The Surveyor will review
servicing and examination reports supplied by the Lift Maintenance Contractor and
Adur Homes’s insurers and all remedial works to ensure lifts are safely maintained
and kept in service.

4.7 Surveyor
The Surveyor will undertake the duties of the day-to-day management of Stair and
Through Floor Lift repairs, servicing, maintenance and replacement programme. The
Surveyor will review servicing and examination reports supplied by the Lift
Maintenance Contractor and Adur Homes’s insurers and action all remedial works to
ensure lifts are safely maintained and kept in service.

4.8 Lift Maintenance Contractors
Adur Homes will employ suitably qualified contractors to act as the
nominated competent persons. The Lift Maintenance Contractor must have sufficient
technical and practical knowledge of the lift to be able to carry out repairs, servicing,
inspections, maintenance and replacements. The Contractor will comply with the
requirements of the Lift Maintenance Policy and Management Plan at all times
including safety, access arrangements, security and data protection. The Contractor
will adhere to all relevant legislation, guidance, best practice and provide evidence of
compliance on request.

5. Policy Review

5.1 This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its continuing suitability,
adequacy and effectiveness or as required by the introduction of new legislation or
regulation that impacts on Adur Homes’s obligations.

5 167



Management Plan

6. Introduction

6.1 This Management Plan and set of procedures seek to ensure lift inspection,
testing and maintenance are carried out within appropriate timescales and
maintained to a high standard to ensure the Council’s legal compliance.

6.2 Lifts will be immediately taken out of service if a serious or a significant defect is
identified and only put back into service when the fault is rectified by the Lift
Maintenance Contractor.

7. Safe Systems of Work

7.1 The Lift Maintenance Contractor with the assistance of the Competent
Independent Assessor, will carry out risk assessments for all lift equipment
installations.

7.2 Risk Assessments will provide control measures to maintain compliance with
applicable standards, considering the general condition of lift equipment, servicing
arrangements, operational usage, planned interventions, control systems, disability
discrimination issues and risks to vulnerable passengers. Information gained from
this exercise will be used in the preparation of an on-going plan for safety
improvements, modernisation and servicing.

7.3 Lift Maintenance Contractors will operate in accordance with agreed safe
working procedures whilst carrying out maintenance, servicing, testing or repair
work. Specific safe operating procedures will be required for work activities involving:

● The lift motor room
● The lift and lift shaft
● The lift pit
● Working on car tops
● Hand winding
● Access control

The Lift Maintenance Contractors will operate a Permit to Work system for their
maintenance staff as part of their safe working procedures.

8. Servicing & Preventative Maintenance Programme

6168



8.1 The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 (PUWER) requires
a regular servicing and preventative maintenance programme of all lift equipment by
a competent Lift Maintenance Contractor instructed by Adur Homes. Preventative
maintenance involves replacing worn or damaged parts, topping up fluid levels and
making routine adjustments.

8.2 Passenger Lifts
The Lift Maintenance Contractor will carry our monthly servicing and maintenance to
Lifts within Adur Homes housing stock. A draft servicing regime is illustrated in
Appendix 1 (Hydraulic Maintenance Procedure) and Appendix 2 (Traction
Maintenance Procedure) which are all completed over a twelve month period.

8.3 Stair & Through Floor Lifts
The Lift Maintenance Contractor will carry out servicing to all stair lifts on an annual
basis and through floor lifts six monthly. A draft servicing regime is illustrated in
Appendix 3 and 4.

9. Thorough Examinations

9.1 The Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER)
requires a programme of regular thorough examinations of all lifting equipment to be
carried out by a Competent Independent Assessor appointed by the Duty Holder.

9.2 A thorough examination will include a systematic and detailed examination of the
lift and its associated equipment by a competent person to the relevant guidance and
standards. This may include some testing, if the competent person considers it to be
necessary while taking into account where the equipment is used, frequency of use,
age and condition.

9.3 Its aim is to detect any defects which are, or might become dangerous and for
the competent person to report findings to the Surveyor.The Surveyor will authorise
and arrange for appropriate remedial action to be carried out by the Lift Maintenance
Contractor.

9.4 Thorough examinations should not be confused with servicing or maintenance,
but provides evidence that the maintenance regime is effective.

A thorough Examination for Passenger Lifts will include the following:

● Landing, car doors and their interlocks
● Worm and other gearing
● Main drive system components
● Governors
● Safety gear

7 169



● Suspension ropes
● Suspension chains
● Overload detection services
● Electrical devices (including earthing, earth bonding, safety devices, selection

of fuses etc.)
● Braking systems (including buffers and overspeed devices)
● Hydraulics

9.5 A thorough Examination for Stair Lifts will include the following:
● Security of lift to stairway
● Drive travel/unit
● Gearing, shafts and bearings
● Brake or sustaining device
● Guides
● Carriage and rollers
● Platform or seat including fittings
● Interlocks
● Safety gear or device
● Guards
● Electrical installation including wiring, systems, drives, controls and switches
● Alarm system
● Lubrication and fluid levels

9.6 A thorough Examination for Through Floor Lifts will include the following:
● Structure
● Arms and rollers
● Pivot pins
● Hydraulic cylinders and pipework
● Guarding
● Safety devices
● Clearances between operating arms and base structure
● Electrical installation including wiring, systems, drives, controls and switches
● Lubrication and fluid levels

The lists are not exhaustive and other components may be examined in accordance
with the Safety Assessment Federation’s (SAFed) Lift guidelines.

9.7 The law requires that all passenger lifts should be thoroughly examined:

● After substantial and significant changes have been made.
● At least every six months to ensure that health and safety conditions are

maintained and that any deterioration can be detected and remedied in good
time.

8170



● Following ‘exceptional circumstances’ such as damage, failure of the lift, long
periods out of use, or major change in operating conditions which is likely to
affect the integrity of the equipment.

9.8 Stair and through floor lifts are installed in residential properties and are not
classified by the HSE as a workplace, therefore The Lifting Operations and Lifting
Equipment Regulations 1998 do not apply. However where possible Adur Homes will
apply these regulations in order to achieve best practice.

10. Supplementary Lift Testing

10.1 The Safety Assessment Federation (SAFed) provides guidance for
supplementary lift testing inspections which are not statutory but recognised as good
practice by the HSE who recommend their use. These are carried out in addition to
the thorough examinations mentioned above.

10.2 Guidelines require that certain components are examined over and above a
visual examination, at periodic intervals determined by the Competent Independent
Assessor undertaking the statutory thorough examination. These are commonly
known as LG tests (Lift Guidance), which are carried out for both hydraulic and
traction lifts.

10.3 The frequency of the tests can vary from one to ten years depending on safety
components or machinery used. However, the competent person may call for a
supplementary lift test if they have a reason to do so, e.g. poor environmental
Conditions.

10.4 The tests are undertaken by the Lift Maintenance Contractor, who will provide a
Sufficient record of the test and corrective action if necessary to the Surveyor. The
Surveyor will review findings, arrange and authorise appropriate remedial action to
be carried out by the Lift Maintenance Contractor.

11. Passenger Lifts - Additional Checks

11.1 In addition to regulatory requirements for passenger lifts and continuing best
practice, there are certain checks which are carried out by Estate Management as
part of their monthly building inspection. These include:

● A visual inspection of the lift car operating panel
● Checks to ensure all indicators are working correctly
● Ensuring that the alarm/communication system functions
● Checking that the lift doors open when the ‘door open’ button is selected.
● Check position indicators on the landing are working correctly.
● Check that all lighting is in working order

9 171



● Check all mechanical/electronic door protection devices (safety edge) such
that:

○ When the safety edge is operated the door re-opens
○ After operation and removal of any obstruction the door closes

● Checking that the floor in the immediate vicinity of the landing door is in a
clean and safe condition

● Check the landing doors and architraves ensuring there is nothing which can
snag a passenger’s clothing

● Clean door bottom tracks
● A full ascent and descent of lift to assess for any unusual noise.
● The list is not exhaustive and other items may be checked in accordance with

each Location.

12. Emergency Release of Passengers from Immobilised Lifts

12.1 It is preferable to leave emergency release operations to personnel with
specialised knowledge of lifts, who will be able to determine the cause of
immobilisation of the lift car. Where managers wish to release passengers prior to
waiting for the Lift Maintenance Contractor or Emergency Services to arrive, they
must ensure that staff in the host building are properly trained, authorised and
instructed to do so.

12.2 In the event of any member of staff or the public being trapped, the following
procedure will apply:

● By activating the emergency alarm within the lift, the Lift Maintenance
Contractor will be alerted to the incident and attend the site within one hour.

● Alternatively where a call is received directly by Adur Homes, arrangements
will be made for the Lift Maintenance Contractor to attend.

● The Lift Maintenance Contractor will notify Adur Homes of the incident and
provide details of lift failures, remedial works required and completion of test
to bring the lift back into service.

● Should the lift defect be such that it would likely endanger users, the lift must
be taken out of service until the defects are remedied.

● The Corporate Health and Safety Advisor will be notified in order for the
incident to be recorded for further investigation as required.

13. Lift Refurbishment & Replacements

13.1 Passenger lifts, stair and through floor lifts will be refurbished on a programme
based on records kept on Adur Homes’s asset database and conditional reports

10172



provided by the Lift Maintenance Contractor. The reports will provide information on
components including age, usage, parts availability and history of repair costs.

13.2 Stair and through floor lifts requiring replacement will be validated in liaison with
a relevant Occupational Therapist to ensure the replacement lift is still relevant to the
tenant’s needs, or where circumstances have changed which could affect the design
of lift equipment that needs to be installed.

14. New Build Developments & Other Lifting Equipment

14.1 Housing Development will engage with Adur Homes at an early stage of new
build projects to ensure that future maintenance requirements of all lifting equipment
have been considered.

14.2 Housing Development will provide details of stair and through floor lift
equipment specifications to the Surveyorfor each new lift installation and operating
instructions are left for the tenant in every home. New properties will be added to the
lift maintenance contract by Adur Homes.

15. Record Keeping

15.1 Regulation 11 of LOLER requires that copies of reports of thorough
examinations must be kept available for inspection for at least 2 years. The law will
contain information as specified in Schedule 1 of LOLER, in summary:

● Identify the equipment examined (serial number, make etc.) the employer and
the premises.

● Give the date of the last thorough examination and specify when the next one
should take place.

● Specify the safe working load of the lift.
● Give the reason for the thorough examination (i.e. following installation,

according to an examination scheme, statutory interval, etc.)
● Identify any defect which is or may become a danger to people.
● Give the details of any repair, renewal or alteration required to remedy the

defect and  the date by which it should be undertaken.
● Give details of any tests carried out.
● Give details of the person carrying out the report and the person validating the

report on their behalf.

15.2 The regulation states where possible reports will be stored safely at the
premises (but it may be stored elsewhere due to space or security reasons) so that
they are readily available to the relevant authority (Health & Safety Executive) should
they request them.This information may be kept in both hard copy form or stored

11 173



electronically. Where information is stored electronically it will be protected from
unauthorised alteration and be possible to provide a written copy when necessary

15.3 Adur Homes will store all service and ‘thorough examination’ reports
electronically on their job scheduling software.

16. Performance and Monitoring

16.1 Monthly contract meetings between Adur Homes and the Lift Maintenance
Contractor will form the basis for measuring performance and maintain a high
standard of service. The Contractor will provide full details of recorded key
performance indicators against targets for specified servicing, maintenance and
refurbishment programmes, as stated in their contract.

16.2 The Contractor will provide an effective monitoring system of Health and Safety
incidents and measures to address causes during all contractual activities. Adur
Homes’s Compliance will carry out random Health and Safety Inspections on a range
of servicing, maintenance and refurbishment work activities. Health and Safety
inspection reports will be provided to be reviewed at contract meetings.

16.3 Regular communication and meetings between Adur Homes and
stakeholders to resolve access issues for stair and through floor lift ‘thorough
examinations’ which will improve LOLER compliancy and further reduce risk.

16.4 Tenants who are dissatisfied by the service provided are able to complain in
accordance with our complaints procedure. A copy of Adur Homes Complaints
policy and procedure is available upon request.

17. Competencies and Training

17.1 The term 'competent person' used in LOLER and PUWER legislation in the
context of conducting a 'thorough examination' is not defined in law. However,
Approved Codes of Practice broadly describe the attributes of a competent person
for undertaking thorough examinations. The person carrying out a thorough
examination has such appropriate practical and theoretical knowledge and
experience of the equipment to be thoroughly examined as will enable them to detect
defects and to assess their importance in relation to the safety and continued use of
the equipment.
SAFed represents many organisations undertaking statutory thorough examinations
an inspections, promoting high standards by competent people in undertaking this
work.

17.2 Lift maintenance should only be undertaken by those who have received
adequate information, instruction, training, continuous professional development,

12174



and assessment. The Lift Maintenance Contractor will provide training records of all
employees working on Adur Homes lifting equipment, which will be reviewed and
updated at monthly meetings.

13 175



Appendix 1  - Draft - to be reviewed and agreed.

14176



Appendix 2  - Draft - to be reviewed and agreed.

15 177



Appendix 3 Draft  - to be reviewed and agreed.

Appendix 4 - Draft  - to be reviewed and agreed.

16178



Adur Homes

Interim Water Hygiene
(Legionella)

Risk Management Policy and
Procedures

Adopted:

Review Date: March 2024

179



CONTENTS

1 Introduction
2 Adur Homes Policy and Procedures Compliance
3 Control- What Adur Homes must do
4 What the Water Hygiene Services Provider must do
5 What Adur Homes tenants need to know
6 Identification and Assessment of the Risk
7 Controlling and Monitoring the Risk
8 The Legionella Written Control Scheme
9 Long term void properties

10 Testing (or sampling) the water system for legionella
11 Keeping a record of the assessment
12 Reviewing your risk assessment
13 Confidentiality, Safeguarding and Equality Duty
14 Responsibilities
15 Organisation
16 Monitoring, Training and Review

2
180



1.  Introduction

What is Legionella?

Legionnaires Disease is a potentially fatal form of pneumonia caused predominantly by the
Legionella pneumophila bacteria. Legionella pneumophila and related bacteria are  common in
natural water sources such as rivers, lakes and reservoirs, but usually in low  numbers.

Legionnaires’ disease is normally contracted by inhaling Legionella bacteria in tiny droplets of
water (aerosols), deep into the lungs; there is no documented evidence of the  disease passing
from person to person.

Under general health and safety law, Adur District Council is required to consider the risks from
Legionella that may affect staff, residents or members of the public and take suitable
precautions

Legionella Control Policy and Guidance 2020

Adur & Worthing Council has an agreed policy for Legionella and it defines how the council will
identify and manage the risks arising from exposure to Legionella bacteria in water systems.

The Policy also takes into account the formal requirements to manage risk contained in  the
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, the Control of Substances Hazardous to  Health
Regulations 2002 (as amended), the Management of Health and Safety at Work  Regulations
1999 (as amended), and the requirement to report any legionella incident  under the Reporting of
Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013  (RIDDOR).

The arrangements are based on the requirements contained in the Approved Code of  Practice
(L8) ‘Legionnaires disease, and the control of legionella bacteria in water  systems Approved
Code of Practice, and HSG 274: Legionnaires’ disease: Technical  Guidance. The fourth edition
of the ACOP main changes are removing Part 2, the  technical guidance, which is published
separately as HSG274 and giving the following  issues ACOP status:

● risk assessment;
● the specific role of an appointed competent person, known as the ‘responsible  person’;
● the control scheme;
● review of control measures;
● duties and responsibilities of those involved in the supply of water systems.

This Policy should not be considered a definitive guide to the management of legionella  and the
requirements of the Regulations. Where any doubt exists as to the action to be  taken, or advice
or assistance is required, contact should be made with the Asset Manager.

Legionella Management Procedures for Adur Homes

This Legionella Management Procedures document for Adur Homes is guided and informed by
the above corporate policy and sets out the application of this policy for the specific work of Adur
Homes.

3
181



Copies of those documents referred to above and other useful reference materials are  available
from the Responsible Person , and  information is available on the intranet.

The Policy requires full compliance and applies to:

● Adur Homes employees;
● Interim and temporary staff;
● Residents;
● Consultants working directly for Adur Homes or through an agency;
● Contractors to Adur Homes.

Contractors, consultants and others working on the organisation’s premises will be expected to
comply with the Adur Homes Legionella Risk Management policy and procedures and all
relevant statutory provisions, Approved Codes of Practice and relevant guidance.

We will, wherever necessary, work with our contractors to assist them in developing Legionella
Risk management procedures within their own organisations to help them  achieve the standards
required by Adur Homes, although the responsibility for doing so remains  entirely theirs.

2. Adur Homes Policy and Procedures Compliance

Adur Homes is committed to providing safe and healthy working conditions for all its employees,
and to provide safe premises, facilities and services for residents, visitors, contractors, and
others who may be affected by its activities so far as is reasonably practicable.

Adur Homes aims to achieve Legionella safety performance that not only complies with the law
but is also the best in its sector. To support this aim, Adur Homes will ensure full compliance with
the requirements of the ACoP L8 and related legislation.

All employees of Adur Homes and others who work for, and with, Adur Homes are expected to
cooperate with management to help ensure the effective implementation of the corporate policy
and these Adur Homes and procedures.  All employees, consultants and contractors should be
regularly reminded that failure to comply with this Policy by either action or inaction may result in
the termination of contracts and  cancellation of agreements, and may, in very serious cases,
result in civil or criminal  prosecution.

3. Control- What Adur Homes must do

Whilst there is a duty to assess the risk from exposure to Legionella to ensure the safety  of Adur
Homes tenants, this does not require an in-depth, detailed assessment in the majority of homes
and it would be reasonable to review a representative proportion of dwellings. The risks from hot
and cold-water systems in most residential settings are generally considered to be  low owing to
regular water usage and turnover.

A typical 'low risk' example may be found in a small building (e.g. two storey block of flats) with
small domestic-type water systems, where daily water usage is inevitable and sufficient  to turn
over the entire system; where cold water is directly from a mains supply (no  stored water tanks);

4
182



where hot water is fed from instantaneous heaters or low volume  water heaters (supplying
outlets at 50 °C); and where the only outlets are toilets and  wash hand basins.

A simple assessment may show that there are no real risks and minor risks are being  properly
managed and no further action is needed. It is important to review the assessment in case
anything changes in the system.

Implementing simple, proportionate, and appropriate control measures will ensure the  risk
remains low. For most domestic hot and cold-water systems, temperature control is  the most
reliable way of ensuring the risk of exposure to Legionella bacteria is minimized  i.e., keep the
hot water hot, cold water cold and keep it moving. Other simple control  measures to help control
the risk of exposure to Legionella include:

● flushing out the system prior to letting the property if it has been empty for longer than 30
days.

● avoiding debris getting into the system (e.g., ensure the cold-water tanks, where  fitted,
have a tight-fitting lid)

● setting control parameters (e.g., setting the temperature of the hot water cylinder
(calorifier) to ensure water is stored at 60°C) and providing information to residents

● make sure any redundant pipework identified is removed (or isolated).

The risk is further lowered where instantaneous water heaters (for example combi boilers and
electric showers) are installed because there is no water storage.

The Health & Safety at Work Act 1974 and COSHH require employers to conduct their work in
such a way that their employees will not be exposed to health and safety risks  and provide
information to other people about their workplace, which might affect their  health and safety.
Adur Homes will comply with its duties under the Act by:

● effectively reducing associated risks to the lowest level reasonably practicable for all
customers, visitors, staff and contractors

● reducing to the lowest reasonably practicable level the spread of Legionella disease  from
any Adur Homes Housing premises

Adur Homes will comply with the Management of Health & Safety Regulations 1999 by ensuring
that a monitored programme of adequate controls are in place.

This will be implemented over a 3 year period through:

● Stock condition surveys of all Adur Homes dwellings
● identification, assessment and regular review of risks
● preparation of a written scheme to reduce, eliminate or control the risks identified
● implementation and management of the written scheme by appointing adequately trained

people who have managerial responsibility
● Implementation of an Asset Management system
● maintaining all relevant records and monitoring controls

The risk assessment programme will be prioritized according to the vulnerability of  service users

5
183



(sheltered housing) and the water systems likely to present the highest risks.

Adur Homes will comply with the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002
by taking reasonable steps to safeguard people from  hazards associated with water supplies,
particularly waterborne bacteria.

Adur Homes will comply with the duties of the Approved Code of Practice L8 and Guidance
HSG274 by:

● Undertaking an initial risk assessment to identify the risk level of  each block where there
are communal cold water tank(s), communal heating systems or communal facilities such
as kitchens, bathrooms and WC’s. This will identify whether the possibility exists of
conditions suitable and liable to facilitate the  growth of legionella bacteria and this will
determine where a site-based water risk  assessment is required.

● This site-based risk assessment will determine for each property the inspection
frequency, remedial works and management actions required.

● The approach will be, where suitable to instigate a potable water regime, this will be with
the agreement of the Councils legionella consultant.

● Only suitably competent and experienced legionella/water treatment persons will be
permitted to carry out risk assessments and remedial works.

● Appointing a Responsible Person for the prevention and control of risk from Legionella.

4. What the Water Hygiene Services Provider must do

● Delivering a comprehensive water hygiene and control of Legionella bacteria  service to
ensure Adur Homes complies with the Legionella Approved Code of Practice  (ACOP L8)

● Carrying out routine testing, monitoring, flushing and cleaning of all systems on a  regular
basis as agreed in the contract specification.

● Updating all existing risk assessments as required under the contract.
● Provide consultancy advice to Adur Homes
● Providing a water hygiene and control of Legionella bacteria records management system

which complies with the regulations and Legionella  Approved Code of Practice (ACOP
L8)

● Agreeing and implementing prioritised corrective actions with the Responsible Person;
● Attending regular meetings with Asset Management (Compliance) to report progress and

highlight any concerns.

5. What Adur Homes tenants need to know

Tenants should be advised of any control measures put in place that should be  maintained e.g.,
not to adjust the temperature setting of the calorifier, to regularly clean shower heads and tenants
should inform the landlord if the hot water is not heating  properly or there are any other problems
with the system so that appropriate action can  be taken.

Where showers are installed, these have the means of creating and dispersing water  droplets

6
184



(aerosols) which may be inhaled causing a foreseeable risk of exposure to Legionella.

If used regularly (as in the majority of most domestic settings) the risks are reduced,  however,
tenants should be advised to regularly clean and disinfect  shower heads. Instantaneous electric
showers pose less of a risk as they are generally cold water-fed and heat only small volumes of
water during operation.

6. Identification and Assessment of the Risk

Adur Homes will employ suitably qualified and competent persons to carry out a risk assessment
of every building that meets the requirements of point 3. above. The assessment will comply with
the BS 8580 2010 Water Quality, Risk Assessments for Legionella Control, Code of Practice and
the HSE publication  ‘Legionnaires’ disease: The control of Legionella bacteria in water systems,
Legionella  Approved Code of Practice (ACOP L8)’.

Reviews of risk assessments will take place when:

● There are changes to the water system or its use;
● There are changes to the use of the building in which the water system is installed;
● New information about risks or control measures becomes available;
● The results of checks indicating that control measures are no longer effective;
● A case of legionnaires’ disease/Legionellosis is associated with the system.

In new buildings, the Project Delivery Team should ensure that whoever designs, manufactures,
imports or supplies water systems including for sprinklers, that may create a risk of exposure to
Legionella bacteria, so far as reasonably practicable;

a) The water system is so designed and constructed that it will be safe and without risks to
health, when used at work;

b) Provide adequate information for the user about the risk and measures  necessary to ensure
that the water systems will be safe and without risks to  health when used at work.

This will take the form of a risk assessment which will be provided on completion of works or at
handover.

7. Controlling and Monitoring the Risk

Adur Homes will employ suitably qualified and competent persons to implement a control and
monitoring scheme for all potential sources of risk.

The service provider employed will carry out assessment; monitoring and control to meet
requirements of the Approved Code of Practice Guidance L8, and complete reviews in
accordance with BS 8580-1:2019.

Adur Homes will utilise the electronic water management system of the service provider.

7
185



Adur Homes services and teams will ensure where required regular flushing of communal
equipment, including infrequently used outlets in Sheltered housing is undertaken and recorded
on T100 to the standard required to  control Legionella bacteria within Adur Homes.

Individual Adur Homes teams will ensure h a log detailing flushing regimes are maintained on
T100..

Audits of the management system will be carried out annually by the current water hygiene
service provider.

Adur Homes adopts a temperature regime for Legionella control in water systems.

8. The Legionella Written Control Scheme

Where the risk assessment shows that there is a reasonably foreseeable risk of exposure to
legionella bacteria, then the Contractor shall provide a written scheme for controlling the
exposure, which must be implemented and properly managed to meet requirements of Approved
Code of Practice & Guidance -L8 and HSG274.  The scheme should also specify measures to be
taken to ensure that it remains effective together with remedial action required in the event that
the scheme is shown not to be effective.

The written scheme should also include:-

1. An up to date plan or schematic showing the layout of the plant or system, including parts
temporarily out of use.

2. A description of the correct and safe operation of the system.

3. The precautions to be taken.

4. Checks to be carried out to ensure the efficacy of the scheme and the frequency of such
checks.

9. Long term void properties

It is important that water is not allowed to stagnate within the water system and so there  should
be careful management of properties left vacant for extended periods. As a  general principle,
outlets on hot and cold-water systems should be used at least once a  week to maintain a degree
of water flow and minimise the chances of stagnation. To manage the risks during
non-occupancy of long-term voids, the systems shall be drained down and refilled just prior to
re-occupation.

8
186



10. Testing (or sampling) the water system for legionella

Testing or sampling for Legionella is not usually required for domestic hot and cold-water
systems, but only in very specific circumstances (HSG274 Part 2, para 2.120). Testing for
Legionella is different to temperature monitoring, which is a reliable method for confirming the
water system is under control. Health and safety law does not require landlords to obtain or
produce a 'Legionella test certificate'.

However, it is appropriate to monitor for legionella in areas where there is a population with
increased susceptibility such as including supported and sheltered housing.

11. Keeping a record of the assessment

Although as a Landlord Adur Homes isn’t required to record the findings of the assessment,
under Health and Safety legislation, as an employer of five or more employees Adur Homes is
required to record the findings of the assessment. This will be recorded on the electronic water
management system.

12. Reviewing your risk assessment

It is important to review the assessment periodically in case anything changes but the  law
doesn’t specify if this should be on an annual or bi-annual basis. Adur Homes currently review
our risk assessments every two years.

The risk assessment should include:

● management responsibilities, including the name of the competent person and a
description of our system

● any potential risk sources
● any controls currently in place to control risks
● monitoring, inspection and maintenance procedures
● records of the monitoring results, inspection and checks carried out
● a review date

13. Confidentiality, Safeguarding and Equality Duty

Under the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Human Rights Act 1998 all personal and  sensitive
information, however received, is treated as confidential. Officers will ensure  that they only
involve other agencies and share information with the consent of the  tenant or Leaseholder
concerned unless required to by law, or where the information is necessary for the protection of
children and/or vulnerable adults in accordance with  Adur Homes’s Safeguarding policy. We may
have a data processing agreement with the contractor to allow some personal data to be shared for
the purposes of carrying out testing and inspections i.e. names, contact numbers, addresses.

Adur Homes is committed to fulfilling its Public Sector Equality Duty.

9
187



14. Responsibilities

Under the Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2008 an organisation can be
found guilty of corporate manslaughter in situations where there has been a collective failure
leading to a gross breach of the duty of care.

If an incident occurs that leads to injury or death those making decisions within an organisation
will be under  significant scrutiny. This will include senior managers and elected members. It is
therefore important that managers and members are familiar with the council’s  obligations and
that they monitor the delivery of this policy.

While the responsibility for legionella risk management within Adur Homes ultimately remains
with the Chief Executive of Adur and Worthing Councils, the delegated responsibility for the
delivery of legionella risk  management within domestic properties owned and or managed by
Adur Homes is with the Head of Housing.

15. Organisation

Members are responsible through the committee structure for ensuring that adequate resources
are made available for the Council to meet its statutory obligations and it should consider any
reasonable request for resources needed to ensure legionella risk management in the Council’s
housing properties is  suitable and sufficient.

The Chief Executive is deemed to be the overall duty holder within the organisation  and is
ultimately responsible for ensuring the implementation of the policy at all levels within the
Council. The CEO is responsible for the production and review of the Corporate Legionella Risk
Management Policy.

The Duty Holder

The Director of Communities is responsible for provision of adequate resources  to meet the
requirements of, The control of legionella in water systems Approved  Code of Practice L8 and
any other relevant regulations and guidance within Housing  by ensuring:

● Systems are properly assigned and accepted.
● That sufficient financial resources are available for the implementation and administration

of this policy and associated management systems.
● That the responsibility for the implementation of and compliance with  legionella risk

management is relevant and in line with all current legislation and guidance.
● The Council’s policies and management system are complied with and  properly

assigned, understood and actioned by their staff

10
188



The Responsible Person

The Head of Housing is the responsible person for Adur Homes and has been given their
authority by the Director of Communities as Duty Holder. The position carries with it the authority
to put into effect such measures as are required to control the risk of legionellosis, both as a
matter of routine and in the event of an emergency. The Responsible Person has a duty to
ensure that Approved Code of Practice (ACOP) L8 and all relevant legislation associated with the
management and control of legionellosis are adhered to. The Responsible Person also has a
responsibility to ensure records are kept to confirm that this policy has been implemented.

The Head of Housing has the overriding authority for the control of Legionella to ensure that all
Adur Homes properties within their area of control meet the requirements of Legislation and this
policy. The Head of Housing is required to ensure that nominated Adur Homes staff are trained
and competent to carry out the prescribed task on their behalf and to ensure that the “Nominated
Deputy” tasks and requirements are duly met.

They must also ensure a coordinated approach is delivered through the assessment,
maintenance and  management of properties by:

● Ensuring that risk assessments are completed, and any actions noted are addressed
through the appropriate process.

● Ensuring that the legionella awareness training programme for their  staff is followed and
suitable records retained.

● Liaising with consultants, other members of staff and enforcement  officers over legionella
risk management safety matters.

● Ensuring that any contractors (including contract or agency staff) taken  on are competent
● Ensuring that contractors are adequately assessing and managing  legionella risks in

relation to maintenance, servicing, major works and  improvements.
● Ensuring that incidents are reported to Adur Homes in accordance with Adur Homes

policy and procedure.
● Ensuring that contractors / consultants report all RIDDOR reportable incidents to the HSE

and informing the Compliance Manager as soon as  possible.
● Investigating legionella risk management incidents related to activities  undertaken by the

contractors or consultants and providing suitable  reports in line with Adur Homes
procedures.

● Ensuring that contractors or consultants identify the legionella risk  management training
needs of their staff and fulfill them accordingly.

● Ensuring communication and co-operation with contractors or  consultants as appropriate
to implement this policy

● Ensuring that all employees of contractors or consultants are  responsible for the
reporting to their manager and or most appropriate or  named person of any legionella
risk management matter of a serious  nature or one which may pose immediate danger to
any person, or has  resulted in injury, in a timely manner.

The Head of Housing is responsible for the dissemination of any water safety information

11
189



relevant to property, either generic or specific, at the time of letting that property. If these
responsibilities are delegated to another member of staff, then that person must be deemed
competent through the completion of appropriate training or briefings.

Nominated deputy

The Nominated deputy is the Compliance Manager and has been given their authority by the
“Responsible Person” to act on their behalf to oversee the day to day management of Legionella
control for Adur Homes. In this capacity the Compliance Manager has responsibility for
overseeing and coordinating the Control Legionella Policy and Procedures. This position carries
with it the authority to put into effect such measures as are required to control the risk of
legionellosis, both as a matter of routine and in the event of a crisis. The Compliance Manager
also has a responsibility to ensure records are kept to confirm that this policy has been
implemented.

They have the responsibility for the day-to-day management including ensuring that the scheme
of precautions to control the risk of legionellosis is implemented fully by competent persons,
whether directly employed by Adur and Worthing Councils, contracted or subcontracted.

The Compliance Manager is responsible for ensuring the risk assessments are  reviewed
bi-annually or following any incident and the testing and maintenance regimes  for detection and
prevention for the Council’s owned and Council’s managed housing stock by:

● Identifying the properties requiring a risk assessment for Legionella Control in accordance
with ACOP L8 and creating a programme of inspections.

● Creating a programme relating to the action plans arising from the risk assessments.
● Ensuring that all planned maintenance activities and contractors carrying out work  in any

housing stock are adequately monitored and controlled.
● Providing advice on legionella risk management.
● Supporting implementation of the Adur Homes Legionella Risk Management Policy
● Advising and developing appropriate policies and procedures to provide Adur Homes with

necessary guidance for achieving compliance with legislative requirements.
● Reporting to the organisation any actions relating to water safety taken by  enforcement

agencies, both formal and informal, and monitoring progress made by Adur Homes in
complying with those actions.

● Monitoring legionella incidents within Housing where staff, residents or visitors are
involved.

● Monitoring reporting of water safety RIDDOR incidents to the HSE
● Ensuring that adequate arrangements are made to provide appropriate legionella

awareness training at all levels.
● Will act as the lead officer for legionella risk management and act as the  responsible

person in accordance with ACOP L8.

Operators

May be designated site staff and / or contractors with designated duties.

12
190



Operators have responsibility for the safe operation of plant, equipment and facilities,
implementing the scheme of precautions and doing so using safe working practices.

Housing maintenance inspectors and staff are responsible for:

● Undertaking inspections which incorporate an element of water safety checks, ensuring
premises, facilities and equipment under their control are safe, clean  and tidy.

● Ensuring safety inspections and regular housekeeping inspections are  completed.

The housing service managers are responsible for:

● Encouraging all their team members to be water safety conscious.
● Ensuring that the Legionella Risk Management Policy is distributed and communicated to

all members of their teams.
● Ensuring that the responsibility for the Legionella Risk Management Policy operation is

properly assigned, accepted and understood by the relevant staff they manage.
● Ensuring that premises inspections which incorporate an element of water safety checks

are completed and appropriate action is taken by their staff.
● Supporting their staff and providing guidance on how to respond to any reported

concerns to ensure they are monitored, reviewed and that appropriate action is taken.
● Ensuring their staff manage their premises and equipment in a safe way.
● Liaising with consultants, enforcement officers and other members of staff about water

safety matters and ensuring their staff notify the Compliance Manager of any such visits.

16. Monitoring, Training and Review

The Head of Housing is responsible for the auditing of the risk assessment and legionella risk
management programme to ensure compliance. The Compliance Manager is responsible for the
regular review and management of the delivery of the outputs resulting from the risk
assessments relating to the housing stock. The  Compliance Manager is responsible for ensuring
that all ‘urgent’ remedial works  identified through the risk assessments, or through the regular
inspection processes, are completed in a timely fashion to ensure compliance.

In order to ensure that we are confident that all relevant staff are aware of this policy we will log
this via the T100 document register. Reviews of individual training requirements, including
legionella awareness safety, will form part of the regular appraisal process. New members of
staff will receive legionella  awareness safety training as part of their induction, and it will be the
responsibility of  the relevant line manager to ensure the delivery of this is relevant to the position
held.  The Compliance Manager is responsible for ensuring all staff with premises management
responsibility receive detailed and specific legionella awareness training.  The training will
include awareness of the hazards associated with Legionella, relevant  legislation, requirements
for surveys and risk assessments and the Legionella safety  policy and procedures.

This policy will be subject to periodic audit and reviewed as necessary through the authorised
process to ensure that the procedures relating to legionella risk  management are kept up to date
and relevant. The procedures will be made  accessible to all staff and to all other interested
parties on request.

13
191



Adur Homes

Interim Feedback and
Complaints Policy and

Procedure

Adopted:

Review Date:  March 2024

192



CONTENTS

Introduction

The aim of the Feedback & Complaints Policy and Procedure

Making a complaint

Stage one complaints

Stage two complaints

Local Government Ombudsman

Housing Ombudsman (HO)

How you can help us

Next steps

Additional information

Continuous learning and development

Equality and Diversity

Procedure Review

Appendix 1 What we cannot deal with under this policy

Appendix 2 Unreasonable Behaviour Procedure for Adur Homes

2 193



Introduction

Adur Homes is committed to providing consistent, efficient, and fair standards of

services to all of its tenants. We welcome both positive and negative feedback to

help us improve our standards and the quality of housing services provided.

When we receive a complaint we will, as appropriate:

Apologise

● Take action to put things right as quickly as possible

● Use your feedback to change and improve the way we deliver our services

The purpose of this policy and procedure is to ensure that there is a consistent and
fair approach to responding to complaints which aims to resolve the issues at the
earliest opportunity.

This policy and procedure seeks to build on the Council’s corporate arrangements

and adds relevant or specific details that are appropriate for Adur Homes tenants.

Aim of the Policy and Procedure

We recognise the need to provide an efficient professional housing service which is

responsive to your views and needs.

The aim of this policy and procedure is to demonstrate Adur Homes’ commitment to

delivery of a transparent, clear to understand approach in the management of

feedback and complaints based on being fair, putting things right, and learning from

outcomes.

When dealing with feedback and complaints, it is our aim to work with tenants so we

understand what the issues are and what tenants would like to happen to resolve

them. We are committed to treating all tenants fairly and will make sure that

individual needs are taken into account when applying this policy and that any

reasonable adjustments are made in line with the Equality Act 2010.

3194



What is feedback?

Feedback is information about tenant reaction or opinion as a result of actions or

behaviour undertaken by Adur Homes. It can be either positive or negative and used

as a basis for service improvement. All feedback is recorded and a copy is sent to

the relevant service manager to review and feed into their work plans accordingly.

What is a Complaint?

The Housing Ombudsman defines a complaint as ‘‘an expression of dissatisfaction,
however made, about the standard of service, actions or lack of action by the
organisation, its own staff, or those acting on its behalf, affecting an individual
resident or group of residents’.

Making a complaint

All tenant complaints will be treated equally regardless of the way they are

submitted, and customers do not have to use the word ‘complaint’ for it to be treated

as such.

If you need any support or assistance in making a complaint then please let us know

so that we can ensure any reasonable adjustments are made in line with the Equality

Act 2010 and our Equality Policy.

How to raise a complaint and give feedback

● Website Submit an online form

● Email customerfeedback@adur-worthing.gov.uk

● Letter   Customer Feedback, Adur District Council ℅ Worthing Town Hall,
Chapel Road, Worthing West Sussex, BN11 1HA

● Telephone   01273 263000

Any complaints made via our social media sites will be, where possible,  dealt with in

line with this complaint policy, to protect confidentiality and privacy we will reply and

4 195

https://adur-worthing-hr.onmats.com/w/webpage/submit-feedback
mailto:customerfeedback@adur-worthing.gov.uk


ask you to contact us directly by the above contact methods with further details so

that we can log your complaint.

A complaint submitted via a third party or authorised representative will wherever

possible, be handled in line with this complaints policy.

There are some issues which we cannot deal with under this policy which are

detailed at Appendix 1. If a formal appeal process exists then this will be used to

address your concerns for example council tax and planning applications.

If we decide not to accept a complaint, an explanation will be provided setting out the

reason why the matter will not be dealt with under the complaints policy and will

inform you of what to do next.

If you are unhappy with this decision, you have the right to take your complaint to the

ombudsman.

How your complaint is managed

Stage one complaints

Your complaint will be handled by a nominated person within the relevant housing

service relating to your complaint. This individual will.

● Act independently and have an open mind

● Take measures to address any actual or perceived conflict of interest

● Consider all relevant information and evidence carefully

● Keep the complaint confidential as far as possible in line with our standards of

confidentiality with information disclosed if necessary to the investigation.

If any aspect of the complaint is unclear you will be asked for clarification and the

clarified complaint will be agreed between you and Adur Homes. For example we

may call to clarify our understanding of the complaint and find out what resolution the

customer is seeking.

Our aim is to provide you with a full response within 15 working days from the date

the complaint was received. If this is not possible, we will contact you and let you

5196



know why we are not able to do this and when we will provide a response. This will

not exceed a further 10 working days without good reason.

Examples of a ‘good reason’ could include but are not limited to

● A delay by a third party, over which we have no control, in providing

information

● Requiring further time to undertake interviews and/or

● Needing longer to acquire all the information required from multiple sources to

enable us to properly investigate a long-standing complex case

The complaint response will be sent to you when the answer to the complaint is

known. It will not be delayed until any outstanding actions are completed.

Outstanding actions will be tracked, and updates provided to you.

Where you raise additional complaints during the investigation, these will be

incorporated into the Stage 1 response if they are relevant, and the stage 1 response

has not been issued.  Additional time may be required to respond to this updated

complaint and this will be explained, giving an estimated response time as

appropriate. Where the Stage 1 response has been issued, or it would unreasonably

delay the response, the complaint will be logged as a new complaint.

Stage two complaints
If you are dissatisfied with the stage 1 response, or you feel that stage 1 has been

unreasonably delayed, you can ask for your complaint to be escalated to Stage 2.

When requesting for your complaint to be escalated we will need to know the

reasons why you are unhappy with our response and the outcome you are seeking.

Stage 2 complaints will be handled by a Senior Officer not previously involved in the

Stage 1 complaint.

You will have 28 days from the date of the stage 1 response to request a review. If

you do not let us know within this timeframe, then we will not normally re-open your

complaint unless there are exceptional circumstances. This decision will be made by

the Head of Service or Director.

6 197



If any aspect of the complaint is unclear you will be asked for clarification and the

clarified complaint agreed between you and the Council. The timescale for

responding to the complaint may change as a result of this clarification and the

resident will be informed of any changes in timescales and the reasons for this

change.

Our aim is to respond in full to you within 15 working days of receipt of your request

for review. If this is not possible, we will contact you and let you know why we are not

able to do this and when we will provide a response. This will not exceed a further 10

working days without good reason.

If the issue your complaint is about is subject to the attention of any formal Council

meetings, then your response may be delayed enabling the relevant debate /

decision-making process to be achieved. You will be kept advised of when you

should expect a response

All complaints relating to social landlord services will have regard to the Ombudsman

Complaint Handling Code (see below).

How you can help us

We understand that it is frustrating when we do not meet your expectations. We will

do everything we can to resolve your complaint. In return we ask that you: -

● To help with the investigation we ask that you provide as full and detailed a

factual account of the reasons for your complaint as you can so that we can

fully investigate.

● Treat our staff with respect

● Do not use abusive language or behaviour when communicating with us

● Engage with all reasonable requests made in an effort to resolve your

concerns

Closing the complaint

If after sending our response to your complaint and attempting to make contact with

you to discuss it, there is no further contact from you within 20 working days, the

complaint will be closed. The complaint may be reopened if further information is

7198



provided at the discretion of the service or the Council is directed to do so by the

Ombudsman.

Next steps

There is no further right of appeal to the council following completion of a review at
stage 2 of this policy unless your complaint is related to social housing services.
Within our final response, we will inform you of your right to take your complaint to
the Ombudsman if you remain dissatisfied.

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman can investigate complaints
about the Council’s services including housing allocations and homeless
applications. Our landlord function comes under the jurisdiction of the Housing
Ombudsman, and the Housing Ombudsman’s Complaints Handling Code sets out
requirements for registered social landlords to respond to complaints effectively.

Local Government Ombudsman (LGO)
Also referred to as LGO and they will investigate the following housing related
council services - their fact advice sheets are available via the links below:

● Homelessness applications
● Harassment or illegal eviction by your private landlord
● Possessions in council storage
● Housing transfers
● Housing applications
● Housing adaptations for people with disabilities
● Housing complaints by private landlords
● Neighbour nuisance and anti-social behaviour
● Private housing disrepair
● Right to buy applications

The normal practice of the LGO is not to begin an investigation until the council has
had the opportunity to try to resolve the complaint. It is important, therefore, that you
contact us first. See:

● How to make a complaint - on the Local Government Ombudsman website

8 199

https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/housing/homelessness-applications
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/housing/harassment-or-illegal-eviction-by-your-private-landlord
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/housing/possessions-in-council-storage
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/housing/housing-transfers
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/housing/housing-applications
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/housing/housing-adaptations-for-people-with-disabilities
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/housing/housing-complaints-by-private-landlords
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/housing/neighbour-nuisance-and-anti-social-behaviour
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/housing/complaints-about-private-housing-disrepair
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/housing/right-to-buy-applications
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint


Housing Ombudsman (HO)
Also referred to as HO and they will investigate the following housing complaints:

● disputes involving the tenants and leaseholders of social landlords

(housing associations and local authorities)

● leasehold services

● rent/service charges

● moving to a property - tenancy / transfer / mutual exchange

● Tenant Behaviour

● repairs / housing standards

● environmental health issues of property

● complaints about housing staff

● councils' handling of the complaints process

You can escalate your complaint directly to the HO after you receive our final Stage 2

response. See:

● How to make a complaint - on the Housing Ombudsman website

However, you can contact a designated person if you are not happy with the Stage 2

response straight away. The designated person can be your local councillor or MP

who will try to help resolve your complaint. If they cannot help they can refer your

complaint to the Ombudsman.

● Find your Adur District Council Councillors

● Find your Worthing Borough Council Councillors

● Find your MP

Additional Information

Complaints of discrimination and harassment

These will be dealt with sensitively, considering the nature of the issues raised when

appointing an investigator.

In cases of harassment, we will consider the characteristics of the investigating

officer, and if appropriate, discuss this with you before appointing an investigator. We

9200

https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/mgMemberIndexGroup.aspx?bcr=1&g=MEMADC&m=MEMADC
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/mgMemberIndexGroup.aspx?bcr=1&g=MEMWBC&m=MEMWBC
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/mgMemberIndexMP.aspx?bcr=1


will use appropriate information to assess overall levels of discrimination and

harassment amongst different groups and will feed into the appropriate corporate

policy review mechanisms to improve policy and practice

Complaints received via third party
When we receive a complaint from you via an elected member, advocate, or other

third party we will handle this in line with this complaint policy and direct our

response to you and the third party unless you instruct us otherwise.

Complaints received by the Chief Executive
Complaints received by the council’s Chief Executive will be passed to Adur Homes

who will ensure that you are responded to in line with this policy. Service request will

be directed to the relevant service

Complaints relating to more than one council service
Where a complaint includes issues for more than one part of the council, we will aim

to provide you with a single response whenever possible

Complaints and legal proceedings

In line with guidance from the Housing Regulator we will continue to use the

complaints process, even where legal action has been suggested, as there still may

be an opportunity to resolve the matter.

It is expected that the complaints procedure is utilised and that both you and the

Council will follow the required Pre-Action Protocol process before legal proceedings

are issued.

Complaints against members of staff
If you have an issue about a member of staff, we will investigate and take

appropriate action in accordance with our internal procedures.

Anonymous complaints
Anonymous complaints about the service where of a serious matter will be

investigated as far as possible.

10 201



Listening to those affected
The resident, and if applicable any staff member who is the subject of a complaint,

will be given a fair chance to:

● set out their position

● comment on any adverse findings before a final decision is made

Dealing with complainant’s unreasonable behaviour
There are a small number of customers whose behaviour we feel is unreasonable in
pursuing the resolution of their complaint. An Unreasonable Behaviour procedure
exists to deal with these instances and is set out in Appendix 2.

Continuous learning and development
We recognise the valuable feedback that a complaint can provide, and we have

mechanisms in place to ensure that we capture this when we conclude a complaint.

We will analyse the complaints received to look for common as well as emerging
themes and trends. And use this insight to make improvements to our service
delivery and/or complaints process.

Performance statistics and complaint outcomes will be shared with our Corporate
Management Team to promote continuous development and service improvements,
and to identify issues or trends arising from complaint handling.

We will report back on learning and improvement from complaints via an annual
report.

Learning from complaints will be shared in our resident newsletter and with staff.

Anonymised case studies may additionally be shared with resident engagement
groups.

We will complete a self-assessment against the Housing Ombudsman’s complaint
handling code each year by 1 May 2022 and following any significant restructure or
change in procedures. The outcome of the assessment will be reported to the
relevant committee and will be published on our website and included in our annual
report.

Policy Review
This policy will be reviewed and updated annually.

Equality and Diversity
Equality and Diversity is important to us and we are committed to making sure that

people are treated fairly and with dignity. Our aim is to remove unnecessary barriers

11202



for everyone who works for us or uses our services. All staff receive equality and

diversity training as part of their role.

Compensation
Adur Homes Compensation policy is being drafted and will set out Adur Council’s
approach to compensation to Adur Home tenants who have experienced loss,
damage, inconvenience or distress due to service failure or other faults by the
Council.

12 203



Appendix 1

What we cannot deal with under this procedure

Contents

Requests For Service Or Information
Current Enforcement Action In Place
Complaints Regarding Issues That Occurred Over 12 Months Ago
Complaints About Councillors
Dissatisfaction With Decisions Of The Monitoring Officer, Data Protection Officer, Or
Section 151 Officer
Allegations Of Fraud, Theft Or Corruption By A Member Of Our Staff
Where Legal Proceedings Are Involved
Employment Issues
Complaints About Freedom Of Information (Foi) Requests (Internal Review)

13204



What we cannot deal with under this procedure

Requests for service or information
As an example, if you request a repair to a council property or witness fly-tipping –

these are alerting us to work that needs to be done.  These requests may however

become a complaint if we do not deal with them appropriately.

Appeals procedures

If an appeals procedure applies to your complaint, we will refer you to this and notify

you of our actions at the outset.

Appeals procedures must be completed before we can investigate any other issues

you raise with us.  If this is the case, we will let you know.

The following are examples of complaints where there is an appeals process and so

we will not deal with them under this policy: -

● Housing allocation scheme (Housing Register)

● An eviction decision

● Review of homelessness decision

● An enforcement notice

Current enforcement action in place
Where a live enforcement case is ongoing and under investigation, the enforcement

case must be brought to conclusion before any complaint can be submitted.

Complaints regarding issues that occurred over 12
months ago
We would not normally investigate complaints about something that happened more

than 12 months from the date of your complaint. At the discretion of the Head of

Service or Director however a complaint may be reopened if there are exceptional

circumstances.

14 205



Complaints about Councillors
To make a complaint about a Councillor, please refer to our website for further

advice.

Dissatisfaction with decisions of the Monitoring Officer,
Data Protection Officer, or Section 151 Officer
Any concerns relating to the decisions by the Monitoring Officer, as such, Data

Protection Officer, as such, Section 151 Officer, as such, or Head of Paid Service, as

such are excluded from this complaints process.

Allegations of fraud, theft or corruption by a member of
our staff
We are committed to being open and accountable for our staff.  Please refer to our

website for further advice.

Where legal proceedings are involved
When a legal challenge is being made regarding whether a decision, action or lack of

action is lawful.  This is a separate process to the Ombudsman so will not be

considered under the complaint policy.

Employment issues
Complaints made by our employees concerning their employment with us, or from

job applicants who wish to complain about our recruitment and selection process will

be dealt with by the relevant recruiting manager or HR as applicable.

Complaints about Freedom of Information (FOI) requests
(Internal Review)
These complaints will be handled by the Information Governance Manager.  In cases

where we decided not to provide the information to you, the Manager must consider

15206

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/councillors-and-mps/conduct/
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/finance/fraud/


advice from the information management service.  The Manager will notify you of the

outcome of our investigation within 20 working days of receipt of your complaint.

If we cannot respond in full within this timeframe, we will advise you why we need

more time.  Under legislation, we must ensure that we respond fully to you within 40

working days from receipt of your complaint.

There is no further right of appeal to the council following this investigation.  Within

our response we will inform you of your right to take your complaint further if you

remain dissatisfied.  Our response will contain the contact details for the Information

Commissioner www.ico.gov.uk.

16 207

https://ico.org.uk/


Appendix 2

Unreasonable Behaviour Procedure for Adur Homes

Contents

Introduction
Purpose/Standard Required
Examples Of Unreasonable Behaviour
Operating The Procedure
Notification To Complainant
Review
Repetitious Complaints
Complainant Conduct
Record Keeping

17208



INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Council’s Constitution gives residents the right to complain and Adur Homes

is committed to dealing with all complaints fairly and comprehensively.

1.2. This Unreasonable Behaviour Procedure is required because a small minority of

those who make complaints act unreasonably. The procedure is intended to explain

to tenants what happens when the duty to act reasonably is not complied with.

2. PURPOSE/STANDARD REQUIRED

2.1 The purpose of the procedure is to give guidance on when a complainant’s

behaviour has become unreasonable. It identifies situations where a complainant,

either individually or as part of a group of complainants, might be unreasonable.

2.2 This procedure applies where unreasonable behaviour is identified.

3. EXAMPLES OF UNREASONABLE BEHAVIOUR

3.1 Demonstrating unreasonable behaviour is described by the Housing
Ombudsman:

‘Behaviour is not unacceptable just because a person is assertive or determined.

There may have been distressing circumstances leading up to a customer contacting

the landlord and people may act out of character.  Behaviour may become

unacceptable however if it is so demanding or persistent that it places unreasonable

demands on the landlord and impacts the level of service that can be offered to

others.

It is helpful to provide examples that would normally include:

● unreasonable demands (eg requesting large volumes of information, asking

for responses within a short space of time, refusing to speak to an individual

or insisting on speaking with another)

18 209



● unreasonable persistence (refusing to accept the answer that has been

provided, continuing to raise the same subject matter without providing any

new evidence, continuously adding to or changing the subject matter of the

complaint)

● verbal abuse, aggression, violence (this is not just limited to actual physical or

verbal abuse but can include derogatory remarks, rudeness, inflammatory

allegations and threats of violence)

● overload of letters, calls, emails or contact via social media (this could include

the frequency of contact as well as the volume of correspondence received as

well as the frequency and length of telephone calls)’.

3.2 In all cases where it is considered by the Head of Housing that a complainant’s
behaviour may be becoming unreasonable, a referral is to be made to the
Information Management Team who will review the matter in consultation with the
Director of Communities and the Cabinet Member and / or the Leader of the Council
and make a determination as to whether or not this procedure applies. If it is
considered that the behaviour displayed may be for a reason related to disability
and/or any language barrier the Head of Wellbeing  will also be contacted for advice.

3.3 Before treating behaviour as unreasonable, the complainant will be given a copy
of this procedure along with notice of its possible implementation and given the
opportunity to amend their behaviour within an appropriate time period.

3.4 Where there is no change in behaviour or the behaviour has been identified as
unreasonable in accordance with this procedure the matter will be reviewed with the
Head of Housing and obtain agreement to treat the complainant as unreasonable
and for this procedure to be applied. Matters to be considered and satisfied as part
of this review will include (this list is not conclusive or exhaustive):

● Refusing to specify the grounds of a complaint, despite offers of help
● Refusing to cooperate with the complaints investigation process
● Refusing to accept that certain issues are not within the scope of a complaints

procedure
● Insisting on the complaint being dealt with in ways which are incompatible

with the adopted complaints procedure or with good practice
● Making unjustified complaints about staff who are trying to deal with the

issues and seeking to have them replaced
● Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds
● Denying or changing statements they made at an earlier stage

19210



● Introducing trivial or irrelevant new information at a later stage
● Raising many detailed but unimportant questions, and insisting they are all

answered
● Submitting falsified documents from themselves or others
● Adopting a 'scatter gun' approach: pursuing parallel complaints on the same

issue with various service areas organisations
● Making excessive demands on the time and resources of staff with lengthy

phone calls, emails to numerous Council / Adur Homes staff, or detailed
letters every few days, and expecting immediate responses

● Submitting repeat complaints without substantive changes. In these
circumstances we will advise the customer that we will not be responding or
commenting to complaints that have already been addressed unless there is
new information and the complaint will then be passed to the service.

● Refusing to accept the decision; repeatedly arguing points with no new
evidence

● Raising a formal complaint for very minor problems
● Continuing to complain about an issue despite explanation that the issue is

caused by something beyond the Council’s / Adur Homes control
● Using abusive or aggressive language in correspondence or contact which

may also constitute nuisance or anti-social behaviour
● That the complaint is being or has been properly investigated
● That any decision reached on the complaint is the right one
● That communications with the complainant have been adequate
● That the complainant is not now providing any significant new information that

might affect the Council’s / Adur Homes view on the complaint
● The proportionality and appropriateness of the proposed restriction in

comparison with the behaviour and the impact on staff.
● The Cabinet Member and / or Leader of the Council have been consulted.

OPERATING THE PROCEDURE

4.1 If a decision has been made that the procedure is to be applied the Head of
Housing will decide how complaints are dealt with going forward. This may mean
that the complainant is advised as follows (this list is not conclusive or exhaustive:

● that all complaints must be put in writing only
● that telephone contact is prohibited
● that the Council will accept contact with the complainant via only one method

of communication only (either in person, by telephone, letter, email or any
combination of these)

● that all communication must be made to one named officer or email address
only

20 211



● that unless in the case of an emergency response is due the complaints will
be limited, for example, to once per week and/or

● that the Council has no option but to consider taking legal action

4.2 The methods above can be used singularly or in combination depending on the
circumstances of the matter and whether the complaint remains ongoing or is
concluded. These methods are to ensure that officer time is not unreasonably
expended responding repeatedly to unreasonable complaints.

● that all complaints must be put in writing only
● that telephone contact is prohibited
● that the Council will accept contact with the complainant via only one method

of communication only (either in person, by telephone, letter, email or any
combination of these)

● that all communication must be made to one named officer or email address
only

● that unless in the case of an emergency response is due the complaints will
be limited, for example, to once per week and/or

● that the Council has no option but to consider taking legal action

NOTIFICATION TO COMPLAINANT

5.1 Once a decision has been made that this procedure shall apply, Adur Homes will
notify the complainant in writing of:

● the reasons their conduct has been treated as unreasonable;
● the action that will be taken and details of any restrictions placed on the

complainants contact with the council (see 7.1);
● How long any restrictions will last (for example 6 months, 1 year, etc); and
● The complainant’s right to a review of the decision – see 6.1

REVIEW
6.1 A review of the decision to treat the complainant as unreasonable will be carried

out after a period of 6 months. The complainant will be informed of the outcome. If

restrictions are to continue to be applied a new review date will be set.

REPETITIOUS COMPLAINTS

7.1 If a complainant makes a complaint that is essentially about the same matter as

21212



a previously concluded complaint and does not contain any new information, then in
the event that the complainant has not used all stages of the complaints procedure
they should be advised to proceed to the next stage up to and including the final
stage of the relevant complaint policy or procedure.

7.2 If the complainant has had a decision from the Ombudsman that is not in their
favour, then they should be advised in writing that the matter has been concluded
and that Adur Homes will not respond to any further correspondence or complaints
relating to the same issue. Where a complaint is under consideration, new items,
unless they relate in substance to the matter which is being considered, cannot be
added for consideration, and will need to be the subject of a further complaint.

COMPLAINANT CONDUCT

8.1 In some circumstances the conduct of the complainant will be such that it is
causing nuisance or annoyance and if at any time a member of the Council’s staff
feel that they are being abused, threatened, or harassed by a complainant this must
be addressed.

8.2 Where the conduct of the complainant is such that it is threatening, abusive or
constitutes harassment, further action may include restricting the complainant’s
contact with the Council in accordance with this procedure and/or taking steps in
accordance with the Council’s Customer of Concern Protocol.

RECORD KEEPING

9.1 Records of all decisions relating to this procedure will be kept. Such decisions for
which records will be kept include but are not limited to:

● When a referral under Section 3 of this procedure is made
● When any decision is made because of such referral to include:

○ A decision not to apply the procedure

○ A decision to make an exception to the procedure once it has been
applied

○ A decision to apply the procedure

22 213



Adur Homes

Interim Compensation Policy

Adopted:

Review Date: March 2024

214



CONTENTS

Section Title

1 Aims and Objectives

2 Scope

3 Legal Framework

4 Circumstances in which Compensation will be Issued

5 Circumstances in which Compensation will not be Issued

6 Investigating Claims and Calculating Compensation

7 Payments

8 Appeal and Review

9 Other Remedies

10 Compensation Payments Ordered by the Ombudsman

11 Performance Monitoring

12 Review of Compensation Policy

13 Equality and Diversity

215



1. Aims and Objectives

1.1 Adur District Council (“ADC”) is committed to providing an excellent service to its
customers at all times, however, we recognise that there will be occasions when our
services may not meet these high standards and customers are inconvenienced as a
result.

1.2 Where a complaint is justified, an acknowledgement and apology will normally be
sufficient. However, we recognise that where a complainant has suffered some
disadvantage, inconvenience or loss as a result, other remedial action may need to be
considered. This includes financial compensation.

1.3 This policy applies to tenants and leaseholders of ADC. It covers both mandatory
compensation and discretionary compensation. Discretionary compensation relates to
loss, damage or inconvenience due to a failure in service.

1.4 The aims of the Compensation Policy to make it clear the circumstances in which
compensation will be paid

● To ensure fairness and consistency when calculating compensation
● To provide guidance on how and when compensation can be claimed

1.5 While each case will be considered individually based on the circumstances, this
policy aims to promote a consistent approach that is reasonable, fair and treats all
customers  equally.

2. Scope

2.1 This policy outlines the circumstances when we might pay compensation to a tenant
or leaseholder.

2.2 This policy does not apply to people who may be occupying any of our properties by
way of license, or to other members of the public to whom we do not have a housing
related contractual relationship.

2.3 This policy should be read in conjunction with ADC Housing Complaints Policy.

3. Legal Framework

● The Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002
● The Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations –

Statutory Instrument 1994 No. 133

216



● The Housing Act 1985 and the Secure Tenants of Local Authorities (Compensation
for Improvements) Regulations 1994 – Statutory Instrument 1994 No. 613

● The Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993
● The Land Compensation Act 1973 as amended by the Planning Act 1991
● The Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authority (Compensation for Improvements)

Regulations 1994 and Local Government 2000 and Home Loss Payments
(Prescribed Amount) England Regulations 2007, 2020 and 2022.

4. Circumstances in which Compensation will be Issued

4.1 There are two types of compensation covered by this policy: compensation that ADC
is obliged to pay (mandatory compensation required by law), and discretionary
compensation which we can choose to pay where circumstances warrant.

4.2 Mandatory Compensation - ADC is obliged to award mandatory compensation  under:

4.2.1 Right to Repair

The Right to Repair scheme sets out certain repairs that require completion within a
certain timescale. Such repairs include small repairs which can be done quickly and
easily and urgent repairs where there is a possible risk to health, safety and/or
security.  These repairs are known as ‘Qualifying Repairs’.

Adur District Council is developing its approach to qualifying repairs and these will be
added to the Compensation policy following consultation with Adur Homes
Management Board.

4.2.2 Improvements

Customers may be entitled to claim compensation for improvements that they have
carried out to the property. Any such entitlement is an entitlement to compensation (in
certain circumstances), not an entitlement to improve.

Adur District Council is developing its approach to compensation for improvements
and these will be added to the Compensation Policy following consultation with Adur
Homes Management Board.

4.2.3 Home Loss and Disturbance

Where a customer is required by ADC to move to another property, compensation will
be paid by way of a Home Loss and/or Disturbance payments. Such payments are
made in recognition of the personal distress and inconvenience experienced by
customers who need to leave their home through no fault of their own.

217



4.2.4 Right to Buy

Customers who have made an application to buy their home are entitled to claim
compensation if the sale has not completed within the statutory timescales, as a result
of ADC’s inaction. By way of compensation, ADC will deduct a sum from the final
purchase price, calculated by multiplying the weekly rent by the number of weeks that
the sale has been delayed.

To make a claim for such compensation, the customer is required to (1) provide an
“Initial Notice of Delay” form to ADC, providing one month in which to resolve the
delay and (2) provide a further “Operative Notice of Delay” form, if the delay is not
resolved  within that month.

4.3 Discretionary Compensation – ADC may pay discretionary compensation in the
following circumstances:

4.3.1 Loss of Room or Facility

Compensation in the form of a rent rebate may be paid when a customer is not able to
use a room(s) in their home because of a repair issue that is our responsibility, and
which caused prolonged and unreasonable disruption. We may not pay compensation
for a fault or loss that is caused by the customer’s misuse, negligence or damage.

4.3.2 Failure of Amenity or Service

Compensation in the form of a service charge refund may be paid when a service that
is charged for via service charge, and is the responsibility of ADC, has failed and the
deadline for completing the repair has passed. Compensation may not be payable if
the loss is due to planned works agreed in advance with the customer or the loss of
facility is caused by a utility supplier or the customer’s misuse, negligence or damage.

4.3.3 Damage to Decoration or Fixtures

While carrying out repairs, improvements or other works there may be unavoidable
damage to a customer’s decorations or fixtures. ADC will endeavor to identify possible
damage before starting any works and will discuss with the customer options
available to minimise the damage. Where decorations or fixtures are damaged as a
result of works carried out by ADC or its agents, the resident may be offered the
choice to allow ADC or its agents to rectify the damage or be paid an allowance to
carry the work out themselves. ADC will consider the value of the fixtures at the time
of the loss and/or  damage rather than the full replacement value.

218



4.3.4 Failure to follow Housing Landlord Service Procedure, Policy or Guideline

In these circumstances’ compensation may be paid as a gesture of good will and will
be paid without prejudice. Compensation will only be considered where the customer
has experienced actual and proven financial loss and/or severe avoidable
inconvenience, distress, detriment or other unfair impact of service failure. ADC will
not pay compensation for loss of earnings due to service failure. However, may offer a
goodwill payment in recognition of the time and trouble the customer may have taken
to get the issue resolved.

5. Circumstances in which Compensation will Not be Issued

5.1 This policy does not cover the following claims:

● Claims that are covered by ADC’s liability insurance
● Claims that would normally be dealt with by ADC’s insurers
● Claims that should be covered by a home contents insurance policy, this

includes damage to a customer’s belongings such a floor coverings caused by
flood or fire

● Claims for personal injury
● Claims for loss of earnings
● Claims where a legal claim has been issued

5.2 ADC will not consider making an offer of compensation where:

● The loss damage or service failure was caused or significantly contributed to
by the customer, a member of their household or visitor. This includes a failure
to report a repair promptly or to keep an appointment

● The cause of the loss, damage or service failure was reasonably
unforeseeable and/or caused by a third party and/or ADC had no control over
the cause. This includes a water leak from a neighbouring property not owned
by ADC

● The cause of loss damage or service failure was the result of extreme or
unforeseen conditions. This includes adverse weather

● The cause of loss of amenity such as the supply of gas, electricity or water is
outside of ADC’s control

5.3 Compensation under this policy is not intended as a substitute for home contents
insurance. Customers should ensure they have sufficient home contents insurance to
cover damage to their property that occurs through no fault of ADC.

5.4 Compensation is not automatic and will not apply where a service failure or mistake
has not caused any inconvenience or loss and has been easily and quickly remedied.

219



6. Investigating Claims and Calculating Compensation

6.1 ADC will investigate all claims thoroughly. Officers investigating claims should consult
all relevant service area policies, procedures or guidance in determining whether or
not ADC is responsible for the service failure.

6.2 Where it is determined that discretionary compensation is appropriate, the amount of
compensation should be fair, reasonable, justifiable and proportionate in the
circumstances of the case. Officers are expected to use their reasonable discretion
when considering individual cases.

6.3 Prior to a payment of compensation being offered to the customer the appropriate
authorisation must be obtained, as follows:

Level of
impact

Inconvenience cause Compensati
on  up to
maximum of
from
2023/24

Authorisation level

One instance of mild inconvenience
caused by RBC

£100 Manager

A succession of service failures
and/or the problem  has not been
resolved within a reasonable
timescale

£250 Head of
Housing/Technical
Services

Serious or prolonged service failure
resulting in severe  stress, disruption,
inconvenience, or loss of income

£500 Corporate Head of
Housing

6.4 Each case will be considered on an individual basis and take into account all relevant
known circumstances and supporting evidence. Reports of loss or inconvenience will
be investigated and where appropriate compensation will be offered. In determining
an appropriate discretionary compensation payment, all relevant circumstances of
the  matter will be taken into account, including:

● Duration of the issue
● Circumstances of the customer and their household, including any

vulnerabilities or specific needs

220



● Quantifiable financial loss that would otherwise have not been incurred.
Quantifiable loss could include: increased heating bills due to disrepair, having
to pay for alternative accommodation or take away food, paying for cleaning or
carrying out repairs where Adur Homes has failed to meet its obligations. Any
such costs must have been reasonably incurred and evidence of such loss has
been provided.

● Unquantifiable financial loss that would otherwise have not been incurred
● Distress and inconvenience to the customer as a result of the service failure

and in seeking to resolve the issue
● Time and trouble of the customer
● Actions of the customer, household or visitor, whether the mitigated or

contributed to any loss damage distress or inconvenience
● The levels of compensation awarded for similar cases by the Housing

Ombudsman

6.5 Assessment Guidance

6.5.1 Delay and Distress

Impact on Customer

Level of ADC’s
Responsibility

No Impact Low Impact Medium
Impact

High Impact

None £0 £0 £0 £0

Partial £0 £50 £175 £250

Full £25 £75 £250 £500

Compensation payments for delay and distress will be made based on the level of
ADC’s responsibility for the loss or inconvenience and the degree of impact on the
customer. This matrix sets out the maximum payment that can be made.

Low Impact

Where the complaint is upheld but no significant inconvenience or distress was caused,
and the impact has been no more than a reasonable person could be expected to  accept.
Any compensation is offered as a token in acknowledge of ADC’s  responsibility.

Medium Impact

Where inconvenience and/or distress has clearly been caused. A repeated failure of a
low impact event could result in the impact being increased to medium impact.

221



High impact

Where there is a serious failure in service. This could either be due to the severity of  the
event and/or a persistent failure over a prolonged period of time, or where an
unacceptable number of attempts to resolve the complaint have failed.

6.5.3 Gesture of Goodwill

ADC may decide, even without acceptance of fault, to offer a gesture of goodwill. This
can take the form of a physical, token or financial gesture. Such gestures of goodwill
will be considered on a case by case basis but should not normally constitute more
than a value of £25.

6.6 The relevant officer will decide on a case by case basis the most appropriate way to
pay the compensation. ADC will provide an explanation of how the discretionary
compensation has been calculated so that the customer is clear as to the basis for the
payment.

7. Payments

7.1 Confirmation of an offer of compensation will be confirmed to the customer in writing.
A customer is required to confirm in writing their acceptance of the offer prior to any
payment being issued.

7.2 ADC considers acceptance of discretionary compensation to be a full and final
settlement of a case. Cases will not be reopened, nor further compensation
considered via the same or alternative process unless the circumstances of the
original case have  significantly changed or escalated.

7.3   Any payment or other form of discretionary compensation under this policy is not an
admission of liability by ADC.

7.4 Where the customer owes money to ADC in connection to housing services, such as
rent or service charges, any compensation will be credited directly to the relevant
account by way of offset against the balance owing. The exception to this is if the
compensation offered is intended to be used for a specific purpose, for example, to
replace a damaged item. In such circumstances, the payment of compensation will be
made to the customer.

8. Appeal and Review

8.1  A customer can appeal the refusal of any claim for compensation or the level of
compensation awarded under this Policy.

222



8.2  Where a customer seeks to make an appeal, they should do so by making a formal
complaint through the Adyr Homes Complaint Policy.

9. Other remedies

9.1 It may be appropriate that other action is taken to remedy a complaint either separately  from
or in conjunction with an offer of financial compensation. These may include  practical action –
such as remedial decorations which might otherwise be the  customer’s responsibility, or
non-financial gestures of goodwill.

10. Compensation Payments Ordered by the Ombudsman

10.1 When a complainant escalates a complaint to the Housing Ombudsman Service,
having exhausted ADC’s formal complaints process, ADC will pay compensation
and/or carry out works or follow action to comply with the Housing Ombudsman’s
recommendation.

11. Performance Monitoring

11.1 ADC will review its services with the aim of achieving continuous improvement and to
ensure compliance with best practice.

11.2 ADC will monitor its performance in acting and learning from complaints – ADC notes
that compensation payments are relevant to this.

11.3 To help achieve ADC’s aims of ensuring continuous improvement in the services it
provides and to ensure that all statutory obligations are met, systems and processes
will be implemented to monitor and evaluate performance.

12. Review of Compensation Policy

12.1 This policy will be reviewed after year 1 to evaluate its effectiveness and after that
every 5 years unless there is a change in legislation or regulation.

12.2 Statutory amounts that are subject to annual uplift will be automatically added without
the need for the entire policy to be reviewed.

12.3 Where there has been a change in legislation which has an impact on the policy, the
policy will be reviewed within a reasonable time of the legislation or regulation coming
into effect.

13. Equality and Diversity

13.1 ADC will ensure that this policy is applied fairly and consistently to our customers.

13.2 This policy will be implemented in accordance with ADC’s Equality and Diversity
Policy.

223



13.3 This policy and any other related publications of ADC are available in other formats
upon the request of a customer

224



Adur Joint Strategic Sub-Committee
6 March 2023

Key Decision [Yes/No]

Ward(s) Affected: All
Cabinet Portfolio: Environment

Adur River Restoration & Sussex Bay Update

Report by the Director for Digital, Sustainability & Resources

Officer Contact Details
Paul Brewer, Director for Digital, Sustainability & Resources
paul.brewer@adur-worthing.gov.uk

Executive Summary

1. Purpose

1.1. To update the Committee on progress with Adur Council’s New Salts
Farm and Pad Farm nature restoration projects on the Adur River.

1.2. To update on the successful award of two year project development
funding (£500k) from the DEFRA Landscape Scale Recovery Pilot
Programme for the wider Adur River, in partnership with the Knepp
Wildland Foundation and other landowners, becoming one of the 22
flagship projects in the UK.

1.3. To provide progress with Sussex Bay, the vision for blue nature
restoration across Sussex rivers, coast and sea being incubated by
Adur District and Worthing Borough Councils and to recommend
steps to be taken in 2023, subject to external funding.

1.4. To provide an overview of the Solent & Sussex Bay Research
Partnership (4 local universities) that Sussex Bay has facilitated, and
its success in securing £173k funding from the Natural Environment
Research Council.

225

Agenda Item 9



1.5. To underpin the commitment of Adur District Council to drive the
recovery of nature in the area, to propose that its Climate Emergency
Declaration be extended to also declare an Ecological Emergency.

2. Recommendations

2.1. To note the contents of the report and the progress being made.

2.2. To agree to extend the Council’s existing climate Declaration to
include the Ecological Emergency.

3. Context

3.1. Adur District Council declared a climate emergency in July 2019 and
since then has driven a programme of change across decarbonisation,
nature recovery, waste management, cycling, electric vehicle charging
infrastructure and other areas.

3.2. The Council has been very proactive, securing significant funds from
the government and the local enterprise partnership to support
decarbonisation and nature recovery, along with its own sector-leading
investment in nature recovery.

3.3. The early acquisitions of both New Salts Farm and Pad Farm in the
Adur valley were early signals of intent in the light of the forthcoming
implementation of Environment Act, and the opportunities to leverage
funds to support nature’s recovery.

3.4. Working with Worthing Borough Council, engagement and partnership
with the Sussex Kelp Recovery Project and other marine projects has
progressed into the development of the Sussex Bay vision over the last
18 months - the “blue mirror to the South Downs” with the Councils
working to incubate an exciting Sussex wide vision for our rivers, coast
and seascape.

226



4. Adur River Project Updates

4.1. Adur River Test & Trial: The Defra-funded Adur River Intertidal
Habitat Restoration T&T project has been delivered to explore how
income can be assembled from multiple sources to fund saltmarsh,
mudflat and wetland restoration at New Salts Farm and Pad Farm, and
to share learnings with landowners upriver to encourage broader
participation in landscape scale schemes. Two workshops were held
with local farmers and landowners from across the Arun to Adur, Upper
Adur, and Eastern Downs regions.

4.2. The T&T took place between 1st April and 30th November 2022 and
was led by Adur District Council, working closely with Finance Earth, a
“natural capital” consultancy, Ouse & Adur Rivers Trust, Surrey Wildlife
Trust Ecology Services, CJH Agri-Environment Consultants and the
Arun to Adur Farmers Group.

4.3. The project has directly influenced national policy development with the
work presented at two webinars held with Defra policy teams working
on the Environmental Land Management scheme.

4.4. Adur River Landscape Recovery Pilot: The development phase for
the Adur River Restoration Project was announced as one of 22
national Landscape Recovery projects successfully funded. Adur
District Council is one of 27 landowners involved and is also sitting on
the Project Steering Group.

4.5. This Landscape Recovery scheme will explore and develop ways to
revive floodplains, increase biodiversity, create new habitats and
improve water quality through potentially re-meandering and
re-naturalising floodplains. The project will build directly on the Test &
Trial in terms of models for funding restoration.

4.6. This is being led by the Knepp Wildland Foundation with expertise
input from Ouse & Adur Rivers Trust, Sussex Wildlife Trust, and the
Environment Agency.

4.7. The work will involve community and stakeholder engagement along
the whole of the River Adur, following on from the work started in the
Adur River Test & Trial. Engagement with local groups to progress this
work and reach as many people as possible will take place in the
Spring/Summer.

227



4.8. Adur Estuary Sub-Group of the Catchment Partnership: Natural
England has committed funding for the production of two or three
interpretation panels about the Adur Estuary SSSI (Site of Special
Scientific Interest) and the group has assessed twelve sites for
suitability. Consideration of locations focused on where craft are known
to be launching into the estuary and sites where public footfall is known
to be high and/or obvious stopping points along the river's edge.

4.9. Natural England are soon to carry out a full condition assessment of
the SSSI as they are concerned about its continued decline.

4.10. There is a new email established to share information from this group
to the wider community of concerned citizens. To receive the
e-newsletter updates about the Adur Estuary, email
adurestuary@oart.org.uk and ask to be added to the mailing list.

4.11. Pad Farm: A feasibility study looking at the potential to restore
intertidal habitat at Pad Farm has identified a range of costed options.
The Environment Agency is supportive of the project and has some
funding available. Due to staff changes at the council, the plans for the
site have not progressed beyond this point, but a new project team is
picking up the restoration plans in Spring 2023.

4.12. New Salts Farm: A vision for the creation of Adur Community
Wetlands at NSF has been developed as part of a funding bid
submitted to National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) for a 15 month
development phase starting in early 2023. The funding bid reflected
both the input and overwhelming support from the local community and
over 48 local organisations.

4.13. Residents can sign up for updates on the New Salts Farm project by
emailing newsaltsfarm@oart.org.uk and requesting to join the mailing
list.

4.14. Capital works will restore historical watercourses, enabling the creation
of wetland, alongside meadows and wild scrub area as well as a
community zone with biodiversity-friendly, sustainable food production.

228

mailto:adurestuary@oart.org.uk
mailto:newsaltsfarm@oart.org.uk


5. Sussex Bay

5.1. Supported by £75k funding from Coast to Capital LEP, work to develop
Sussex Bay has progressed strongly and a business case for 2 years
of core funding has been developed which is now being discussed with
a major charitable funder who has expressed keen interest to support.

5.2. Sussex Bay has developed three key initial work streams: a project
development support service, the creation of a “Blue Natural Capital
Lab” to create new financing approaches, and Blue Storytelling
(championing stories of nature restoration, the regeneration of small
boat fishing, innovation in seaweed and oyster farming, eco-tourism,
etc).

5.3. Through Sussex Bay, we have developed strong links with the local
universities: Sussex, Brighton, Portsmouth and Surrey, to the extent
that a new Solent & Sussex Bay Research Partnership has been
created which will coordinate all marine research across projects in
Sussex Bay using £173k of Natural Environment Research Council
(NERC) funding recently secured.

5.4. We are in the final stages of agreeing a partnership arrangement with
The Crown Estate who own the seabed, subject to approval by
members in due course, and this will be the first of its kind in the UK.
This will be a much wider agreement and innovation partnership than
the originally envisaged “trial lease”.

5.5. The agreement will allow exploration of innovative natural capital
investment approaches for marine restoration, and give early stage
investors confidence to support the work.  We are in discussions with
large scale investors and also local companies who have an interest in
supporting nature restoration, for its own sake, but also with a view to
accessing biodiversity, carbon and other “credits” to help offset
environmental impact

5.6. Subject to success in achieving core funding, Sussex Bay will enter
into its next phase of incubation and development, working with key
partners to discuss and design the formation of a charitable entity to
take the vision onto the next stage.  Among others, Eastbourne &
Lewes Councils have expressed keen interest to participate, as have
several other key organisations.

229



5.7. The Sussex Bay vision aims to enable and drive the restoration of
rivers, coast and sea, and through delivering this change, will
increasingly work to drive social and economic renewal and growth,
including business transition, new entrepreneurial industries in the
marine environment, skills, eco-tourism and community health and
well-being.

6. Engagement and Communication

6.1. To reflect and underpin the work described, and to recognise the
serious issues of biodiversity loss the work seeks to address, this
report recommends the Council declares an Ecological Emergency,
assisting in public and partnership communications and engagement.

6.2. Across all our nature restoration work, officers are in constant
connection with local and national strategic partners.  We meet
regularly with Sussex Local Nature Partnership, and are members of
the Sussex Kelp Recovery Project steering group and the Adur Estuary
sub-group of the Catchment Partnership.  We work closely with the
Environment Agency, Sussex Wildlife Trust, South Downs National
Park Authority, Ouse & Adur Rivers Trust, other coastal local
authorities, Blue Marine Foundation, DEFRA and The Crown Estate.

6.3. Our work to engage local communities at New Salts Farm and Pad
Farm has involved fifteen stakeholder meetings/workshops to gather
views and input on potential project activities, audiences, challenges
(dog walking, access, covenants, constraints from neighbouring
landowners), funding opportunities and the overall designs of the sites
as well as to understand how they ‘fit’ within the wider landscape scale
initiatives including Sussex Bay, Weald to Waves and the future Local
Nature Recovery Strategy.

6.4. Over 700 local residents and community groups have been involved in
developing plans for New Salts Farm via an online questionnaire, two
public meetings, two online webinars and four walking tours - including
two as part of the Wordfest Arts Festival.

6.5. Community engagement along the river was undertaken by Ouse &
Adur Rivers Trust as part of the Defra-funded Test & Trial project. A
report has been produced, providing useful insights into the current
public perception and understanding of the lower Adur, how they
currently use and value the area, and their thoughts on potential future

230



changes. 100% of people surveyed as part of the engagement were
supportive of the habitat restoration plans at both New Salts Farm and
Pad Farm.

6.6. The council-owned land holdings have allowed us to become a
member of the Arun to Adur Farmers Cluster Group, providing multiple
benefits and opportunities to work together in the future, including
enhanced connection between the local community and the farmland
and the involvement of farms in projects, from education to habitat
enhancement and restoration.

6.7. Our Director, Paul Brewer, is a member of the UK steering group
exploring the development of Marine National Parks, which is providing
excellent access to other leading projects around the UK and beyond.

6.8. Our approach to exploring opportunities for nature recovery, carbon
sequestration and landscape scale initiatives has been highlighted
nationally, regionally and locally through a range of webinars.

6.9. Adur Council has been successful in being shortlisted as Green
Council of the Year in the iESE Awards for this work, validating the
Council’s bold strategy to invest in land for nature recovery and
develop a strategic approach through the Sussex Bay initiative.

7. Financial Implications

7.1. The project has been successful in levering a range of external funding
for projects being managed by our partners.

7.2. Where partnership funding has been required, this has been funded
from within existing budgets to date. However if any any time funding is
required by members, a report outlining the proposal will be presented.

Finance Officer: Sarah Gobey Date: 23rd February 2023

8. Legal Implications

8.1. s139 Local Government Act 1972 empowers the Councils to accept
goods, property or money.  All grant funding received must be used in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Funding Agreement
under which it will be given.

231



8.2. The Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019
came into force on 27th June 2019 and increased the UK’s 2050 net
greenhouse gas emissions reduction target under the Climate Change
Act 2008 from 80% to 100%.

8.3. Under Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has
the power to do anything that is calculated to facilitate, or which is
conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of their functions.

8.4. s1 of the Localism Act 2011 empowers the Council to do anything an
individual can do apart from that which is specifically prohibited by
pre-existing legislation

8.5. Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 1999 (LGA 1999) contains a
general duty on a best value authority to make arrangements to secure
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are
exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

Legal Officer:Joanne Lee Date:27/02/2023

Background Papers
● Sustainable AW framework 2021-2023
● Adur & Worthing Climate Assembly Recommendations Report 2020
● Press release - Adur River Landscape Recovery Project funding

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/news/archive/pr22-177.html
● Press release - Defra Test & Trial funding

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/news/archive/pr22-022.html

232

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,162919,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,159368,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/news/archive/pr22-177.html
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/news/archive/pr22-022.html


Sustainability & Risk Assessment

1. Economic

Work to restore nature promises to create new opportunities for the coastal economy
over the longer term.  The trawler ban in the west of Sussex Bay is already helping
fish and shellfish stocks begin to recover, and local fishers are reporting improved
catches.  We expect opportunities to emerge in the future for seaweed and oyster
aquaculture, ecotourism and a local Sussex Bay fish brand which will help create a
new nature-enabled economy.

The development of natural capital investment approaches will unlock investment
into the local area, including providing opportunities for local companies to invest in
nature positive and offsetting on their doorsteps

2. Social

2.1 Social Value

The New Salts Farm project will involve a high level of community engagement,
volunteering opportunities and ongoing opportunities for community participation,
with a range of community organisations involved, including community growing,
education and green social prescribing.  Similar levels of engagement are planned
for all projects going forward.

2.2 Equality Issues

Projects will pay specific attention to opportunities for inclusion of all sections of the
community, undertaking equalities impact assessments as appropriate

2.3 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)

Issue considered and none identified

2.4 Human Rights Issues

Issue considered and none identified

3. Environmental

The projects and programmes described here represent a major intervention into the
restoration of nature at scale in our local area.

4. Governance

Issue considered and none identified

233



This page is intentionally left blank



Adur Joint Strategic Sub-Committee
7 March 2023

Key Decision [Yes/No]

Ward(s) Affected: All
Cabinet Portfolio: Regeneration & Strategic

Planning

A27 Worthing and Lancing improvements scheme Options consultation

Report by the Director for the Economy

Officer Contact Details
Martin Randall, Director for the Economy
Tel: (01903) 221209
Email: martin.randall@adur-worthing.gov.uk

Executive Summary

1. Purpose

1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Joint
Strategic Committee Sub-Committee with an opportunity to respond
to the A27 Worthing and Lancing improvements scheme Options
consultation currently being undertaken by National Highways.

2. Recommendations

That Members of the Sub-Committee authorise the Council’s response to
National Highways consultation on the A27 Worthing and Lancing
improvements scheme Options consultation in the following terms:

2.1. National Highways stated aim of making sure potential future
improvements to transport in the Worthing and Lancing area can still
happen is welcomed;

235

Agenda Item 10

mailto:martin.randall@adur-worthing.gov.uk


2.2. the limited scope of the project and reduction in the finances
available to deliver it, even compared with the RIS1 scheme, mean
that Consultation Options do not reflect the strategic ambition set out
on Transport for the South East’s Strategic Investment Plan (SIP)
and in particular, the SIP’s emphasis on integrating transport, digital
and energy networks, together with a high-quality, reliable, safe, and
accessible transport network;

2.3. the absence of any proposed improvements to the Grinstead Lane
roundabout is a significant concern given the level of congestion
experienced by those using this junction;

2.4. the proposal to convert Upper Brighton Road into a one-way road
eastbound and stop vehicles using this road as a ‘rat-running’
opportunity is welcome;

2.5. the proposals for improving the Busticle Lane Junction, including
those improve access across the A27 for walkers and cyclists are
welcome; but there is a significant concern that these improvements
are recorded in the consultation as offering poor value for money and
therefore unlikely to be implemented;

2.6. the principal benefits of the scheme appear to be reduced travel
times between the key junctions on the A27 in Worthing; and that
whilst significant in terms of the Department for Transport’s Benefit
Cost Ratio analysis, these represent only a modest improvement and
would require a year-long construction period;

2.7. it is disappointing that only slight improvements are recorded for air
quality and noise and the accident level impact is recorded as only
neutral.

3. Background

3.1. There is a long and chequered history of proposals for improving the
stretch of the A27 across Worthing and through to Lancing.  The most
recent proposals prior to this current consultation were announced (by
the then Highways England) as part of RIS1 (Road Investment
Strategy 1 2015 – 2020) but were paused in 2018 for further review
following lack of support from the local community and road users.

3.2. The current Consultation (now part of RIS2) began on Monday 6th

February 2023 and ends on Sunday March 19th 2023. Consultation

236



follows a review of the 2018 scheme which presented just one option
for consultation costed at £169m.  3 options are presented this time
although it is noteworthy that the finance available for the scheme is
significantly less at around £20m.

3.3. The Staged Overview of Assessment Report (SOAR) included with the
Consultation acknowledges that given the reduced scope of the
scheme from the original 2017 proposals, it is not intended to address
all current and forecast capacity issues; rather to address specific
areas of strategic road network (SRN) performance for both local and
strategic movements, whilst also supporting active travel modes.

3.4. Congestion occurs daily at most of the junctions along this stretch of
the A27, especially during peak travel times and seasonal periods. The
traffic volumes and congestion also have an impact on air quality and
noise in Worthing and Lancing.  The Consultation document records
that:

‘Although vehicle speeds are expected to be lower in the urban areas it
is noticeable that there are several sections along the A27 where
speed reduces to less than 15mph, in particular during the AM and PM
peak periods. This includes the single carriageway section from west of
Offington Corner roundabout to Lyons Farm and the sections around
Busticle Lane junction and Grinstead roundabout.’

3.5. National Highways also recognises that there is a significant amount of
local development planned in the area and, without improvements,
traffic congestion is likely to get worse.

3.6. The accompanying Staged Overview of Assessment Report (SOAR)
indicates that:

‘A key opportunity for capacity improvements is to ensure they are
delivered in line with local strategic development plans. This ensures
that any proposed housing developments are not delayed by capacity
issues on the A27, and/or that such developments do not cause
additional congestion. Future road improvement projects further east
along the A27, such as Arundel may also have the effect of increasing
traffic draw along the A27 from outside the region, which could further
worsen the current situation around Worthing and Lancing.’

3.7. Construction of the scheme could begin by December 2024 and finish
in June 2026.

237



4. The Options

4.1. Mindful of the context set out above, the proposals set out in the 3
Options are designed to:

● improve road safety for everyone on the A27 and the local road
network

● reduce delays and improve journey reliability

● create facilities for other travel modes such as walking and
cycling alongside and crossing the A27

● make sure potential future improvements to transport in the
Worthing and Lancing area can still happen

● wherever possible, seek to enhance the local environment and
biodiversity

4.2. Option 1: focuses on improvements at two key locations: Offington
Corner Roundabout and Grove Lodge Roundabout.  The Offington
Corner Roundabout Improvements include small areas of widening
including the entry and exit in order to increase the flow of vehicles
during busy periods and facilitate safe movement of pedestrians.
Access to Goodwood Road will be closed to reduce the number of
entry points into the junction and vehicles that previously accessed
Offington Corner Roundabout via Goodwood Road will use Offington
Lane instead.

Grove Lodge Roundabout Improvements include widening of the
roundabout to accommodate up to four lanes and widening of the A27
entry and exits in order to increase the flow of vehicles during busy
periods. The existing traffic lights will be upgraded to optimise flow and
to include enhanced pedestrian crossing facilities to improve safety for
walkers and cyclists around Grove Lodge Roundabout.

4.3. Option 2: includes the same package of measures for Offington
Corner and Grove Lodge Roundabouts, but in addition, includes
improvements at Lyons Way Junction, including widening the A27
eastbound and adjusting the road layout slightly to accommodate three
lanes in both directions through the junction. For vehicles travelling
westbound towards Lyons Way Junction, it will also provide a
dedicated turning lane into Sompting Road to avoid vehicles wishing to
access the retail park interfering with the flow of vehicles on the A27.

238



It is also proposed to convert Sompting Road into a one-way
northbound direction road and vehicles would be required to use Lyons
Way in order to rejoin the A27. The intention is that this would reduce
the duration vehicles are required to stop on the A27 in order to allow
vehicles from the retail park to rejoin the A27.

Option 2 would also close access to the A27 from Hadley Avenue to
reduce the number of entry points onto the A27. Vehicles that
previously accessed the A27 via Hadley Avenue would be encouraged
to use Sompting Road.  Upper Brighton Road would be converted into
a one way road eastbound to stop vehicles using this road as a
‘rat-running’ opportunity to avoid Lyons Way Junction.

4.4. Option 3: includes each of the measures set out in Options 1&2 as
well as improvements at Busticle Lane Junction, including widening the
A27 in the eastbound direction and adjusting the road layout slightly to
accommodate three lanes in both directions. Access to the A27 from
Hillbarn Parade would be closed to reduce the number of entry points
onto the A27 at this junction. Vehicles that previously accessed the A27
via Hillbarn Parade would use Halewick Lane.

4.5. Each of the Options would include technological improvements such as
Variable Message Signs (VMS) located at key decision points; Vehicle
Activated Signs (VAS) to improve compliance with the speed limit; and
upgrades of existing bus stops to include features such as Real Time
Passenger Information (RTPI).

4.6. In addition to the options set out above, the Consultation refers to
additional supporting measures, notably a new segregated shared use
path for walkers and cyclists to improve connectivity between A27
Durrington Hill/ Salvington Hill and Grove Lodge Roundabout.  A new
toucan crossing between Offington Corner Roundabout and Grove
Lodge Roundabout is proposed to make crossing safer for walkers and
cyclists and National Highways also states that it is, “looking where we
can upgrade existing crossing points along the route.”

4.7. It is important to note however, that these measures are not funded as
part of the proposed scheme and a different fund would need to be
secured by National Highways if they are to be implemented.

5. Issues for Consideration

5.1. At its September 2022 Meeting, members of this Sub-Committee
expressed support for Transport for the South East’s (TfSE) Strategic

239



Investment Plan (SIP). The Sub-Committee welcomed the potential
environmental, social and economic benefits that could be delivered
from the SIP’s emphasis on integrating transport, digital and energy
networks, together with a high-quality, reliable, safe, and accessible
transport network; and the SIP’s emphasis on linking regional policy
with local initiatives such as those set out in Worthing’s Local Cycling
and Walking Improvement Plan (LCWIP).

5.2. The September 2022 report to the Sub-committee welcomed the
inclusion in the SIP of a long-term solution to the challenge presented
by the A27 through Worthing and the explicit link to a package of other
measures which would mean that the A27 road infrastructure is not
considered in isolation. In this context, the report highlighted the
potential to consider short term improvements for the A27 likely to be
proposed by National Highways as part of the national Road
Investment Strategy (RIS2) in the context of a longer-term option.

5.3. Whilst the Consultation Brochure refers to the SIP, the SOAR does not
and this is significant as both an omission and a missed opportunity.
The SOAR simply states:

‘The scheme will contribute to the following vision set out within the
strategy (Transport Strategy for the South East – Transport for the
South East, June 2020 by improving the quality of the environment for
all road users and enhancing the safety and sustainability of access
along a ley strategic route within the South East:

“A high-quality, reliable, safe and accessible transport network will offer
seamless door-to-door journeys enabling our businesses to compete
and trade more effectively in the global marketplace and giving our
residents and visitors the highest quality of life.”

5.4. Similarly, at a local level, the Consultation misses the opportunity to
establish how the Options would integrate with Adur’s Local Cycling
and Walking Improvement Plan (LCWIP) adopted by the Borough
Council and once again, it is disappointing to note that the LCWIP is
not referred to in the SOAR.

5.5. Referring to the lack of support for the earlier RIS1 scheme, The SOAR
states that there is:

“a risk that the same key stakeholders and general population of
Worthing and Lancing also oppose the RIS2 proposals, which is

240



considered a significant constraint to the project. In order to improve
public perception and secure stakeholder support this time around, the
project will pursue the delivery of local, ‘non-SRN,’ interventions
through National Highways’ Designated Funds programme alongside
the main scheme, which will offer further benefit to the local
community.”

This statement appears to underline a lack of integration and
emphasise that these measures are rather more of a ‘bolt-on’ to
overcome a “constraint.”

None of the cycling and walking improvements that are included
in the Consultation relate to Adur District, other than the potential
crossing improvements at the Busticle Lane Junction.

5.6. For all three options the beneficial impacts are principally those derived
from travel time savings forecasts. Forecasting was prepared for the
proposed opening year 2027 and interim forecast year of 2042 and a
horizon year of 2051 for the AM, inter-peak and PM periods.

5.7. The forecasting for each option shows significant reductions in delay
along the A27 in particular in the eastbound direction between west of
Durrington Hill junction and Offington Corner roundabout. This aligns
with the additional lane provided as well as the introduction of traffic
signals at Offington Corner roundabout in all options.

5.8. The interim forecast for 2042 indicates that, “particularly in the
eastbound directions significant savings of over 4 minutes are forecast
based on the additional capacity proposed at Offington Corner
roundabout. Savings are forecast in the eastbound direction for all time
periods. The savings forecast for the westbound direction in the AM
peak are less significant while slight additional delays are forecast
across the route for the westbound direction during the PM peak.”

5.9. There are slight benefits assessed for noise due to the reduction in
congestion. Slight disbenefits are assessed for local air quality and
greenhouse gases. The accident impact is considered neutral with
junction improvements resulting in accident benefits but increased
traffic volumes on the faster speed roads without improvements results
in a slight disbenefit.

5.10. Overall, Option 1 is assessed with the highest benefits and the lowest
cost resulting in the highest Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) of 3.74. This

241



aligns with the increase in road capacity. Option 2 can be considered in
the same range to Option 1 with only slightly higher costs and just over
10% less benefits.

5.11. Option 3 has similar costs but significantly lower benefits than the other
options and this a result of the highway improvements accommodating
more traffic at each end of the scheme corridor while increasing
congestion at some junctions within the corridor.  The particular
concern in this case is that it appears that the inclusion of the Busticle
Lane Junction – the only junction improvement now proposed for Adur
– makes Option 3 unjustifiable on value for money grounds and is
therefore likely to be excluded. - .1

6. Engagement and Communication

6.1. The consultation period will run from Monday 6 February to Sunday 19
March 2023. Once the consultation closes, a consultation report will be
published on the scheme website
www.nationalhighways.co.uk/our-roads/south-east/a27-worthing-and-la
ncing-improvements/ to  explain National Highways has considered
feedback received during the consultation.

7. Financial Implications

7.1. There are no direct financial implications arising from the consultation
response.

8. Legal Implications

8.1. Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 1999 (LGA 1999) contains a
general duty on a best value authority to make arrangements to secure
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are
exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

1 The DfT’s "Value for Money" guidance says a project will generally be regarded as "medium" if the
BCR is between 1.5 and 2; and "high" if it is above 2.  It is noteworthy that cycling based projects
typically score a BCR above 5.

242

http://www.nationalhighways.co.uk/our-roads/south-east/a27-worthing-and-lancing-improvements/
http://www.nationalhighways.co.uk/our-roads/south-east/a27-worthing-and-lancing-improvements/


8.2. s1 of the Localism Act 2011 empowers the Council to do anything an
individual can do apart from that which is specifically prohibited by
pre-existing legislation.

8.3. The Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019
came into force on 27th June 2019 and increased the UK’s 2050 net
greenhouse gas emissions reduction target under The Climate Change
Act 2008 from 80% to 100%

Background Papers

● Highways England - A27 Worthing and Lancing improvements scheme
Options Consultation February 2023

● Highways England - A27 Maps Option 1

● Highways England - A27 Maps Option 2

● Highways England - A27 Maps Option 3

● Highways England - A27 Worthing and Lancing improvements scheme
Environmental Assessment Report (EAR) February 2023

● Highways England - A27 Worthing and Lancing improvements scheme
Staged Overview of Assessment Report (SOAR) February 2023

● Adur JSC Sub-Committee - Transport for the South East Strategic Investment
Plan - consultation response report - 8 September 2022

243

https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/++preview++/he/a27-worthing-lancing-options-consultation/supporting_documents/B_%20CRE22_0240%20A27%20Worthing%20and%20Lancing%20brochure_low%20res.pdf
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/++preview++/he/a27-worthing-lancing-options-consultation/supporting_documents/B_%20CRE22_0240%20A27%20Worthing%20and%20Lancing%20brochure_low%20res.pdf
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/++preview++/he/a27-worthing-lancing-options-consultation/supporting_documents/A27%20Maps%20Option%201.pdf
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/++preview++/he/a27-worthing-lancing-options-consultation/supporting_documents/A27%20Maps%20Option%202.pdf
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/++preview++/he/a27-worthing-lancing-options-consultation/supporting_documents/A27%20Maps%20Option%203.pdf
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/++preview++/he/a27-worthing-lancing-options-consultation/supporting_documents/EAR_%20HE608509MMDEGNOP00RPLE%20EAR_final%20lowres.pdf
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/++preview++/he/a27-worthing-lancing-options-consultation/supporting_documents/EAR_%20HE608509MMDEGNOP00RPLE%20EAR_final%20lowres.pdf
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/++preview++/he/a27-worthing-lancing-options-consultation/supporting_documents/SOAR_%20HE608509MMDHGNOP00RPCH0008%20SOAR_final%20lowres.pdf
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/++preview++/he/a27-worthing-lancing-options-consultation/supporting_documents/SOAR_%20HE608509MMDHGNOP00RPCH0008%20SOAR_final%20lowres.pdf
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/s9028/Item%206%20-%20Transport%20for%20the%20South%20East%20Consultation%20Response.pdf
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/s9028/Item%206%20-%20Transport%20for%20the%20South%20East%20Consultation%20Response.pdf


Sustainability & Risk Assessment

An integrated approach to transport infrastructure with an emphasis on active travel
will help to mitigate the impact of climate change and is consistent with the Council’s
objectives for carbon reduction with measurable benefits.  The current A27
Consultation does not adequately demonstrate how the proposals would contribute
to an integrated transport system to the benefit of Adur’s residents and visitors.

1. Economic
The Economic benefits resulting from the proposed Options are mainly
derived from improved travel times.

2. Social

2.1. Social Value and Equality Issues
A more affordable and accessible transport network promotes social
inclusion, improves health and wellbeing, and reduces barriers to
employment, learning, social, leisure, physical and cultural activity for
all communities.  The A27 consultation offers some improvements in
terms of connectivity, walking and cycling but there is no guarantee at
this stage that these will be fully funded.

2.2. Community Safety Issues (Section 17)
A safe, reliable and accessible transport system helps to create a safer
environment for travel.  The Consultation Options could deliver
improved connectivity for walkers and cyclists and would improve
aspects such as real time information at bus stops.

2.3. Human Rights Issues
Matter considered and no direct impact identified.

3. Environmental
Accelerating decarbonisation of the South East, would enable the UK to
achieve net zero by 2050 or sooner, and deliver a transport network better
able to protect and enhance our natural, built, and historic environments.  It is
not clear from the current Consultation what contribution each Option would
make to achieving net zero.

4. Governance
National Highways is a government company which plans, designs, builds,
operates and maintains England’s motorways and major A roads, known as
the strategic road network (SRN).

244


	Agenda
	6 3rd Quarter Revenue Monitoring Report 2022/23
	7 3rd Quarter Capital Investment Programme & Projects Monitoring 2022/23
	8 Adur Homes Compliance with Housing Regulator Standards and Adur Housing Strategy Roadmap
	9 Adur River Restoration & Sussex Bay Update
	10 A27 Worthing and Lancing Improvements Scheme Options Consultation

